

## Multiple sclerosis patient's lymphocytes induce smoldering lesions in mouse spinal cord

Océane Perrot

### ► To cite this version:

Océane Perrot. Multiple sclerosis patient's lymphocytes induce smoldering lesions in mouse spinal cord. Neurons and Cognition [q-bio.NC]. Sorbonne Université, 2024. English. NNT : 2024SORUS323 . tel-04848492

## HAL Id: tel-04848492 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04848492v1

Submitted on 19 Dec 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.







# Sorbonne Université

Ecole doctorale Cerveau-Cognition-Comportement Paris Brain Institute - ICM / Myelin plasticity and regeneration team

# Multiple sclerosis patient's lymphocytes induce smoldering lesions in mouse spinal cord

Par Océane PERROT

Thèse de doctorat de Neurosciences

Dirigée par Violetta ZUJOVIC

Présentée et soutenue publiquement le 26/09/2024

Devant un jury composé de :

Violetta Zujovic	CR	Directrice de thèse
Anne Roumier	PU	Présidente du jury
Laure Michel	PU-PH	Rapportrice
Phillip De Jager	PU-PH	Rapporteur
Isabelle Bardou	MCU	Examinatrice
Olivier Pascual	CR	Examinateur



### Résumé

La sclérose en plaques (SEP) est une maladie inflammatoire et démyélinisante du système nerveux central (SNC). La maladie est déclenchée par l'invasion du SNC par des macrophages et des lymphocytes qui, de concert avec les cellules microgliales du SNC, détruisent les gaines de myéline et les oligodendrocytes (OL). Dans la SEP, l'accumulation des handicaps est due à une progression indépendante de l'activité des rechutes (PIRA). Malheureusement, les PIRA ne sont pas ciblés par les traitements actuels et aucun modèle de la SEP disponible ne recrée ce type de progression. L'une des caractéristiques des PIRA est la présence de lésions chroniquement activées, marquées par un centre inactif, une faible remyélinisation et une bordure de microglies activées. Ces lésions sont des marqueurs d'une maladie grave et représentent un risque important d'aggravation du handicap chez les patients.

Nous avons développé un modèle de souris humanisé pour combler cette lacune. En combinant une démyélinisation focale induite par la lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) et la greffe de lymphocytes de patients atteints de SEP, une lésion partageant les caractéristiques des lésions chroniques humaines est formée.

De plus, nous avons découvert une sous-population pathogène de cellules T régulatrices exprimant Notch3 dans le sang et le liquide céphalorachidien de patients atteints de SEP grâce à l'analyse FACS.

En conclusion, cette thèse présente un nouveau modèle murin humanisé de démyélinisation chronique focale et d'inflammation, qui sera utile pour comprendre la transition d'une démyélinisation focale à une démyélinisation et une inflammation généralisée.

## **Summary**

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory and demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS). The disease is triggered by macrophages and lymphocytes invasion of the CNS that in concert with CNS microglial cells, destroy myelin sheaths and oligodendrocytes (OL). In MS disability accumulation is driven by progression independent of relapse activity (PIRA). Unfortunately, PIRA is not targeted by current treatment, and no available models of MS recreate this type of progression. One characteristic of PIRA is the presence of smoldering lesions, marked by an inactive center, poor remyelination, and a border rim of activated microglia. These lesions are a hallmark of severe disease and pose a significant risk for greater disability in patients.

We developed a humanized mouse model to fill the gap. By combining focal lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) -induced demyelination and the graft of MS patients' lymphocytes, a lesion which shares features of human smoldering lesions is formed.

Additionally, we identified a pathogenic subpopulation of T regulatory cells expressing Notch 3 in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid of MS patients.

In conclusion, this thesis presents a novel humanized mouse model of focal chronic demyelination and inflammation, which will be useful for understanding the transition from focal demyelination to widespread demyelination and inflammation.

In loving memory of Manon. Thank you for the memories, I miss you.

### Acknowledgments

I want to thank Dr Violetta Zujovic and Dr Brahim Nait-Oumesmar, team leaders of the Myelin plasticity and regeneration team, for welcoming me into the team. You created a safe place to evolve, learn and produce research.

Next, I thank Pr Laure Michel and Pr Philip De Jager, who agree to take their time to review this manuscript. I also want to thank Pr Anne Roumier, Dr Isabelle Bardou, and Dr Olivier Pascual for agreeing to be part of the jury.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to **Violetta** for being an inspiring supervisor. Your constant support, encouragement, and kindness have been invaluable throughout this process. Thank you for always being there and for believing in me even when I had doubts or when experiments did not go as planned. Your passion for research and dedication have profoundly influenced my journey, and I am truly grateful for the opportunity to work with you. On a personal level, your understanding, presence, and kindness have made all the difference, and I deeply appreciate that. Thank you for everything!

I would also like to thank **Brahim**, also known as "*Macrophage*  $n^{\circ}2$ ". Thank you for the food during my writing times (it really helped!), especially the lasagna and all the treats you brought to the lab. And of course, thank you for giving me my most iconic nickname, "*The Macrophage*"! I know you'll miss me when I'm gone, but don't worry you'll find someone to annoy soon enough!

Special thanks to **Corinne** and **Mathias** for their significant contributions to this project. **Corinne**, your readiness to answer my questions and your expertise in electron microscopy and cell culture were immensely helpful, thank you for sharing your knowledge and time. **Mathias**, I am deeply grateful for your assistance with the single-cell experiments. Although it was not the most enjoyable part of the project, your support with experiment optimization and biostatistical analysis was crucial. I couldn't have achieved this without your help.

I would like to thank **Mary** and **Noémie**, I want to thank you both for your incredible support over the past four years. We started this wild journey together and we finished it together. We made it! (Well, not exactly, Mary your turn is coming soon!). I am grateful for every moment of this shared experience (even the hardest ones), and for calling you friend. I will miss our breakfast meeting. Thank you, girls!

To all the members of the best team, past and present, I want to take a moment to thank you all sincerely. Special thanks to **Radmila** and **Tala** for being such great open-space neighbors and for teaching me so much about your cultures. **Radmila**, I truly appreciate all the conversations we've had, as well as your constant help, both in daily matters and on the professional front. Thank you for everything. **Tala**, thank you for the constant "Click-click" – even though it drove me crazy sometimes. I know deep down you missed me during my writing escapades! Thank you for everything.

**Cyrille**, thank you for all the coffee breaks, chats, and shared moments. You were always there when I needed help (even those silly questions about dilution!), and I'm really grateful for that. **Elisa**, thank you for everything. Working with patients isn't always easy, but your help during the last year of my PhD, especially with blood experiments, was invaluable. Good luck with everything ahead! **Julie**, thank you for being a little sunshine in the team. Don't let anything (or anyone) stop you. Keep shining, and don't change! Thank you for your support! **Nadjet**, I appreciate all the constructive discussions we had about the project and your kindness. It was always enjoyable working with you. **Jeremy**, thank you for the support, the funny times, and for always being so nice (even when we weren't always that nice!). It was great having someone around to help relieve stress. **Annik**, thank you for your insightful talks on our project and for always being so kind. And finally, to **Elisa**, **Julie**, and **Tala** – in 2-3 years, it will be your turn. Good luck! (Seriously, start writing now!). Thank you all for creating such a friendly and welcoming environment that was perfect for research. The funny moments we shared it made the journey even more enjoyable.

I would like to also acknowledge the ICM platforms that help me, specially Nadège, Joanna, and all the PhenoParc team for their support with the animal management, experimentation and wellbeing of our Nude mice. I would also like to thank Delphine, from the ePHYS platform, with whom I spent many mornings at the animal facility, you are the expert in electrophysiology. I would like also to thank the ICM Quant platform, especially David and Claire, thank you for trying all the confocal in the institute to find the best match for my imaging. Thank you to the DAC, especially FX, and Gaspard who helped me with statistics, Emeline who helped with the single cell analysis and also to Corentin, Mathias,

**Thomas**, and **Riwan** for the funny times and drinks. Thank you also to the iGenSeq, Histomics, and Celis platforms for their support.

I would like to extend my thanks to all the participants in this project. To the patients and healthy donors who generously gave their time and blood to participate in this study, your contributions have been invaluable. Without your support and willingness to take part, this research would not have been possible.

I would like to thank my friends who supported me outside the lab. **Camille**, your unwavering belief in me and your presence during both the highs and lows of this journey has been truly appreciated, you have always been there for me, and always helped me, you are the best. I also want to thank my roommates **Victoria**, **Chloé**, and **Angéline** for your support in daily life, as well as for the game nights and distractions that helped me unwind. A special thanks to **Léo** for his support during the manuscript writing process and for taking care of me with meals, the funny times, and everything that I discovered with you. Your unconditional love and support have meant the world to me. Thank you all.

And of course, a special thanks to all my **Nudes**, without you, I couldn't have completed this project. I even won prizes thanks to you! (Yes, I'm talking about the mice!)

Finally, I would like to extend my deepest thanks to my **family**—**my parents and my brothers**. Your belief in me, along with your unconditional love and support, has been a constant source of strength throughout this journey. I am profoundly grateful for your encouragement and for always being there for me.

## Abbreviations

AIMS:	Astrocytes inflamed in multiple	MIMS:	Microglia inflamed in multiple sclerosis
APOE:	apolipoprotein E	MOG:	Myelin oligodendrocytes protein
BBB:	Blood-brain barrier	MRI:	Magnetic resonance imaging
Breg:	B regulator	mRNA:	Messenger RNA
CAL:	Chronic active lesion	MS:	Multiple sclerosis
CC1.	Adenomatous polyposis coli clone	MYRF:	Myelin regulatory factor
	Cluster of differentiation	OL:	Oligodendrocytes
CEA:	Complete Freund's adjuvant	OLIG2:	Oligodendrocyte transcription factor 2
CIS.	Clinically isolated syndroma	OPC:	Oligodendrocytes precursor cell
	C type lectin domain containing 7A	<b>P0:</b>	Protein zero
CLEC/A.	$2'_{-cyclic-nucleotide}$	PET:	Positron emission tomography
CNPase:	3'-phosphodiesterase	PIRA:	Progression independent of relapse activity
CNS:	Central nervous system	PLP:	Proteolipid protein
CSF:	Cerebrospinal	PNS:	Peripheral nervous system
DAM:	Disease-associated microglia	PPMS:	Primary progressive MS
DMT:	Disease-modifying treatment	PRL:	Paramagnetic rim lesion
FAF.	Experimental autoimmune	PwMS:	People with MS
LAL.	encephalomyelitis	RAW:	Relapse associated worsening
EBV:	Epstein-Barr virus	<b>RRMS</b> :	Relapsing remitting MS
EDSS:	Expanded disability status scale	SCP:	Schwann cell precursors
GM-CSF:	stimulating factor	ScRNA-seq:	Single cell RNA sequencing
GML:	Grey matter lesions	SEL:	Slowly expending lesions
GWAS:	Genome-wide association studies	SL:	Shadow lesion
HLA:	Human leukocytes antigen	SNPs:	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
hNSC:	Human neural stem cells	SnRNA-seq:	Single nuclei RNA sequencing
IFN:	Interferon	SOX10:	SRY-box 10
Ig:	Immunoglobulin	SPMS:	Secondary progressive MS
IL:	Interleukin	Th:	T helper
KO:	Kock-out	TMEV:	Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus
LPC:	Lysophosphatidylcholine	TNF:	Tumor necrosis factor
LPS:	Lipopolysacharide	TO:	Theiler's original
MBP:	Myelin basic protein	Treg:	T regulator
MHC:	Major histocompatibility complex	TREM2:	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
		TSPO:	translocator protein

## Table of contents

Introduction	
A. Multiple Sclerosis	3
1. Myelin	4
2. Epidemiology, diagnosis and symptoms	
3. Etiology	12
B. Histopathology of MS	16
1. Lesion types	16
2. Myelin destruction and repair in MS	
C. Animal models of MS	
1. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)	
2. Virus-induced demyelination	
3. Toxin-induce demyelination	
D. Silent progression	
1. Disease modifying treatment (DMT)	
2. <i>In vivo</i> imaging of lesions and activity	
3. Disability accumulation	
E. A much-needed model	56
Aim of the project	57
Results Part I	59
Results Part II	
Discussion	
A. Resume of findings	
1. Advantages	107
2. Limitation of our model	110
3. A model to study progression	112
B. Perspective	113
C. Concluding remarks	115
References	117

## INTRODUCTION

### A. Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory, autoimmune, and demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS). In this pathology, peripheral immune cells (i.e., macrophages and lymphocytes) invade the brain and the spinal cord. The combined efforts of the invading cells and resident microglial cells lead to the destruction of myelin, a membrane ensheathing the axons and formed by the oligodendrocytes (OL). Demyelinated axons are thereafter exposed and can degenerate (Figure 1). The degeneration of axons in MS patients leads to a wide range of symptoms that vary depending on the affected part of the CNS. The etiology of MS is still unknown, but genetic predisposition and environmental factors increase disease risks. There are disease modifying treatments targeting neuroinflammation that ameliorate MS patients' life but there is no cure for MS.



*Figure 1: Physiopathology of MS.* Peripheral immune cells (*T cells, B cells, and macrophages*) cross the blood brain barrier (BBB), they are reactivated in the CNS and with resident activated microglial cells, they destroy myelin. Created with Biorender

#### 1. Myelin

Myelin is a complex, lipid-rich structure formed by myelinating cells, the OL in the CNS, and by the Schwann cells in the peripheral nervous system (PNS). Myelin is formed by the wrapping of multiple layers of OL or Schwann cells membrane around the axons. While OL can myelinate multiple axons, Schwann cells wrap only one axon with a myelin surrounded by a basal lamina (Figure 2). Myelin forms segments along the axons, it is called internodes, and these internodes are separated by nodes of Ranvier. CNS and PNS myelin are quite similar but have distinct features specific to each system that allow us to differentiate with specific immunological markers. For example, OL express the myelin oligodendrocytes protein (MOG) while Schwann cells the protein zero (P0).



*Figure 2: Myelin in the CNS and in the PNS.* In the CNS OL form multiple myelin segments and in the PNS Schwann cells form only one myelin segment and are surrounded by a basal lamina. CNS: central nervous system; PNS: peripheral nervous system; OL: oligodendrocyte; SC: Schwann cell. Created with Biorender

#### a) Oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells generation

In the CNS, the oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPC) are derived from neural stem cells (NSC). During embryonic life, OPCs migrate from ventral and dorsal domain, 3 waves of OPCs in the brain and 2 waves in the spinal cord are sufficient to populate the entire CNS (van Tilborg et al., 2018). Then OPCs will be able to differentiate into OL with different intrinsic and extrinsic factors (such as neuronal activity). During the differentiation into myelinating OLs, OPCs undergo a multistep process. Each stage has specific markers that enable us to

identify the step of OPC differentiation. First, OPCs become pre-oligodendrocytes that are characterized by the expression of O4 protein, then they differentiate into mature OL that express adenomatous polyposis coli clone (CC1). Myelinating OL express myelin proteins such as MOG, proteolipid protein (PLP) and myelin basic protein (MBP). Interestingly, all the cells from the OL lineage also express the oligodendrocyte transcription factor 2 (Olig2) (Figure 3A). After the waves of CNS colonization, some of the OPCs will remain undifferentiated and form an adult OPC pool representing 5% of total brain cells (Polito & Reynolds, 2005). However, when needed (such as CNS injury, or demyelination) with extrinsic and intrinsic signals this pool can differentiate into myelinating OL. However, when needed (such as during CNS injury or demyelination) with extrinsic and intrinsic signals this pool can differentiate into myelinating of neurons is positive stimuli for OPCs differentiation and myelination (Gibson et al., 2014; Mitew et al., 2018), immune cells activation can also play a role in OPCs proliferation and differentiation (Butovsky et al., 2006; Miron et al., 2013). New roles of OPCs have been discovered, OPCs can also present antigen to T-cells during demyelination context (Kirby et al., 2019).

In the PNS, myelin is formed by Schwann cells. Schwann cells derived from cells located in the dorsal part of the neural crests. When they encounter axons, these cells will differentiate into Schwann cell precursors. Schwann cell precursors will then become immature Schwann cells and surround several axons without forming myelin. Finally, immature Schwann cells can either form myelin around one axon and differentiate into a myelinating Schwann cell, or became a non-myelinating Schwann cell, this process depends on the axon diameter, Schwann cells will myelinate larger axons, and this process is called radial sorting (Feltri et al., 2016) (Figure 3B).

#### b) Functions

The first function of myelin is to accelerate the action potential's conduction speed along the axons up to 100 times faster. The first mechanism allowing this increase in speed of conduction is the membrane composition of myelin. Membranes are a lipidic bilayer, and while classically composed of 50% lipids and 50% proteins, myelin composition differs with 70% lipids and 30% proteins. This composition is enriched in fat, which makes myelin less permeable and a natural insulator for axons.



Figure 3: Oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells differentiation. The OL lineage express Olig2+, and during differentiation each stage have specific makers. Pre-OL express O4; Mature OL express CC1 and myelinating OL express MBP, PLP and MOG. Myelinating Schwann cells express P0. Created with Biorender

In addition, myelin is not continuous along the axon; myelin sheaths form internodes separated by nodes of Ranvier (Figure 4A). There is a high density of voltage-dependent channels in nodes of Ranvier allowing the saltatory conduction of the action potential from nodes of Ranvier to nodes of Ranvier (Figure 4B) (Purves et al., 2001).

Myelin also has other functions. As a natural insulator for axons, it also serves as a physical barrier, shielding the axons from the environment and protecting them during neuroinflammatory events, for example. Furthermore, oligodendrocytes metabolically support the axons through the myelin sheath as shown with knock-out (KO) mouse model of a myelin protein, the 2',3'-cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (CNPase). Indeed, in the CNPase KO mouse model, myelination occurs but the mice develop axonal damage (Lappe-Siefke et al., 2003). The metabolite exchange between OL and neurons is impaired in these mice and this leads to axonal transport defects in neurons and an early death of animals.



**Figure 4:** Saltatory conduction of the action potential along a myelinated axon. (A) Diagram of a myelinated axon. (B) Local current in response to action potential initiation at a particular site "jump" locally. However, the presence of myelin prevents the local current from leaking across the internodal membrane; it therefore "jump" farther along the axon than it would in the absence of myelin. Moreover, voltage-dependent Na+ channels are present only at the nodes of Ranvier. This arrangement means that the generation of active, voltage-gated currents need only occur at these unmyelinated regions. The result is a greatly enhanced velocity of action potential conduction. Panel to the left of the figure legend shows the changing membrane potential as a function of time at the points indicated. From: (Purves et al., 2001).

#### 2. Epidemiology, diagnosis and symptoms

#### a) Epidemiology

MS prevalence in France is 155 cases per 100,000 people and affects approximately 2.9 million people worldwide (Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, 2024). This pathology is more prevalent in young women (the first symptoms appear around 30 years old) compared to men (3 women affected for 1 man (Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, 2024; Wallin et al., 2019)).

Three forms of MS can be distinguished depending on the evolution of the symptom. A relapsing-remitting form, named RRMS, affects 85% of people with MS (PwMS) and is characterized by the manifestation of symptoms (called relapses) (Figure 5; RRMS: red line) followed by complete or partial recovery (called remission) (Figure 5; RRMS: yellow line). Eventually, 80% of these patients will develop secondary progressive MS (SPMS), where the symptoms accumulate without any more remissions (Figure 5; SPMS: blue line). Fifteen percent of PwMS develop a primary progressive form with a progressive course at the onset of disease (PPMS) (Figure 5) (Reich et al., 2018). People experiencing one RRMS-like event are considered to have clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), until or unless they have a second event.



Figure 5: Graphical representation of the different forms of MS. A: Relapsing remitting MS (RRMS) is characterized by manifestation of symptoms followed by partial or complete recovery., B: 80% of PwRRMS will convert to secondary progressive MS (SPMS) characterized by an accumulation of symptoms without remission and C: Primary progressive MS (PPMS) is a progressive course from the onset of the disease. Created with Biorender

#### b) Diagnosis

MS is diagnosed following the Mcdonald criteria revised in 2017 (Thompson et al., 2018). These criteria are a combination of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), symptoms history and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis. To diagnose MS, clinician must show dissemination in space and in time (Schmidt-Mengin et al., 2022; Thompson et al., 2018). To do so, MRI is widely used to assess the presence of lesions or plaques (demyelinated areas). In T2-weighted images, lesions appear white (Figure 6A); in T1-weighted, lesions appear as "black holes" (Figure 6B) and in gadolinium-enhanced T1-weighted images, lesions will appear in white (Figure 6C) (Vellinga et al., 2008). MRI is also used to assess the extent of brain atrophy, which is a marker of MS. Furthermore, clinicians can use additional clinical signs to diagnose MS. One method involves testing evoked potentials which are slowed in MS patients due to demyelination. The latest McDonald criteria include also detecting B cells activation by searching for oligoclonal immunoglobulin bands in the CSF of patients (Compston & Coles, 2008; Correale & De los Milagros Bassani Molinas, 2002; Thompson et al., 2018). The detection of a unique oligoclonal band in the CSF suggests CNS inflammation (Winger & Zamvil, 2016). Interestingly, people having a CIS with the presence of an oligoclonal band in their CSF are at higher risk of converting to MS (Dobson et al., 2013).



Figure 6: MRI in a patient with MS. A, T2-weighted images. B, T1-weighted images show hypointensity of some of the MS lesions. C, Gadolinium-enhanced T1-weighted images show that several lesions enhance in focal and ringlike patterns. Modify from: (Vellinga et al., 2008)

#### c) Symptoms

MS symptoms are heterogeneous from one individual to another. Depending on where the demyelinating lesions are formed in the CNS, a multitude of symptoms can appear. However, some symptoms are more recurrent than others. The most common are: motor deficits, fatigue, pain, vision problems, depression, and cognitive decline (this list is not exhaustive) (Figure 7) (Meca-Lallana et al., 2021; National Multiple sclerosis society, 2024; Sumowski et al., 2018).



Figure 7: Representation of the most common MS symptoms. The most common symptoms are motor impairment, fatigue and weakness, vision problems, urinary issues, pain but also depression and cognitive impairment. Created with Biorender

Different scales to measure the clinical disability of MS patients have been developed. The most used is the expanded disability status scale (EDSS). This scale goes from 0 to 10 (Figure 8) and has been developed by Kurtzke in 1983 (Kurtzke, 1983). The multiple sclerosis severity score (MSSS) evaluates the clinical disabilities (EDSS) considering the disease duration (Roxburgh et al., 2005). However, the EDSS and therefore by extension the MSSS are mostly based on walking difficulties. However, it is known that 50 to 60% of MS patients experience cognitive decline (Meca-Lallana et al., 2021; Sumowski et al., 2018). In most PwMS, the cognitive impairment usually seen is a reduced information processing speed and memory impairment (Grzegorski & Losy, 2017; Sumowski et al., 2018). To assess cognitive decline, and particularly the information processing speed, the symbol digit modalities test is widely used and is an efficient test to differentiate healthy individuals from PwMS (Sumowski et al., 2018).



Figure 8: Graphic representation of the extended disability status scale (EDSS). The EDSS score, goes up to 10 and evaluate walking disability in MS patients. Source: MSonetoone

#### 3. Etiology

MS is a complex pathology, and its etiology is still unclear. There are no factors or associations of factors that are sufficient to induce MS. However, genetic predisposition and environmental factors increase the risk of developing MS.

#### a) MS genetic predisposition

MS is not a genetic disease, but several studies support a genetic contribution. Indeed, some studies have found evidence toward familial clustering, and an association between ancestry and MS (Beecham et al., 2022; Chi et al., 2019; Compston & Coles, 2008; O'Gorman et al., 2012). Another evidence of genetic contribution is the study of twins, a meta-analysis of eight twin studies has shown that the heritability proportion of variance of MS is 0.5 (Fagnani et al., 2015).

Alleles of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) were the first genetic risks factors identified. HLA is the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) of humans, it plays a role in the defense of the organism. This gene is located on the chromosome 6 and is highly polymorphic with multiple alleles. The *HLA-DRB1\*15:01* is the first haplotype described and the one with the strongest risk effect still today. The odds ratios (OR) vary around 3 (2.9 to 3.17) (Brynedal et al., 2007; Hollenbach & Oksenberg, 2015; Osoegawa et al., 2021; Stürner et al., 2019). Protective alleles have also been discovered such as *HLA-A* (Brynedal et al., 2007; Sawcer et al., 2011), And when the lack of *HLA-A* is associated with the presence of *HLA-DRB1* the combined OR is over 20 (Brynedal et al., 2007).

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are variations at a specific location of one base pair in the genome. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) identify the association between these SNPs and diseases. Three GWAS studies have been conducted for MS (Beecham et al., 2013; Patsopoulos et al., 2019; Sawcer et al., 2011). In 2019, the last MS-GWAS identified over 200 SNPs that significantly increase the risks of developing MS, 32 of these variants are located within the MHC, and the others are unrelated to HLA (Patsopoulos et al., 2019). Interestingly, the SNPs variants identified by GWAS are enriched in microglia and peripheral immune cells (Ma et al., 2023), and in 20 X-linked SNPs increased in MS, 14 of them are in genes with immune and myelination functions (Borziak & Finkelstein, 2022).

These data suggest that genetics play a significant role in the development of MS. However, while genetic predisposition is important, it alone does not cause MS. Other non-genetic risk factors, such as epigenetic modifications and environmental factors, also contribute to the risk of developing the disease (Alfredsson & Olsson, 2019; Küçükali et al., 2015; Zarghami et al., 2021).

#### b) Environmental factors

Some environmental factors can also participate to increase MS risk. In the next paragraphs, I will present some of the environmental factors shown to contribute to MS risk (Alfredsson & Olsson, 2019; Zarghami et al., 2021).

#### (1) Viral infection

It has been suggested that viral infection in early life, with a specific genetic predisposition, could induce an immune-mediated CNS attack (Sundaresan et al., 2023). In MS cases, the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), a gamma-herpes virus that affects 90% of the population, has been considered a prerequisite to developing the disease (Hedström, 2023). In a longitudinal study in the US military of more than 10 million young adults, they showed that after EBV infection the risk of developing MS is increased 32-fold and that only after EBV infection there is an increase in serum of a neuroaxonal degeneration's marker: the neurofilament light chain (Bjornevik et al., 2022). These data suggest that EBV may play a causal role in the development of MS pathology (Bjornevik et al., 2022). One proposed mechanism is the molecular mimicry between EBV and myelin proteins (Soldan & Lieberman, 2023; Sundaresan et al., 2023), where the immune system mistakes myelin proteins for EBV antigens due to their structural similarity. As a result, adaptive immune cells initially targeting EBV might attack myelin, leading to MS pathology (Sundaresan et al., 2023).

#### (2) Latitude, sun exposure and vitamin D

Latitude of the living country in early life plays a role in MS risk, indeed, people living in a country with higher latitude have a higher risk of developing MS (Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, 2024; Sabel et al., 2021; Simpson et al., 2011, 2019) (Figure 9). There is a link between ultraviolet radiation exposure (and therefore sun exposure) and the risk of MS. This could be linked to lower sun exposure in higher latitudes. It has been demonstrated that low sun exposure is associated with MS risk and disease progression, while high sun exposure decreased MS risk (Tremlett et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2024). Sun exposure leads to vitamin D synthesis in the skin (Raymond-Lezman & Riskin, 2023) and is the main source of vitamin D. Low sun exposure increases MS risk directly and indirectly by leading to low vitamin D levels (Hedström et al., 2020). Low levels of vitamin D in the blood has also been associated with a higher risk of MS (Munger et al., 2006), and a higher risk of relapses in patients with RRMS (Simpson et al., 2010). The immunomodulatory role of vitamin D could explain its protective effect in MS (Athanassiou et al., 2022; Hamza et al., 2023; Rizwan et al., 2024).



*Figure 9: World map of the number of people with MS. We can see that there is a gradient from the latitude to the Equador. From:* (Multiple Sclerosis International Federation, 2024)

#### (3) Other environmental factors

Smoking is a modifiable environmental risk factor for MS (Hedström et al., 2016). On average smoking increases the risk of MS by around 50% in people who smoke compared to non-smokers (Manouchehrinia et al., 2022), while being passively in contact with smoke (being close to someone that smoke) increases the risk by 30% in adults (Hedström et al., 2011) and by more than two times in children, with a dose-response association (Mikaeloff et al., 2007). Smoking also plays a role in disease progression, for instance, PwMS that are smokers have more severe motor symptoms compared to non-smokers PwMS (Emre & Decker, 1992), they also, are at risk to reach 4.0 and 6.0 EDSS score (Hernán et al., 2005), and are also more at risk of converting into SPMS (Hernán et al., 2005; Ramanujam et al., 2015). This effect could be the result of the action of smoking on immunity, indeed smoking induces a pro-inflammatory reaction and activation of the immune system (Alrouji et al., 2019).

Other environmental factors are implicated, such as the gut microbiota, young and adolescent obesity, alcohol and coffee consumption (Alfredsson & Olsson, 2019; Zarghami et al., 2021). Interestingly, association and interaction between different risk factors can potentiate the effect of one risk factor. For example, an interaction between *HLADRB1\*15:01*; sun exposure and Vitamin D (Hedström et al., 2020); or the interaction between the presence of *HLADRB1\*15:01*; the absence of *HLA-A* and smoking (Olsson et al., 2016) increase MS risk more than just the presence of one of the risk factors.

In conclusion, MS is a multifactorial disease, and there is no specific factor or combination of factors that could induce the development of MS. Rather it is the interaction between genetic predisposition, epigenetics modification, and environmental factors that will induce dysregulation of the immune system homeostasis (Baranzini & Oksenberg, 2017) that increase the risk of developing MS.

#### **B.** Histopathology of MS

The analysis of post-mortem tissue from MS patients enabled the characterization of the different subtypes of lesions. In MS post-mortem tissue analysis, lesions are heterogeneous. The primary characteristics used to describe lesion patterns include demyelination, immune infiltration, and glial activation (Bö et al., 1994; Frischer et al., 2015; Kuhlmann et al., 2017; C. Lucchinetti et al., 2000).

#### 1. Lesion types

To identify lesion types in human post-mortem tissue, immunohistochemistry staining is used, typically staining myelin with antibodies against myelin protein such as MOG, PLP, or MBP (Figure 10A-C) and immune cells with the clusters of differentiation (CD)-68 (Figure 10D-F) (Kuhlmann et al., 2017). It is now admitted that white matter lesions can be: 1) active 2) inactive and 3) mixed active/inactive (Kuhlmann et al., 2017). Luxol fast blue, which stains myelin, is also commonly used to assess the extent of demyelination and remyelination.



Figure 10: Immunohistochemistry of MS lesions. (a-c) immunohistochemistry for myelin stained with MBP; (d-f) immunohistochemistry for immune cells stained with CD68. All lesions are characterized by a loss of myelin and a relatively sharp border. The anti-CD68 immunohistochemistry reveals the variable inflammatory activity. Active lesions with loss of myelin (a) and numerous CD68 positive foamy macrophages within the lesion (d). (b) and (e) display a mixed active/inactive lesion. The lesion is demyelinated (b), CD68 positive phagocytes form a rim at the lesion border (e). Inactive lesion in c; only a few ramified phagocytic cells are found within the lesion (f). Scale bars 500  $\mu$ m. From: (Kuhlmann et al., 2017)

#### a) Active lesions

Active lesions in MS, show demyelinated areas (Figure 10A) and are hypercellular due to dense infiltration of activated macrophages and lymphocytes (Figure 10D). Macrophages and microglia are evenly distributed throughout the lesion, while lymphocytes (T and B cells) typically cluster around blood vessels in perivascular spaces, with some also present in the parenchyma (Absinta et al., 2019; Bö et al., 1994; Fransen et al., 2020; Frischer et al., 2009; Hsiao et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018; Smolders et al., 2018). Increased astrogliosis, a marker of active lesions, is also observed. In these lesions, demyelination is driven by T-cell and macrophage-mediated inflammation, accompanied by myelin-specific antibodies and complement activation, which are key indicators of demyelination (Breij et al., 2008). Active lesions can occur throughout the disease course (Kuhlmann et al., 2017; C. Lucchinetti et al., 2000).

#### b) Inactive lesions

Inactive lesions, as observed in histopathological studies, have well-defined borders (Figure 10C). These lesions are hypocellular, featuring sparse infiltrates of T cells and macrophages (Figure 10F). The density of microglia and macrophages in these areas is lower than in normal-appearing white matter (Hametner et al., 2013), and the macrophages or microglia present do not contain myelin debris (Bö et al., 1994; Kuhlmann et al., 2017). Additionally, these lesions lack mature oligodendrocytes, with a glial scar formed by astrocytes at the lesion center (Ludwin, 2000). Axonal loss can also be detected in these lesions (Mews et al., 1998). Such lesions are typically found in PwMS for more than 15 years or in those with progressive MS (Frischer et al., 2015).

#### c) Mixed active and inactive lesions

Mixed active/inactive lesions are also called "smoldering-like" or chronic active lesions (CALs). For simplicity, for the following part, I will call them smoldering-like lesions.

These lesions are characterized by an inactive hypocellular center (Figure 10B) with the presence of a glial scar and an active border of the lesion. The border or the rim of these lesions

is hypercellular with the presence of immune cells (Figure 10E), such as foamy macrophages/microglia full of myelin, or macrophages/microglia full of iron named microglia inflamed in MS (MIMS) (Absinta et al., 2021; Maggi et al., 2020). The presence of foamy macrophages/microglia in the rim of the lesion suggests an ongoing demyelination, another hint toward ongoing demyelination is the upregulation in MIMS of complement genes (Absinta et al., 2021), which are markers of demyelination (Breij et al., 2008). In addition to macrophages and microglia, there is also the presence of T and B lymphocytes in smaller numbers, with T lymphocytes being more prevalent compared to B lymphocytes (Absinta et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018). CD8+ T cells are the dominant component of the infiltrates, primarily located in perivascular cuffs, and they exhibit tissue-resident memory (TRM) features (Absinta et al., 2021; Fransen et al., 2020; Frieser et al., 2022; Hsiao et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018).

Interestingly, this type of lesion is associated with disability *in vivo* (Absinta et al., 2019), more relapses and worse cognitive recovery after relapse (Reeves et al., 2023). Therefore, smoldering lesions are a hallmark of patients with severe disease and at risk of developing more disabilities.

#### d) Cortical lesions

MS is a primary white matter disease, however, in PwMS, we can also detect cortical lesions, also called gray matter lesions (GML) in post-mortem analysis (Figure 11) (Enz et al., 2021). There is different types of GML, the type I or also called leukocortical is characterized by cortical demyelination and adjacent subcortical white matter demyelination (Figure 11A; I.); the type II or intracortical, is characterized by cortical demyelination and do not contact the meninges and the white matter (Figure 11B; II.); the type III or subpial lesions are in contact with the meninges, they are the more abundant GML, and are only seen in PwMS (Junker et al., 2020), these lesion do not contact the white matter (Figure 11C; III.); and the type IV or pancortical, are characterized by demyelination of all the cortical layers, and are in contact with the meninges and the white matter (Figure 11D; IV.) (Enz et al., 2021; Lucchinetti et al., 2011). The GML are associated with disability in PwMS (Chase, 2015).

Even if these lesions are more present in people with progressive MS (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005), they are also seen early in the disease (Kuhlmann et al., 2017; Lucchinetti et al., 2011). In addition to the different types of GML, they can also be classified as active, inactive and smoldering lesions such as white matter lesions (Kuhlmann et al., 2017).



**Figure 11: Types of cortical grey matter lesions.** Representative images of anti-MOG staining of human cortical grey matter tissue and subcortical white matter. (A.) Type I leukocortical lesion (I.) with adjacent subcortical White Matter Lesion (WML) (B.) Type II intracortical lesions (II.). (C.) Type III subpial lesion (III.) spanning multiple gyri. (D.) Type IV pancortical lesion (IV.). Abbreviations: NAGM: Normal-Appearing Grey Matter; NAWM: Normal-Appearing White Matter. The black line delineates the border between grey and white matter. From: (Enz et al., 2021)

#### e) Shadow plaques

Shadow plaques (also called shadow lesions (SL)) are the histopathological representation of remyelination. For a long time, the CNS was considered to have poor intrinsic capacity to repair (Cajal, 1928). However, remyelination, that is the formation of new myelin sheath after demyelination (or injury), is a spontaneous repair process in the adult CNS (Chari, 2007). Remyelination can occur in all lesion types and both cortical and white matter areas (Dulamea, 2017; Franklin, 2002). Interestingly, remyelination can be extensive (Albert et al., 2007; Patani et al., 2007), and decrease with disease chronicity (Goldschmidt et al., 2009).

A scoring of the remyelination can be assessed based on the extent of remyelination (Huitema et al., 2021) observed using luxol fast blue staining. Different areas can be detected, white matter lesions (WML); the normal-appearing white matter (NAWM) that surrounds the WML; the grey matter (GM), and finally the remyelinated area (RM) (Figure 12). A score 3 correspond to completely remyelinated or remyelination covering >60% of the entire lesion area (Figure 12A-C); score 2: substantial remyelination, between 21–60% of lesion area remyelinated (Figure 12D-F); score 1: little remyelination that is restricted to the lesion rim and characterized by a paler gradient (Figure 12G-I) and score 0: demyelinated (Figure 12 J-L) (Huitema et al., 2021).



Figure 12: Luxol fast blue (blue) stained WM Lesions with remyelination score 3, 2, 1. (A–C) represent a shadow lesion (SL, remyelination score 3). (A) showing an almost completely remyelinated SL, covering almost the entire surface, but still with lower myelin density in the center. Fibers are running almost similar to the fibers of adjacent NAWM. (B) The lesion border is still visible, with a visible gradient in myelin density (indicated by arrows). (D–F) Lesion with substantial remyelination (remyelination score 2), with thin, patchy myelin fibers spread throughout the lesion area (E). (G–I) Lesion with partial remyelination (remyelination score 1), showing a thinner myelin gradient restricted to the lesion rim (indicated by the arrow in (H)). (J-L) Demyelinated lesion (remyelination score 0) with at the border normal myelin thickness and cut in the same fiber direction as the surrounding NAWM. (C,F,I,L) Corresponding immunohistochemical myelin staining (PLP; brown) showing NAWM, WML, GM and SL. GM: grey matter; NAWM: normal appearing white matter; RM: remyelination; SL: shadow lesion; WML: white matter lesion From: (Huitema et al., 2021)
## 2. Myelin destruction and repair in MS

## a) Immunopathology of MS

Most MS polymorphisms (SNP) are linked with immune system related genes confirming the autoimmune component of the disease where immune cells attack myelin (Beecham et al., 2013; Patsopoulos et al., 2019; Sawcer et al., 2011). Cells from both the innate and adaptive immune system participate in this inflammatory attack. The innate immune system includes macrophages and CNS resident microglia, while the adaptive immune system comprises lymphocytes, specifically T and B cells. Macrophages, T cells, and B cells are generated in the bone marrow, differentiating from hematopoietic stem cells. Hematopoietic stem cells give rise to either myeloid stem cells (which become lymphocytes). Both lymphocytes and macrophages circulate through the bloodstream to monitor the body. In contrast, microglia are the resident innate immune cells of the CNS. They originate from early progenitors in the embryonic yolk sac and migrate to colonize the CNS. Each cell type contributes uniquely to the pathophysiology of MS (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Origins and Differentiation Pathways of Immune Cells. Microglia has a prenatal origin and comes from the yolk sac, while macrophages and lymphocytes have a postnatal origin and are differentiated from hematopoietic stem cells. Created with Biorender

#### (1) T cells in MS

We can distinguish two groups of T cells depending on the expression of specific CD at their cell surface; they can express CD4 or CD8. Both groups of T cells have specific functions. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells coordinate the adaptive immune response and are called T helper (Th), whereas the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are the effectors and cytotoxic cells, their role is to kill infected cells by producing perforin and granzyme molecules. The activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells involved the MHC class II whereas CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells activation involved the MHC class I.

#### (a) CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells in MS

Depending on the type of stimulation CD4+ T cells receive during antigen presentation, naïve CD4+ T cells can differentiate into various subsets with distinct functions. They can be polarized into pro-inflammatory Th1 or Th17 cells, which drive inflammation. Th1 cells are involved in cellular immunity and are known for their role in fighting intracellular pathogens, while Th17 cells are associated with combating extracellular bacteria and fungi and play a significant role in autoimmune conditions.

After the initial inflammatory response, Th2 and regulatory T cells (Tregs) work to resolve the inflammation. Th2 cells inhibit Th1 activation, thereby dampening the inflammatory response. On the other hand, Tregs suppress the proliferation of other T cells, helping to maintain immune tolerance and prevent excessive immune responses. Together, Th2 cells and Tregs ensure that the immune response is controlled, and that tissue damage is minimized.

Th1 cells secretes interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , and the levels of IFN- $\gamma$  in PwMS was correlated with the frequency of active lesions (Olsson, 1992). An upregulation of IFN- $\gamma$  secretion can be detected just before disease activity (Dettke et al., 1997). Importantly, IFN- $\gamma$  can activate microglia, and also directly kill OL (Aloisi et al., 2000).

Th17 cells express Interleukin (IL) 17, in PwMS brain lesions, IL-17 messenger RNA (mRNA) can be detected (Lock et al., 2002; Montes et al., 2009). Interestingly, in active lesions of PwMS there is an upregulation of cells expressing IL-17 (glial cells, CD4- and CD8- T cells) compared to inactive lesions (Tzartos et al., 2008). In PwMS blood there is also an upregulation of IL-17 producing cells and levels of IL-17 mRNA is associated with disease activity (Durelli

et al., 2009; Matusevicius et al., 1999), and a higher IL-17 mRNA and protein levels, in both blood and CSF of PwMS is detected during relapses (Brucklacher-Waldert et al., 2009; Durelli et al., 2009; Matusevicius et al., 1999; Vaknin-Dembinsky et al., 2006). IL-17A levels in CSF of PwMS is associated with blood brain barrier (BBB) disruption (Kostic et al., 2015), and correlates with glutamate levels in CSF of PwMS (maker of glutamate excitotoxicity for neuron) (Kostic et al., 2014). *In vitro* study on a model of BBB crossing showed that human Th17 cells are more efficient to cross the BBB and have neurotoxic effects (Kebir et al., 2007). There is also a subset of CD4- T cells that can express both IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$  that have been detected as enriched in MS brain tissue suggesting that they could play a role in disease (Kebir et al., 2009).

In MS patients Tregs do not proliferate efficiently to stop the inflammation (Danikowski et al., 2017; Viglietta et al., 2004). In addition, they also are no longer able to suppress the proliferation of myelin-specific T cells (Dombrowski et al., 2017). Therefore, loss of functions and low number of Tregs could explain the attack of oligodendrocytes and myelin by inflammatory CD4+ T cells.

## (b) CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells in MS

The primary model for studying MS is the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), which is driven by CD4+ T cells. Consequently, it was initially believed that MS was also driven by CD4+ T cells. However, increasing evidence suggests that MS is actually driven by CD8+ T cells. In fact, as mentioned above, MS lesions contain more CD8+ T cells infiltrate compared to CD4+ T cells (Absinta et al., 2021; Bitsch et al., 2000; Kuhlmann et al., 2002; Machado-Santos et al., 2018).

Studies have shown that EAE induction with CD8+ T cells is more severe and results in greater axonal degeneration compared to EAE induction with CD4+ T cells (Sun et al., 2001). In MS post-mortem tissue, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are located close to damaged axons (Fletcher et al., 2010), and their number is correlated to axonal damage (Bitsch et al., 2000). CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are also located in cortical lesions, and these cortical lesions are associated with clinical progression in MS (Lucchinetti et al., 2011). This data suggests that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells could be the main cells contributing to axonal damage in MS.

Several clues show the implication of CD8+ T cells in MS pathogenesis. The early upregulation of MHC class I molecules observed in PwMS, occurring before demyelination, suggests an intensified immune response involving CD8+ T cells that likely contributes to the autoimmune attack on myelin (Gobin et al., 2001; Hayashi et al., 1988; Ransohoff & Estes, 1991). It has also been demonstrated that in PwMS, CD8+ T cells undergo oligoclonal expansion within the CNS, in peripheral blood, and in the CSF (Babbe et al., 2000; Friese & Fugger, 2009; Junker et al., 2007). This oligoclonal expansion indicates a targeted immune response, suggesting that these CD8+ T cells are actively involved in the pathology of MS by recognizing and attacking specific antigens within these regions. Studies have also shown that a subpopulation of CD8<sup>+</sup>T also expresses CD161. CD161<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells producing IFN are found in MS lesions and are enriched in MS patient blood (Annibali et al., 2011).

In MS lesions, CD8+ T cells aggregate to form perivascular cuffs, and many of these cells are classified as tissue-resident memory T cells (TRM). Unlike circulating T cells that move through the bloodstream, TRM will remain within the CNS and continuously interact with the surrounding environment by sending signals to nearby cells (Figure 14) (Kumar et al., 2017). Cellular and molecular mechanisms allow TRM cells to persist in the CNS (Figure 14), contributing to the chronic inflammation seen in MS lesions.



Figure 14: Signature of human TRM. TRM loses the ability to return in the blood circulation by downregulation of S1PR1, and upregulation of factors that induce tissue retention such as CD103, CD49a and CXCR6. CD69 is a marker that allows their identification. When in the tissue of residency such as brain in MS, they will secrete inflammatory factors. Modify from: (Kumar et al., 2017)

## (2) **B** cells in MS

Immunoglobulins, which are produced by B lymphocytes, are found in the CSF of 90% of people with MS (PwMS) (Thompson et al., 2018). The presence of immunoglobulins in the CSF of PwMS is a significant disease marker (also used to diagnosis MS pathology), indicating active B cell involvement in the pathogenesis of MS. Moreover, specific types of immunoglobulins, such as IgM, have been associated with a more severe disease course (Villar et al., 2002, 2003).

*Ex vivo* studies have shown that activated B cells from PwMS produce excessive amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), IL-6, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Bar-Or et al., 2010; Duddy et al., 2007; R. Li et al., 2015). For instance, elevated levels of TNF are found in both the serum and CSF of PwMS, and the receptors for these cytokines are upregulated in MS lesions. Additionally, B cells from PwMS secrete factors that are toxic to OL (Lisak et al., 2012) and

neurons (Lisak et al., 2017). *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that B cells from PwMS can induce demyelination by secreting IgG antibodies that target myelin components such as MBP and MOG (Claes et al., 2015; Elliott et al., 2012). Furthermore, B cells secrete cytokines that activate macrophage (R. Li et al., 2015) but they can also stimulate self-reactive CD4+T cells proliferation (Jelcic et al., 2018). Within MS lesions, B cells are also found in perivascular cuffs and are less frequently observed in the parenchyma (Esiri, 1977; ESIRI, 1980; Prineas & Wright, 1978). These cells tend to accumulate in the meningeal and perivascular spaces, contributing to the formation of lymphoid-like structures (Choi et al., 2012; Howell et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2007, 2010; Serafini et al., 2004; H. Y. F. Yong & Yong, 2022). In PwMS with oligoclonal band in the CSF, and B cells accumulation in perivascular and meningeal space there is a high level of inflammation, active subpial grey matter demyelination and a rapid progression of clinical course (Androdias et al., 2010; Bevan et al., 2018; Choi et al., 2012; Haider et al., 2016; Howell et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2016; Howell et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2016; Serafini et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2016; Howell et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2016; Howell et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2016; Howell et al., 2010; Bevan et al., 2018; Choi et al., 2012; Haider et al., 2016; Howell et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2007, 2010; Serafini et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2007, 2010; Serafini et al., 2014; Magliozzi et al., 2007, 2010; Serafini et al., 2011; Magliozzi et al., 2007, 2010; Serafini et al., 2004)

Another subset of B cells, known as Bregs, exhibits immunomodulatory properties by expressing IL-10. In people with MS, Bregs have been shown to be dysfunctional, expressing less IL-10 (Okada et al., 2018), which results in a diminished ability to suppress Th1 functions (Cencioni et al., 2021). Additionally, the number of Bregs is reduced during relapse phases compared to remission phases (Y. Kim et al., 2018; Knippenberg et al., 2011).

## (3) Macrophages and microglia in MS

As mentioned above, microglia are the innate immune cells of the CNS, and macrophages are the peripheral innate immune cells. In the healthy CNS, microglia are the only innate immune cells present in the parenchyma, but under pathology (such as MS or other neurodegenerative diseases) macrophages infiltrates the CNS. However, it is difficult to differentiate activated microglia and macrophages as they express the same molecules. Therefore, for the following part, I will refer to them as myeloid cells, unless it is specified.

Myeloid cells can be differentially activated in response to different stimuli. For example, in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli (such as: IFN- $\gamma$  or lipopolysacharide (LPS)) myeloid cells will be "classically activated" also called "M1" phenotype and will have pro-

inflammatory properties, while in response to anti-inflammatory stimuli (such as: IL-4) myeloid cells will be "alternatively activated" also called "M2" phenotype and have pro-regenerative properties (Martinez & Gordon, 2014). However, this is a simple vision, nine different activation phenotypes were found in a transcriptomic study of human macrophages (Xue et al., 2014). In addition, the M2 activation can be further subdivided in M2a, M2b and M2c (Martinez & Gordon, 2014). Nonetheless, this dichotomic view of M1/M2 is challenged, I will refer to pro-inflammatory and pro-regenerative in the next paragraphs for convenience.

Myeloid cells are thought to participate in demyelination since they are present in active demyelinating lesions (Kuhlmann et al., 2017) and detected containing myelin products (foamy cells) (Absinta et al., 2021). They are also thought to contribute to neurodegeneration as their number correlates with the extent of axonal damage in MS lesions (Bitsch et al., 2000). In addition, pro-inflammatory markers of myeloid cells are higher in areas of active demyelination (Jäckle et al., 2020; Zrzavy et al., 2017), suggesting that pro-inflammatory activation induces demyelination. In blood and CSF of MS patients, there is an upregulation of monocytes CD16<sup>+</sup> (Gjelstrup et al., 2018; Waschbisch et al., 2016), these monocytes are pro-inflammatory, and they are also present in MS lesions (Waschbisch et al., 2016). Interestingly, MS patients' monocytes-derived macrophages show a higher pro-inflammatory activation independently of the stimuli they received compared to healthy control, this is associated with a dysregulation of their metabolic profile (Fransson et al., 2021). These data suggest that myeloid cells from MS patients are more prone to pro-inflammatory polarization, and therefore to induce demyelination.

In addition to contributing to myelin destruction, myeloid cells function as antigenpresenting cells (APCs). For CD4+ T cell activation, antigen recognition is necessary, involving interaction between the T cell receptor (TCR) on T cells and HLA class II molecules on APCs. Subsequently, APCs upregulate co-stimulatory ligands like CD80 and CD86. In MS patients, myeloid cells show increased expression of HLA class II (Hendrickx et al., 2017; Jack et al., 2005), and CD80 is upregulated in post-mortem myeloid cells from MS patients. These findings suggest that myeloid cells act as APCs and reactivate T cells within the CNS. Additionally, myeloid cells can secrete chemoattractant molecules which are highly expressed in MS lesions, to recruit T cells to the CNS.

Even if microglia and infiltrating macrophages have been classically considered a homogeneous population due to similar roles and expression, there is more and more evidence that they could have distinct roles. The purinergic receptor P2YR12 is a homeostatic maker of microglial cells. P2YR12 is decreased in lesions and normal appearing white matter in MS patients (Zrzavy et al., 2017) suggesting that there is an activation of innate resident cells of the CNS in MS patients, in area with no infiltration of circulating immune cells. In vitro assessment of phagocytic properties of human macrophages and microglia from healthy individuals, showed a higher phagocytic capacity of human primary microglia when compared to macrophages (Healy et al., 2016). Moreover, with the use of new technology such as singlecell RNA sequencing (ScRNA-seq), single-nucleus RNA sequencing (SnRNA-seq) and also single-cell mass cytometry (CyTOF) on MS tissues provide new insight on microglia and macrophages contribution (Absinta et al., 2021; Böttcher et al., 2019; Healy et al., 2022; Masuda et al., 2019). In PwMS post-mortem tissue SnRNA-seq analysis revealed that microglia downregulate homeostatic genes (Masuda et al., 2019). In parallel, they also appear to be highly activated and phagocytic (Böttcher et al., 2019). SnRNA-seq also allowed the identification of specific microglia subtypes in MS, such as: microglia inflamed in MS (MIMS), either full of myelin debris named MIMS-foamy or loaded with iron named MIMS-iron and disease associated microglia (DAM) (Absinta et al., 2021). Microglia differentiate into DAM through a two-step process. The first step involves a reduction in homeostatic gene expression, followed by the second step, which includes the activation of phagocytosis and lipid metabolism through triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) activation. DAM express genes associated with both pro-inflammatory and pro-regenerative phenotypes (Song & Colonna, 2018). While homeostatic microglia can suppress T-cell proliferation ex vivo, DAM lack this ability (Krasemann et al., 2017). DAM are characterized by the upregulation of apolipoprotein E (APOE) and C-type lectin domain containing 7A (Clec7a), making APOE and Clec7a markers of DAM cells (Krasemann et al., 2017).

## b) Remyelination

In 1961, a study demonstrated for the first time that spontaneous remyelination occurs after demyelination (BUNGE et al., 1961). The newly formed myelin is thinner (Figure 15C) compared to developmental myelin (Figure 15A) (Teo et al., 2019); however, it has been demonstrated to support functional recovery. Indeed, after demyelination in the cat, remyelination restores saltatory conduction (Smith et al., 1979), and locomotor function loss

induced by demyelination in the rat (Jeffery & Blakemore, 1997). Remyelination also protects against neurodegeneration (Duncan et al., 2023).



Figure 15: Ultrastructural analysis of myelinated axons following demyelination in the corpus callosum of wild-type (WT) mice. (a–c) Representative electron microscopy images of the corpus callosum of WT mice belonging to the (a) developmental myelin, (b) demyelination, and (c) remyelination. Scale bar = 1  $\mu$ m. From: (Teo et al., 2019)

In the CNS, the cells of origin of new myelin sheaths are mainly the adult pool of OPCs (Bacmeister et al., 2020), but new evidence showed that surviving OL can participate in remyelination (Bacmeister et al., 2020; Duncan et al., 2018; Franklin et al., 2021; Mezydlo et al., 2023). However, surviving OL remyelination is inefficient, because internode formation by surviving OL is a rare phenomenon and outweighed by internodes loss happening at the same time (Mezydlo et al., 2023). Interestingly, in the spinal cord, Schwann cells can participate in the remyelination process (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). Some evidence shows that remyelinating Schwann cells are derived from CNS glial precursors (Zawadzka et al., 2010), and other results have shown that a large amount of Schwann cells participating in remyelination are derived from the periphery (Oudega & Xu, 2006).

## (1) **Remyelination steps**

After an event of demyelination (or CNS injury), remyelination can occur. The remyelination process can be divided into distinct phases. First, OPCs need to populate the lesioned area, to do so they proliferate and migrate to colonize the demyelinated area, this phase is called the recruitment phase (Figure 16; 1-2). Then in order to make new myelin, OPCs need to differentiate into myelinating OL This is called the differentiation phase (Figure 16; 3).



*Figure 16: Schematic representation of remyelination process.* For remyelination, OPCs need to migrate to the site of lesion, then they proliferate and finally they differentiate into myelinating OL. Created with Biorender

After demyelination, OPCs are activated, this activation induces morphological (Levine and Reynolds, 1999) and gene expression changes (Franklin & Ffrench-Constant, 2008). OPCs start to express OLIG2 and NKX2.2 in demyelinating lesions, these genes that are known in OL development (Fancy et al., 2004; Franklin & Ffrench-Constant, 2008). In demyelinating area, the expression of PDGF and FGF-2 is increased (Messersmith et al., 2000; Woodruff et al., 2004), and associated with an increase of both receptors on OPCs in response to demyelination (Redwine & Armstrong, 1998), this will induce proliferation and migration

towards the demyelinated area (Zhao et al., 2005). Interestingly, the OPCs recruited to the lesion are located at a small distance from the injury site (Franklin et al., 1997).

When the OPCs have proliferated and migrated to populate the demyelinated area they form new myelin around axons. To do so, OPCs are believed to go through the same stage of differentiation as for developmental myelination, OPCs extend their processes to contact axons and wrap them to form new myelin. The expression of Olig2 in OPCs induces the expression of the transcription factor SRY-box 10 (Sox10) that is critical for OL maturation (Küspert et al., 2011). Sox10 is required for the differentiation of OPCs into myelinating OL, its actions are direct and indirect. Indeed, Sox10 directly activates several genes of the myelination process such as MBP and the myelin regulatory factor (MYRF) (Hornig et al., 2013; H. Li et al., 2007). MYRF is essential to OPCs differentiation, as in KO model there is a loss of OL (Emery et al., 2009), and is also important for the remyelination process (Duncan et al., 2017).

In animal models of demyelination/remyelination, this process (recruitment and differentiation) takes up to three weeks to be totally complete (Blakemore & Franklin, 2008; Jeffery & Blakemore, 1995).

## (2) Immune system orchestrates de and re-myelination

Inflammation undoubtedly contributes to the pathogenesis of MS. However, the remyelination process heavily depends on the surrounding environment, particularly the inflammatory environment. Inflammation plays a significant role in remyelination. First, myelin debris inhibits the remyelination process, so its clearance by myeloid cells is crucial. Additionally, the differential activation or polarization of immune cells has been shown to orchestrate the various steps of remyelination.

#### (a) Innate immune system

For a long time, macrophages were viewed as detrimental, particularly because their infiltration into the CNS was known to exacerbate disease progression in EAE (Ajami et al.,

2011). However, research using a rat model of demyelination induced by lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) has shown that depleting macrophages from day 1 to day 21 (the early stages of remyelination) impairs the remyelination process. In contrast, depleting macrophages from day 8 to day 21 (the later stages of remyelination) does not impact remyelination. Nevertheless, depleting macrophages throughout the entire remyelination process hinders oligodendrocyte remyelination. These findings indicate that, despite their role in driving demyelination, macrophages are essential for the early stages of remyelination (Kotter et al., 2001).

But in a model of secondary progressive MS (SPMS), obtained by the induction of EAE in nonobese diabetic mice, the depletion of microglia cells using the PLX3397 CSF1R inhibitor increases the secondary progression of EAE and the mortality. In addition, increased inflammation, demyelination, axonal degeneration and number of proliferating CD4+ T cell is observed in treated mice (Tanabe et al., 2019). It suggests that microglia inhibit CD4+ T cells proliferation (Tanabe et al., 2019). In another model of CNS demyelination with the infection of mice with mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) strain JHMV the depletion of microglia using another inhibitor of CSF1R the PLX5622 during the time of clearance of the MHV impaired remyelination (Sariol et al., 2020).

These results demonstrate that myeloid cells drive demyelination as their inhibition in specific times reduces demyelination, but they also are essential for the remyelination process as their depletion decreases the repair process.

## (i) Debris clearance

*In vitro* studies have demonstrated that myelin substrates impair OPC differentiation (S. Robinson & Miller, 1999). *In vivo* studies further revealed that injecting myelin three days after focal demyelination decreased remyelination due to the inhibition of OPC differentiation (Kotter et al., 2006). Therefore, myelin debris act as inhibitors of remyelination by preventing OPC differentiation, underscoring the importance of clearing this debris for the remyelination process (Neumann et al., 2009).

The clearance of myelin debris is done by myeloid cells and is mediated by the fatty acid translocase CD36. In the EAE mouse model, uptake of myelin by CD36 reduces

neuroinflammation, and its inhibition induces pro-inflammatory properties *in vivo* (Grajchen et al., 2020). It is known that phagocytosis of myelin by phagocytosing cells promotes a switch in their phenotype toward one that is associated with repair and reduces the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators (Bogie et al., 2011; Boven et al., 2006; Hikawa & Takenaka, 1996), this shift is mediated via liver X receptor and peroxisome proliferator-activated signaling pathways (Bogie et al., 2012, 2014). The pro-inflammatory activation through MyD88 is essential for myelin degradation once it is uptaken by myeloid cells, without this pro-inflammatory activation, myeloid cells will not be able to degrade myelin (Cunha et al., 2020). Long-term exposure to myelin increases intracellular cholesterol and induces inflammatory phenotype in human macrophages-derived monocytes, mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages and microglia (Bogie et al., 2020).

Therefore, myelin uptake and clearance should be quick and effective to allow the remyelination process to take place.

#### (ii) Recruitment of OPCs

Pro-inflammatory activation of myeloid cells is known to induce the recruitment (proliferation and migration) of OPCs. As mentioned above PDGF and FGF-2 induce OPC proliferation, both can be secreted by astrocytes and myeloid cells. TNF is a molecule secreted by activated myeloid cells and is a pro-inflammatory cytokine. In TNF receptor 1 KO mice, there is a decrease in OPCs proliferation after demyelination (Arnett et al., 2001). Moreover, in an *in vitro* study, the conditioned media of pro-inflammatory macrophages induces the proliferation and migration of OPCs, and pro-inflammatory macrophages depletion *in vivo* decreases the proliferation of OPCs (Miron et al., 2013). These data indicate a crucial role of pro-inflammatory activated myeloid cells in OPC recruitment.

#### (iii) Differentiation of OPCs

After myelin debris clearances and the recruitment phase, which are possible because of pro-inflammatory activation, there is a switch in the activation. Myeloid cells will become pro-regenerative and secrete immunomodulatory and pro-regenerative factors. Pro-regenerative myeloid cells are known to induce OPC differentiation via molecule secretion (Miron et al., 2013; Patel & Klein, 2011; V. W. Yong & Rivest, 2009). For example, Insulin growth factor (IGF-1) increases OPCs differentiation and myelin production *in vitro*, and in EAE model injection of IGF-1 increases the number of remyelinated axons (Yao et al., 1995). Activin A, another factor secreted by myeloid cells increases OPCs differentiation *in vitro* and remyelination *in vivo* (Miron et al., 2013).

These data indicate a crucial role of pro-regenerative activated myeloid cells in OPC differentiation.

## (b) Adaptative immune system

Lymphocytes were not originally thought to participate in the myelin repair process. However, being present during remyelination in acute plaques of PwMS (Popescu et al., 2013), lymphocytes could participate in the remyelination process. Using KO mice or antibody depletion, it was demonstrated that lymphocytes are necessary for remyelination (Bieber et al., 2003). In B6-Rag<sup>1m1Mem</sup> mice, lacking both T and B cells, 35 days after focal demyelination (when the remyelination should be complete) the density of remyelinated axons was reduced. In mice lacking CD4+ (CD4<sup>m1Mak</sup> KO model or depletion induced by anti-CD4 antibodies) or CD8+ cells (CD8<sup>m1Mak</sup> or depletion induced by an anti-CD8 antibody), remyelination was also impeded (Bieber et al., 2003). This pioneer study demonstrated for the first time the essential role of adaptive immunity in remyelination (Bieber et al., 2003).

However, now new data have unraveled the contribution of lymphocytes to remyelination. There are studies showing a direct regenerative role of Tregs in remyelination: First, there is a Tregs induction at the initiation of remyelination (Plaisted et al., 2016). In addition, in a KO mouse for Foxp3, in which Tregs are absent, remyelination was impeded and rescued by the graft of exogenous wild type Tregs (Dombrowski et al., 2017). More interestingly, in the EAE, mice grafted with human neural stem cells (hNSCs) showed more remyelination, this is associated with an increase of Tregs cells in the spinal cord. Depletion of Tregs before hNSCs graft suppresses the regenerative effect (McIntyre et al., 2020). Tregs were shown to have a direct pro-differentiation effect on OPCs *in vitro* mediated by the secretion of CCN3. CCN3 is also up-regulated in spinal cord during remyelination process after LPC demyelinating injection, but the same study using CCN3 KO mice showed that

remyelination isn't impairs without CCN3, those results suggest that CCN3 isn't essential for remyelination (de la Vega Gallardo et al., 2020). More interestingly, when comparing CCN3 expression between patient and controls, there is no CCN3 deficiency in MS but show a dynamic expression profile regarding disease type and treatment (Naughton et al., 2020). Even if the well-known immunomodulatory role of Tregs cannot be excluded to have played a role in the rescue of remyelination, Tregs seem to have a direct regenerative role on promoting OPC maturation. Interestingly, it was also shown that myelin-specific T cells can induce a proliferation of OPC after axonal damage through an unknown mechanism (Hvilsted Nielsen et al., 2011).

In a new humanized mouse model of demyelination/remyelination, that combined LPC injection and grafting of human lymphocytes, healthy donor lymphocytes did not disrupt the remyelination process. In contrast, lymphocytes from MS patients impeded the remyelination process (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017)

Recently a new study showed the importance of B regulators (Bregs) in the remyelination process. In a murine model of EAE, at the onset of the first sign of clinical disability (tail paralysis) the adoptive transfer of Bregs isolated from naïve mice improves remyelination and increases the size of newly formed myelin sheath. Those results are linked to a diminution of immune cell infiltration in the CNS and a switch in myeloid cells phenotype toward pro-generative (Pennati et al., 2020). Furthermore, the same teams previously demonstrated that Bregs induced IL10 production by CD4+ activated T cells *in vitro*. *In vivo* experiment showed that adoptive transfer of Bregs in EAE mice increased the number of Tregs (Pennati et al., 2016).

These shows that both innate and adaptive immune cells are important for the repair process (Figure 17A). To resume, while pro-inflammatory cells (Th1/Th17; pro-inflammatory activated myeloid cells) will induce the first steps of remyelination, the proliferation and migration of OPCS, the pro-regenerative cells (T- and B-regs; pro-regenerative activated myeloid cells) will induce the differentiation of OPCs into myelination OL (Figure 17A). It is therefore important to also switch from pro-inflammatory to pro-regenerative phenotypes (Figure 17B).

Taken together, all these data prove that, even if the immune system drives demyelination in MS, the same immune system is needed for efficient remyelination. Instead

of trying to stop inflammation, it is therefore extremely important for successful remyelination that the inflammatory response is well controlled in time and intensity.



*Figure 17: The immune system plays a role in remyelination.* (A) *Pro-inflammatory cells (Th1, Th17, pro-inflammatory myeloid cells) induce proliferation and migration of OPCs and inhibits OPCs differentiation by secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines, whereas pro-regenerative cells (Tregs, Bregs and pro-regenerative myeloid cells) secrete pro-regenerative cytokines that induce OPCs differentiation. (B) The switch from pro-inflammatory to pro-regenerative is necessary. Created with Biorender* 

## C. Animal models of MS

To study MS pathology, the formation of demyelinated lesions, or the repair process, animal models have been developed. By definition, there is no perfect animal model. In the study of MS, different models are used to study different parts of the disease. There are three types of animal models mostly used: (1) experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE); (2) virally induced chronic demyelination; and (3) toxin-induced demyelination. All those models will recreate some features of MS, but with some differences.

## 1. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

EAE is widely used as a model for MS because this model shares pathological and clinical features (Fletcher et al., 2010). Interestingly, the first EAE has been developed to study the pathogenesis of rabies post-vaccinal encephalomyelitis (Rivers et al., 1933). They try to reproduce the acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) in monkeys (Macacus Rhesus) by repeated intramuscular injection of normal rabbit brain. In this first publication, only 2 out of 8 monkeys developed symptoms and analysis of their brain showed perivascular infiltrates and demyelination (Rivers et al., 1933). In a second experiment 6 out of 8 monkeys had symptoms development and demyelination (Rivers & Schwentke, 1935). However, to develop symptoms and induce demyelination they need to do a high number of injections. In 1934, using homologous injections of emulsions or extracts from rabbits' brains, they showed that the more antigenic the emulsions were, the higher the proportion of rabbits affected, and they also developed brain-specific antibodies. The association between the pathology and the presence of brain-specific antibodies suggest that demyelination could be caused by a specific immune response (Schwentker & Rivers, 1934). To test this hypothesis, several groups tried to boost the antibodies production with complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) that was just newly described (Freund & Mcdermott, 1942). This resulted in the induction of the now named EAE with only a few numbers of injections (Freund et al., 1947; Kabat et al., 1947; Morgan, 1947)

Now two method of EAE induction are used, 1) active immunization (active EAE) of the animal with myelin peptide such as MBP, MOG and PLP in CFA (Freund & Mcdermott, 1942) with the injection of pertussis toxin to open the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Munoz et al., 1984), or 2) passive immunization (passive EAE), firstly describe with the transfer of cells

extract from lymph node of rats immunized with guinea pig spinal cord (PATERSON, 1960). Now passive EAE is obtained by the adoptive transfer of activated myelin-specific T cells (Robinson et al., 2014). One of the biggest differences between passive and active immunization is the percentage of mice that will be developing EAE, while it is known that active EAE will not induce clinical sign in all mice, 100% of mice immunized by adoptive transfer of activated myelin-specific T cells will develop clinical sign. The first symptoms appear around 7 to 12 days post-immunization. To evaluate the evolution of the disease, clinical disability is quantified using a standard EAE scoring system, on a 0 to 5 disease severity scale: 0, no disease; 1, tail paralysis; 2, hind limb weakness; 3, hind limb paralysis; 4, hind limb paralysis and forelimb paralysis or weakness; and finally, 5, moribund/death (Shahi et al., 2019).

Overall, EAE can be induced in different animal, such as monkeys (rhesus or marmoset are the most used) (Jagessar et al., 2012; Kabat et al., 1947), guinea pigs (Freund et al., 1947), rats (M. M. Lipton & Freund, 1952) and mice (Olitzky & Yager, 1949), but the rodents' models are the most used and described. The immunization process with different myelin peptides in different strains of mice will give different EAE disease types. For example, the immunization of C57BL/6J mice with high dose of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide induce a chronic EAE (Tompkins et al., 2002) a relative low dose of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide can induce a relapsing-remitting EAE (RR-EAE) such as immunization of SJL/J mice with PLP<sub>139-151</sub> peptide (Tuohy et al., 1989).

As mentioned above; to enhance the immune responses to the immunization, CFA is used in the emulsion. CFA has been shown to stimulate the antigen presentation, activation, and expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells (Billiau & Matthys, 2005). Therefore, EAE models are CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells mediated diseases. In this pathology, the immunization of the mice with antigen of myelin protein leads to the development of myelin-specific T cells that will enter the CNS and destroy myelin and OL. However, both CD4<sup>+</sup>T and CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells can induce passive EAE (Fletcher et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2001).

This model has been widely used and helpful to decipher the different types of cells involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. EAE is used to study neuroinflammation, immune activation, CNS invasion by immune cells and autoimmune mediated neurodegeneration. It provides a better understanding of the MS pathogenesis and allows the development of treatment (Constantinescu et al., 2011).

While EAE is a CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells mediated pathology, MS has been demonstrated to be CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells mediated (Absinta et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018). In rodents' EAE model, lesions are formed essentially in the spinal cord, leading to paralysis of the animal, but in MS lesions are essentially formed in the brain parenchyma (Lassmann & Bradl, 2017), in addition, EAE lesion are form randomly (Table 1).

## 2. Virus-induced demyelination

There is more and more evidence that viral infection could possibly result in the development of MS, such as EBV infection (Bjornevik et al., 2022; Hedström, 2023; Houen et al., 2020; W. H. Robinson & Steinman, 2022). Interestingly in mice, the Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) was reported to cause paralysis (Theiler, 1934).

TMEV is an enteric mouse pathogen described by Max Theiler in 1934 (Theiler, 1934). He reported that some mice were paralyzed and exhibited some histological features, he discovered it was caused by a virus and maintained the virus. When the virus is injected in the mouse brain it induces encephalitis. However, the virus doesn't affect there are some differences between the strain in disease induction and can also induce heart pathology (For difference in strain and disease induced by TMEV (look for review: (Omura et al., 2018)). For example, susceptible SJL mice are more likely to develop CNS pathology compared to C57BL/6 mice (Omura et al., 2018).

There are two subgroups of strains based on the ability to induce CNS pathology, the GDVII and the Theiler's original (TO). While GDVII strains are fatal to mice 1 to 2 weeks after the injection (Dal Canto & Lipton, 1977; Oleszak et al., 2004; Sato et al., 2014). The strains from the TO are the most used to study MS. TMEV will induce a biphasic disease; the first phase consists of an acute polioencephalomyelitis, followed by a chronic progressive demyelinating phase that develops within a month (Lipton, 1975). During the first phase, TMEV will induce axonal damage that will be demyelinated during the chronic phase, therefore TMEV model is a secondary demyelinating model (Tsunoda et al., 2003).

TMEV model is used to study viral infection and CNS autoimmune disease development, and axonal damage. However, TMEV induces CNS pathology only in mice and no other animals, and is a secondary demyelinating disease, whereas MS is primary demyelinating disease. These aspects of TMEV-induced demyelination raise the question of its use to characterize MS (Table 1).

## **3.** Toxin-induce demyelination

Toxin-induced demyelination models do not attempt to imitate MS, they are used to study the demyelination/remyelination process (Blakemore & Franklin, 2008). In those models, the location of demyelination is known, and the demyelination process is separated from the remyelination process allowing us to study them separately. In these models the demyelination process is independent of immune activation. We are going to focus on the cuprizone and lysophosphatidylcholine models, but other gliotoxic agent can been used (such as ethidium bromide (Woodruff & Franklin, 1999).

## a) Cuprizone

Cuprizone is a copper chelator agent. When mice are fed with cuprizone the mature OL located in the corpus callosum die leading to demyelination and glial cells activation (microglia and astrocytes) (Matsushima & Morell, 2001).

Cuprizone can have different effects on different strains of mice (Yu et al., 2017). Yu and collaborator, showed that 3 weeks of cuprizone feeding on CD1 mice have less effect compared to C57BL/6, suggesting that cuprizone will not affect the mice the same way because of genetic differences. Short-term feeding (5 weeks) induces acute demyelination whereas long-term feeding (>10 weeks) induces chronic demyelination. In both cases, remyelination occurs after the removal of cuprizone from the food even if it is decreased during chronic cuprizone feeding (Matsushima & Morell, 2001).

However, in this model, there is not the involvement of an autoimmune process, making it difficult to assess the demyelination/remyelination process in an inflammatory/immune context close to MS (Table 1).

## b) Lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC)

Lysophosphatidylcholine (or lysolecithin (LPC)) is an endogenous phospholipid, and also a toxic compound used to induce demyelination. Firstly, the demyelination effect of LPC was described in CNS tissue *in vitro* (Birgbauer et al., 2004; PERIER, 1965). The first *in vivo* experiment was done in the sciatic nerve of adult mice (Hall & Gregson, 1971), and next in the spinal cord of mouse, cat, and cerebellar peduncle (Blakemore et al., 1977; Hall, 1972; Woodruff & Franklin, 1999).

For a long time, the mechanism of LPC induced demyelination was unknown. LPC integrates cellular membranes, this led to an increase in membranes permeability and lipid disruption. So, when LPC is injected in white matter abundant area it will integrate myelin membranes and disrupt myelin lipid leading to demyelination (Plemel et al., 2018). This demyelination led to the accumulation of myelin debris that will recruit peripheral immune cells and activate microglia for debris clearance (Procaccini et al., 2015). After the demyelination, the remyelination is observed, this process is spontaneous and extremely efficient (BLAKEMORE, 1978; Blakemore et al., 1977; Blakemore & Franklin, 2008; Jeffery & Blakemore, 1995).

LPC-induced demyelination is a well-documented model. At one day post-injection, peripheral macrophages, along with T and B cells, infiltrate the CNS parenchyma. By two days post-injection, demyelination is complete. OPCs, which are not affected by the LPC injection, are recruited to the lesion site and begin to proliferate. Remyelination starts after myelin debris is cleared, around 7 days post-injection, and the process is completed by 21 days post-injection (Figure 18). In the spinal cord, SC can also contribute to the remyelination process (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017; Blakemore & Franklin, 2008).

One significant drawback of LPC-induced demyelination is the lack of involvement of an autoimmune process. However, the immune system plays a crucial role in the demyelination process in MS and in determining the success or failure of remyelination (Butovsky et al., 2006; Miron et al., 2013) (Table 1).



*Figure 18: Time course of LPC-induced demyelination/remyelination.* LPC: lysophosphatidylcholine; OL: oligodendrocytes; OPCs: oligodendrocytes precursor cells.

# c) A model mimicking patient remyelination capacity heterogeneity

MS is characterized by significant heterogeneity in many of its aspects such as: its etiology, form of the disease, symptoms, lesions development, and repair capacity.

A variety of environmental factors, associated with epigenetic and genetic predisposition will increase the risks of developing MS, but there are no factors or association of factors that have been proven to induce MS. When MS is diagnosed the patients can follow different clinical courses. PwMS can either develop an RRMS course that will eventually convert into SPMS, or they will develop a PPMS course (Reich et al., 2018).

In addition, the heterogeneity in the etiology and clinical course, lesions formation, and evolution are highly heterogeneous among patients (Kuhlmann et al., 2017; Lucchinetti et al., 1999, 2000). PwMS will also experience a variety of symptoms, depending on lesion location. Among lesions heterogeneity can also be detected, four different patterns of active lesions have been identified on post-mortem analysis based on OL density, lesion edge, apoptosis, antibodies deposition, and myelin loss (Lucchinetti et al., 2000). The quantification of OL in MS post-mortem lesions also led to the categorization of five patterns (within one lesion). In 3 of the patterns OL recovering and remyelination were seen (those patterns are more present in RRMS and SPMS), in the last two patterns there is a lack of OL differentiation and remyelination was not seen, it was mostly seen in the center of the lesions analyzed (those patterns are more present in PPMS) (Lucchinetti et al., 1999)

There are more than ten therapies for PwMS, however there is heterogeneity in the response to those treatments. These responses depend on the activity of the diseases (Hauser & Cree, 2020), but also on patients' individuality (Buck & Hemmer, 2011). This heterogeneity in treatment responses could be caused by the inter-individual differences in the immune system (Pradeu, 2019).

There is a high variability in the remyelination capacity of MS patients (Bodini et al., 2016). Some PwMS have a high capacity to regenerate myelin (Figure 19B) whereas others have a low capacity of remyelination (Figure 19A). Interestingly, this capacity to regenerate myelin is correlated with disability, people who have a better capacity to remyelinate have less disabilities (Bodini et al., 2016). Enhancing remyelination in MS patients would have beneficial outcomes. However, it is not that simple, different mechanisms can lead to remyelination failure, such as diminution of OPCs pool, default in the recruitment of OPCs (Boyd et al., 2013), default of OPCs differentiation (Kuhlmann et al., 2008; Sim et al., 2002), and the inflammatory environment (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017; Miron et al., 2013).



*Figure 19: Remyelination is heterogenous. Visualization of remyelination (in blue) and demyelination (in red) in two patients with MS. (A) Patients presenting low capacity of remyelination and (B) Patients with high capacity of remyelination.* (Bodini et al., 2016)

In research, we strive for highly replicable models, often leading to homogenized results. However, as mentioned above, MS pathology is highly heterogeneous, which challenges the validity of using homogeneous models. To address the variability among MS

patients, new models must be developed. Consequently, a new model of demyelination and remyelination has been introduced (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017).

To be able to study the demyelination and remyelination processes in a context closer to PwMS, our team developed a new humanized model (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). To obtain this new model, LPC-induced demyelination is associated with MS lymphocytes' graft in the site of the demyelinating lesion. Lymphocytes from MS patients and matched healthy donors (HD) are isolated from fresh blood and activated *in vitro* for 72 hours using anti-CD2/anti-CD3/anti-CD28 bead-conjugated antibodies. At the same time, Nude NMRI (RjOrl: NMRI-Foxn1<sup>nu/</sup>Foxn1<sup>nu</sup>) mice undergo injection of 1µL of 1% LPC in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord to induce demyelination. Two days after the LPC injection, activated lymphocytes are grafted into the lesion site (Figure 20) (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). Nude NMRI mice are used because they are athymic and lack an adaptive immune system, preventing the rejection of the grafted human lymphocytes.



Figure 20: Experimental design of the humanized mice model of demyelination and remyelination. Lymphocytes from HD and MS patients are isolated and activated in vitro using anti-CD2/anti-CD3/anti-CD28 bead-conjugated antibodies, while LPC induced demyelination is performed in Nude NMRI mice and two days after the demyelination lymphocytes are graft into the demyelinating lesion. Methods from (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). Created with Biorender.

Using this new model, they demonstrated that three weeks after the lymphocyte graft, lymphocytes from healthy donors (HD) and some MS patients (referred to as MS High) did not disrupt the remyelination process. Electron microscopy revealed remyelinated axons by oligodendrocytes (Figure 21A, in red) or by Schwann cells (Figure 21A, in blue). In contrast, lymphocytes from other MS patients (referred to as MS Low) impeded the remyelination process (Figure 21B), as electron microscopy showed macrophages with vacuoles (Figure 21B, in green). This decrease in remyelination in the MS Low group was attributed to a lack of OPC differentiation compared to the HD and MS High groups.



Figure 21: Some MS patients lymphocytes impede the remyelination process. Electron microscopy images of (A) normal remyelination as seen in HD and MS high grafted mice, we can observe remyelinated axons by OL (in red) or Schwann cells (in blue) or (B) impaired remyelination and inflammation as seen in MS low grafted mice, We can see the presence of macrophages (in green).

Next, they conducted in vitro experiments using the supernatant of activated human lymphocytes. They found that human lymphocytes did not directly affect OPCs; instead, the effect was mediated by the activation of microglial cells. Lymphocytes from MS patients induced a pro-inflammatory phenotype in mouse microglial cells. The supernatant from MS patients' lymphocytes activated the microglial cells, which in turn decreased OPC differentiation. This effect was mediated by the chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 19. (CCL19) (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017).

To resume, this humanized model combines the demyelination/remyelination LPC model with the graft of human lymphocytes to assess these processes in a context similar to

MS. First this model recreates the heterogeneity of remyelination capacity seen in PwMS (Bodini et al., 2016). In addition, the discovery of CCL19 chemokine being involved in the blockage of OL differentiation proves that this model can also be used to assess potential therapeutic targets.

Model	Application	Negative aspects
EAE	Neuroinflammation and immune cell activation	Lesion appearance is random demyelination and remyelination happens at the same time
TMEV	Axonal damage, secondary induced demyelination	Secondary demyelination pathology, it is primary demyelination in MS
Cuprizone	Demyelination and remyelination	Do not involve auto-immunity remyelination is highly effective
LPC	Demyelination and remyelination	Do not involve auto-immunity remyelination is highly effective
Humanized LPC	Demyelination and remyelination	Human TCR, BCR and mouse MHC are not compatible

Table 1: MS animal models, application and negative aspects.

## **D.** Silent progression

Currently, there is no cure for MS. However, effective therapies for the relapsing phase of MS have been developed. Globally, the treatment for MS improved the quality of life of PwMS. Treatments are able to prevent relapses, new MRI lesions, but do not affect the progression of the disease. These treatments are called disease-modifying treatment (DMT) and target the peripheral inflammatory part of the disease (Hauser & Cree, 2020) (Figure 21). In this section, I will discuss DMTs and disease progression.

## **1.** Disease modifying treatment (DMT)

For RRMS, the first treatments developed in the early 1990s were injections of IFN- $\beta$  and the use of Glatiramer Acetate (GA). Both therapies have immunomodulatory and antiinflammatory effects, offering similar efficacy, such as reducing the annual relapse rate, and they rarely cause serious side effects. Dimethyl fumarate and Diroximel fumarate are other immunomodulatory drugs used in RRMS treatment; both are metabolized into mono-methyl fumarate, which activates nuclear factors with anti-inflammatory properties (Linker & Haghikia, 2016) (Figure 22B). Another treatment, Teriflunomide, works by inhibiting the proliferation of activated lymphocytes.

In the past years, the development of antibody-based therapy for the treatment of MS led to more efficient drugs. For example, Natalizumab is directed against the adhesion molecule  $\alpha$ 4-integrin that is used by T cells to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) (Figure 22C). Therefore, activated T cells will not be able to enter the CNS, this led to efficient reduction of relapses rate and disability progression. Ocrelizumab is another antibody, directed against B cells, this treatment is also highly effective (Figure 22A).

However, with this highly effective treatment, more severe side effects are seen. For example, PwMS under Natalizumab treatment have the risk to develop progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), PML is a rare condition and fatal in 30% of people.

For progressive MS, fewer treatments are available. In secondary progressive MS (SPMS), therapies include a sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) modulator for active disease (Figure 22A), as well as Ocrelizumab. For primary progressive MS (PPMS), Ocrelizumab is

the only approved treatment. This medication has been shown to improve both clinical and MRI markers of inflammation and degeneration and also to slow the progression of clinical disability in patients with PPMS (Montalban et al., 2017; Riederer, 2017)



Figure 22: Disease modifying treatment of MS. DMTs target the peripheric cells of the immune system. S1P modulators inhibit the egression of LY from lymph nodes. Teriflunomide, Cladribine, Alemtuzummab and Mitoxantrone stop the expansion of LY. Fumarates, Interferon and glatiramer acetate induce anti-inflammatory effects. Natalizumab inhibits the entry of LY in the brain parenchyma. Created with Biorender

DMTs in MS primarily target the peripheral immune system, specifically the immune cells involved in the disease's inflammatory processes. By modulating the activity of these immune cells, DMTs can reduce the occurrence of new inflammatory lesions in the CNS, which are visible on MRI scans. This reduction in new lesions correlates with a decrease in the frequency of clinical relapses, or flare-ups, which are periods when symptoms worsen, or new symptoms appear.

The prevention of new lesions and relapses through DMTs helps to manage the disease's activity and is referred to as relapse-associated worsening (RAW). RAW represents the part of MS progression that is directly linked to inflammatory events, such as relapses. By controlling RAW, DMTs not only improve immediate clinical outcomes but also contribute to a slower accumulation of neurological disability over time. However, it is important to note that while DMTs are effective in managing the inflammatory component of MS, they may not fully address the neurodegenerative aspects of the disease, which can continue to progress independently of relapse activity.

## 2. *In vivo* imaging of lesions and activity

Post-mortem analysis have been greatly useful to characterize the different types of MS lesions, however, these histological analyses are a snapshot at one moment. MRI imaging is a crucial tool in diagnosing and monitoring MS. It allows for the visualization of MS lesions in the brain and spinal cord, which appear as areas of inflammation, demyelination, and neurodegeneration. T2-weighted MRI scans typically reveal these lesions as hyperintense areas, while T1-weighted scans can show hypointense "black holes," indicating more severe tissue damage. Gadolinium enhancement on MRI can help differentiate between active and inactive lesions, with active lesions showing contrast enhancement due to blood-brain barrier disruption. More recently, to assess the evolution of lesions, new MRI technologies are now able to detect smoldering lesions *in vivo* in PwMS, and therefore follow their evolution as well as inflammation *in vivo*.

By combining MRI and positron emission tomography (PET) imaging, using a myelin marker, the Pittsburg compound B ([11C] PiB), remyelination that was previously assess through luxol fast blue satining (Figure 23A), can now be visualized *in vivo* in humans (Figure 23B). Two PET-MRI scans are taken at two different times and the images are compared. The first image (Figure 23B1) is the baseline showing the extent of demyelination, and the second images (taken three months after the baseline image) show the area of demyelination (Figure 23B2; red) or remyelination (Figure 23B2; blue). This technique allows the study of the dynamic of demyelination and remyelination. Interestingly, there is a negative correlation between remyelination capacity and motor disability progression (established with the EDSS) (Bodini et al., 2016), these prove in humans that remyelination is also beneficial (Bodini et al., 2016).



*Figure 23: Remyelination in human.* (A) Post-mortem myelin observation. Developmental myelin appears dark blue. Green arrows: White areas, corresponding to demyelinated areas; red arrows: light blue areas corresponding to newly-formed myelin, and therefore less dense. from: (Adams 1989). (B) In vivo imaging of myelin. B1: Baseline myelin; B2: Longitudinal follow-up of the same patient 3 months after acquisition of B1. Demyelinated areas (in red) and remyelinated areas (in blue) are shown. From (Bodini et al., 2016).

Two markers of smoldering lesions have been described, the first is the paramagnetic rim lesion (PRL) (Figure 24) (Absinta et al., 2019; Lou et al., 2021; Maggi et al., 2020; Martire et al., 2022). Using susceptibility-based MRI, some lesions have paramagnetic rims (Figure 24; lesions magnified view in insets arrows). PRL has been demonstrated to be specific to smoldering lesions in PwMS (Absinta et al., 2021; Maggi et al., 2020). This paramagnetic rim is due to an accumulation of iron-loaded microglia in the border of smoldering lesions (Absinta et al., 2021).



a. In vivo chronic active MS lesions with MRI paramagnetic rims (PRL)

Figure 24: PRL detection using 7T MRI. Susceptibility-based axial MRI at three levels showing the chronic active MS lesions with paramagnetic rims (magnified view in the insets, arrows) Scale bar = 10 mm. From: (Absinta et al., 2021).

The second MRI marker for identifying smoldering lesions is the slowly expanding lesion (SEL), which is detected through longitudinal deformation analysis of routinely acquired volumetric MRI scans in people with multiple sclerosis (PwMS) (Figure 25) (Calvi, Carrasco, et al., 2022; Calvi, Tur, et al., 2022; Preziosa et al., 2022). A baseline image is done (Figure 25A) and compared to an image done after (Figure 25B; 9 years between the two images), Deformation analysis is done to identify SEL (Figure 25C; SEL are shown in red, and non-SEL in blue). SELs have been associated with smoldering lesions (Dal-Bianco et al., 2017; Elliott et al., 2019). Notably, the presence of SELs can predict the transition from relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) to secondary progressive MS (SPMS) (Preziosa et al., 2022).



*Figure 25: SEL detection in PwMS (9 years follow-up).* (*A*) *Baseline T1-weighted MRI, arrow represent black-hole (B) Follow-up MRI, arrow represent black-hole (C) SEL identification of the black-hole* (Calvi, Tur, et al., 2022).

Both markers of smoldering lesions, PRL and SEL, are associated with disability in PwMS (Absinta et al., 2019; Blindenbacher et al., 2020; Calvi, Carrasco, et al., 2022).

The translocator protein (TSPO) is used as a PET marker to assess the extent of inflammation within the CNS (Figure 26). TSPO protein level is upregulated in activated glial cells, especially in microglia during CNS injury or disorders (E. J. Kim & Yu, 2015). PET-MRI scans using TSPO marker, show innate immune cell activation in healthy people (Figure 26A) and different activation in PwMS (Figure 26B-D). They can have a sparse (Figure 26B), intermediate (Figure 26C) or extensive (Figure 26D) immune cells activation (Bodini et al., 2015). They can also identify immune cells activation location within the lesion (Figure 26; in light red), in perilesional areas (Figure 26; in dark red), and in normal appearing white matter (Figure 26; yellow) (Bodini et al., 2020). When they looked at black hole lesions, a high

proportion of these lesions had an immune activation component, either homogeneously through the lesion or at the rim of the lesion (smoldering lesions). These results suggest that most lesions will develop a chronic inflammatory component, promoting neurodegeneration and clinical progression (Hamzaoui et al., 2023).



Figure 26: PET-MRI scans of immune cell activation. (A) Innate immune cells activation in healthy people (B) Sparse innate immune cell activation in MS patients (C) Intermediate innate immune cell activation in MS patients. (D) Extensive innate immune cell activation in MS patients. Lesional inactive voxels in patients are represented in white, whereas voxels characterized by significant activation of innate immune cells are displayed in yellow in normal appearing white matter, dark red in perilesional areas and in light red inside T2 lesions (Bodini et al., 2015). From (Bodini et al., 2020)

In the study mentioned above, published in 2023, they also looked for TSPO expression within different CNS cell populations. To do so, they used different SnRNA-seq datasets of human CNS (from: Absinta et al., 2021; Jäkel et al., 2019; Schirmer et al., 2019) (Figure 27A). Interestingly they saw that TSPO is mainly expressed by immune cells and astrocytes (Figure 26A-B), principally expressed by MIMS-iron and astrocytes inflamed in MS (AIMS) (Figure 27B) (Hamzaoui et al., 2023). Another study also identifies microglia and astrocytes as the main cells expressing TSPO (Nutma et al., 2019).

There is more and more evidence suggesting that macrophages and microglia have different roles and act at different times in the disease progression (Faissner et al., 2019; Healy et al., 2022; Woo et al., 2024). For example, a study has shown that infiltrating macrophages communicate with microglia to suppress their inflammation, in the context of spinal cord injury when this crosstalk is suppressed there is a worsening of symptoms (Greenhalgh et al., 2018). In addition, in another study they showed that microglia prevent the spreading of infiltrating macrophages (Plemel et al., 2020).



*Figure 27: TSPO expression in different ScRNA-seq.* showed that microglia is the main cell type expressing TSPO. (A) TSPO expression in the dataset of Absinta et al., 2021; Jäkel et al., 2019 and Schirmer et al., 2019. (B) Focus on the immune cells of Absinta et al., 2021. From: (Hamzaoui et al., 2023)

Now, with the new imaging techniques we are able to image *in vivo* in humans the smoldering lesions, and CNS inflammation and to follow their evolution. These new technologies allowed a better understanding of disease progression.

## 3. Disability accumulation

With the introduction of high-efficacy therapies, it was anticipated that PwMS would not experience disability progression (Figure 28; blue line: expected course). However, managing relapse-associated worsening (RAW) alone has proven insufficient to halt disease progression and the accumulation of disability. Even with treatment, patients have continued to experience silent progression (Figure 28; orange line: observed course) (Cree et al., 2019; Hauser & Cree, 2020; Kappos et al., 2020). This silent progression is known as progression independent of relapse activity (PIRA). PIRA is a significant factor in disease progression for PwMS, even during the early stages of MS pathology (Figure 28) (Cree et al., 2019; Hauser & Cree, 2020; Kappos et al., 2020).



*Figure 28: PIRA in MS.* Evolution of the EDSS through time. In blue: the expected evolution of disability, in orange: the observed evolution of disability, in green: the beginning of high-efficacy treatment. From: (Hauser & Cree, 2020).

PIRA are associated with non-enhancing lesions and black-hole detected on MRI scans (Woo et al., 2024). As mentioned above, the majority of black hole lesions have an inflammatory component (either homogeneous inflammatory or in the rim) (Hamzaoui et al., 2023). Even if there is no more infiltration by peripheral immune cells, there is inflammation in CNS. This inflammation is due to the activation of microglial cells. Activated microglial cells, within the CNS even in normal appearing white matter (Hamzaoui et al., 2023), is called widespread inflammation.

Taken together these data suggest that a first event will trigger infiltration of peripheral immune cells, inducing demyelination, appearance of a contrast-enhancing lesion, and activation of microglial cells. Once the acute inflammatory phase is over, the lesion can either remyelinate, or the lesions can turn into black hole (not remyelinated), but microglia are still activated (Hamzaoui et al., 2023) and some lymphocytes will stay in the CNS form perivascular and meningeal cuffs leading to compartmentalized inflammation (Machado-Santos et al., 2018; Magliozzi et al., 2023). This compartmentalized inflammation and widespread activated microglia are the cause of neurodegeneration (Woo et al., 2024). However, no current therapies target this part of the disease, and there are no models to study this phase. Therefore, developing new models mimicking PIRA, or part of PIRA are of high importance.

## E. A much-needed model

The classical model used to study demyelination/remyelination, such as the injection of various gliotoxic agents such as lysolecithin, ethidium bromide and bacterial endotoxins in central nervous system white matter tracts, improved our understanding of the different steps leading to remyelination ((Blakemore & Franklin, 2008). Nonetheless, because of the high regenerative potential observed in these models, there is a lack of chronic lesion model mimicking important features of MS also, none of the animal models recreates the heterogeneity of MS disease (Procaccini et al., 2015). With growing evidence that these chronic lesions are associated with PIRA, and a more severe disease, it is important to better understand how they are formed and developed. However, in the current model that allows us to study MS, none allow us the study of this type of lesion specifically. Therefore, it is important to develop a new model that will allow this kind of study.

## Aim of the project

We undertook an original approach to examine the neuro-oligo-immune interactions leading to remyelination failure or success in conditions closer to human pathological conditions. We established a new *in vivo* experimental paradigm to investigate how human MS lymphocytes influence remyelination (El Behi\*, Sanson \*et al., 2017). We show that 3 weeks after their grafting MS patient lymphocytes impede remyelination in vivo when grafted in demyelinated lesions of Nude mouse spinal cord. By deciphering the mechanism of remyelination failure in vitro, we found that MS lymphocytes induce a higher pro-inflammatory activation of mouse microglial cells compared to HD lymphocytes, this process leading to an early blocking of OPC differentiation. Moreover, we found that patients lymphocytes influenced differentially the remyelination process, some showing a beneficial (high patients) and some a deleterious effect (low patients) on the repair process, a pattern mimicking what is observed in MS patients (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017).

The aim of my thesis project is to investigate the long-term effects of MS lymphocytes graft in the demyelinating lesion of nude mice spinal cord. To evaluate the relevance of our new humanized animal model as a good model of chronic active lesion, we have 3 aims:

- 1. Firstly, evaluate how the evolution of the lesion influences different sensory motor skills and somatosensory conduction, by performing different behavioral tests and evoked somatosensory potential.
- 2. Secondly, evaluate the lesion volume and the extent of inflammation 3 months after the lymphocytes grafting by electron microscopy and immunohistochemistry.
- 3. Thirdly, establish the multicellular interaction driving remyelination or lesion development by single cell RNA sequencing.

This will help us decipher how do we transition from a focal demyelination to a widespread chronic demyelinated lesion.
## **RESULTS PART I**

### Multiple sclerosis patient's lymphocytes induce smoldering lesions in the mouse spinal cord.

O. Perrot<sup>1</sup>, M. Nordbeck<sup>1</sup>, C. Bachelin<sup>1</sup>, E. Cherchame<sup>1</sup>, A. Balcérac<sup>1</sup>, D. Akbar<sup>1</sup>, D. Roussel<sup>1</sup>, N. Sarrazin<sup>1</sup>, C. Louapre<sup>1</sup>, V. Zujovic<sup>1</sup>

Sorbonne université, Institut du Cerveau - Paris Brain Institute – ICM, Inserm, CNRS, APHP,
Hôpital Pitié Salpétrière Univ. Hosp., DMU Neuroscience 6, Paris, France



#### **Graphical abstract**

#### **Abbreviation:**

<u>CNS:</u> Central Nervous System; <u>EAE:</u> Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis; <u>HD:</u> Healthy donor; <u>LPC:</u> Lysophosphatidylcholine; <u>LY:</u> Lymphocytes; <u>MS:</u> Multiple Sclerosis; <u>NG:</u> Non-grafted; <u>OL:</u> Oligodendrocytes; <u>OPC:</u> Oligodendrocytes Precursors Cell; <u>PBMC:</u> Peripheral Blood Mononuclear cell; <u>PIRA:</u> Progression Independent of Relapse Activity; <u>PPMS:</u> Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis; <u>RAW:</u> Relapse Associated Worsening; <u>RRMS:</u> Relapsing Remitting Multiple Sclerosis; <u>SPMS:</u> Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis.

#### Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory and demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS). The disease is triggered by macrophages and lymphocytes (LY) invasion of the CNS that in concert with CNS microglial cells, destroy myelin sheaths and oligodendrocytes (OL). In the pathophysiology of MS, smoldering lesions—marked by an inactive center, poor remyelination, and a border rim of activated microglia—are a hallmark of severe disease and pose a significant risk for greater disability in patients.

To understand the generation and the development of these lesions, we establish a new humanized mouse model of MS lesion by grafting MS patients or healthy donors LY in a demyelinated lesion of the nude mouse spinal cord. Previously, we showed that MS patients LY impeded remyelination 3 weeks after the lesion/graft. Here, we evaluated the long-term effect three months after LY grafting. We observed, only in mice grafted with MS patient LY that human LY form perivascular cuffs and contact both the vascular wall and mouse immune cells. Interestingly, LY forming perivascular cuff is a feature of MS smoldering lesions. MS LY grafts impaired OL differentiation and remyelination and induced a persistent microglial activation causing a glial scar in the lesion center and persistent demyelination at the lesion rim corresponding to the inactive center and active border of smoldering lesions. Behavioral analysis showed ongoing deficits in mice grafted with MS LY, whereas the control groups (both non grafted mice and mice grafted with healthy donor LY) exhibited improvements. We also measured the somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP), since the ascending sensory fibers are located in the lesion area, to assess the physiological changes due to the persistence (or not) of the lesion. SSEP indicated slower speeds in MS LY grafted mice, correlating with fewer mature OL. These results suggest that we developed a unique model mimicking several aspects of smoldering like lesions.

This novel humanized mouse model of focal chronic demyelination and inflammation helps us comprehend how the shift from a focal demyelination to widespread demyelination and inflammation occurs.

#### Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune, neuro-inflammatory, and demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) (Compston & Coles, 2002) with different disease types. The most common form (85%), Relapsing/Remitting MS (RRMS) is characterized by relapse-associated worsening (RAW) with periods of neurologic symptoms followed by partial or complete recovery, and possible progression independent of relapse activity (PIRA) (Woo et al., 2024). The Secondary Progressive MS (SPMS), which can occur in RRMS patients and involves accumulating disability without remission phases, including both RAW and PIRA; and Primary Progressive MS (PPMS), which accounts for 15% of cases and features steady disability accumulation from onset, primarily driven by PIRA.

Disease progression and symptomatology has been associated with different cellular and molecular events including waves of inflammatory demyelinating episodes followed by remyelination attempts that would lead to the formation of lesions. The study of MS postmortem tissue led to the classification of different lesion type: (1) active lesions that present ongoing inflammation and demyelination, (2) inactive lesions that are demyelinated, with a glial scar and without active inflammation, and (3) "smoldering lesion" or mixed active/inactive lesion (Lucchinetti et al., 2000; Kuhlmann et al., 2017). These lesions are characterized by an inactive center (demyelinated, with glial scar and without active inflammation) and an active rim (ongoing inflammation and demyelination), with the presence of either iron-loaded or myelin-loaded microglia (Absinta et al., 2021). Active lesions are more detected in the early phases of RRMS and SPMS while smoldering lesions are more frequent in SPMS and PPMS (Frischer et al., 2015; Kuhlmann et al., 2017; Luchetti et al., 2018). The number of smoldering lesions is positively correlated with severity scores and lesion load, while being negatively correlated with the proportion of remyelinated lesions (Luchetti et al., 2018; Absinta et al., 2019). Furthermore, smoldering lesions are a hallmark of patients with severe disease and at risks of having higher disability (Absinta et al., 2019).

Classically, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is used as an animal model of MS (Procaccini et al., 2015). It helps decipher the autoimmune component of MS and it mimics the cyclical nature of RAW, characterized by episodes of neurological decline followed by periods of partial or complete recovery. This is crucial for understanding the triggers and recovery processes. Other animal models such as the injection of various gliotoxic

agents such as lysolecithin, ethidium bromide and bacterial endotoxins in CNS white matter tracts, as well as cuprizone ingestion, improved our understanding of the different steps leading to remyelination (Blakemore and Franklin, 2008). However few models recapitulate continuous and irreversible progression of PIRA, which is essential for understanding how and why the disease shifts from a relapsing-remitting phase to a progressive one. Indeed, the initial infiltration of peripheral immune cells into the CNS sets off a chain reaction involving microglial cells that impedes remyelination and perpetuates inflammation and demyelination. This central activation of glial cells is crucial to the gradual expansion of smoldering-like lesions, making it essential to understand their development.

To address this challenging question, we established a new in vivo experimental paradigm to investigate how human MS lymphocytes (LY) influence remyelination and demyelination. We demonstrate that three weeks after grafting, LY from MS patients hinders remyelination in vivo when grafted into demyelinated lesions of the Nude mouse spinal cord. By deciphering the mechanism of remyelination failure in vitro, we found that MS LY induce a higher pro-inflammatory activation of mouse microglial cells compared to healthy donor (HD) LY, this process leading to an early blocking of OPC differentiation. Moreover, we found that patients LY influenced differentially the remyelination process, some showing a beneficial (High Patients) and some a deleterious effect (Low patients) on the repair process, a pattern mimicking the heterogeneity of remyelination capacity observed in MS patients (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017).

In this study, we analyze the long-term effects of LY graft in demyelinating lesions of nude mice spinal cord. Our results show that mice grafted with MS patients LY present mixed active-inactive lesions that share several aspects of smoldering like lesions including: perivascular cuffs of human LY, an inactive scared tissue at it center, failed remyelination and presence at its border of myelin- or iron loaded microglial cells. The presence of these lesions in mice grafted with MS patients LY are correlated to behavioral deficits and slower axonal conduction reflecting the chronic nature of the lesion. Interestingly, we also replicate a range of effects depending on the MS patient from whom the LY were isolated, mirroring the heterogeneity observed in patients.

#### Material and methods

#### Standard Protocol Approvals, Registrations, and Patient Consents

Approval for human blood sampling was obtained from the French Ministry of research (NCT03369106) and written informed consent was obtained from each study participant. All animal protocols are performed in accordance with the guidelines published in the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, EU regulations (agreement n°A75-1319) and the local "Charles Darwin" ethics committee.

#### Patients and healthy donors

A total of 11 healty donor (HD) and 21 MS patients paired by age and sex are included in the study (see table 1 and suppl table 1 for details). All patients fulfill MS diagnostic criteria and individuals with any other inflammatory or neurological disorders are excluded from the study.

#### Collection and activation of patients and HD PBMCs and LY

Blood (80 ml) is collected in acid citrate dextrose tubes. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) are extracted on a Ficoll gradient plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences). Cells were washed in PBS (2x10 min at 1500 rpm) and RPMI 1640 + 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (5 min at 1500 rpm) (all products from ThermoFisher). CD14<sup>-</sup> lymphocytes are isolated by magnetic beads sorting and activated using the T cell Activation/Expansion kit, human (Miltenyi; 130-091-441), consisting in anti-CD2/anti-CD3/anti-CD28 bead-conjugated antibodies (at a density of 1 bead for 2 cells) in RPMI/10%SVF medium. After 72h of activation, cells are collected for the graft in RPMI medium.

#### LPC injection and LY graft

Eight weeks old female Nude (RjOrl: NMRI-Foxn1<sup>nu/</sup>Foxn1<sup>nu</sup>) mice are purchased from Janvier (France). Focal demyelination is performed as previously described (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). Briefly, Nude mice were anesthetized with a mix of ketamine (100mg/ml; Imalgene 1000) and Xylazine (10mg/ml; Paxman). A stereotaxic injection of 1 $\mu$ L of lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) 1% (Sigma) is performed in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord (between T9-T10). After 48h, 1 $\mu$ L of 100 000 activated LY are grafted in the lesion site. Ten mice are grafted per individual, and 10 mice per batch for the non grafted group (NG) undergo LPC injection only.

#### **Behavioral testing**

In order to assess the effect of LY grafting, we implemented three behavioral tests. Prior to testing, the animals undergo a familiarization phase of three trials/day for five days. This presurgery test established a baseline performance for comparison with post-surgery results. The mice are then retested with three trials for each test 1 week, 1 month, 2 months and 3 months after surgery.

The notched beam test allows us to assess mice motor coordination. The apparatus corresponds to a wooden beam one meter long and 8 mm wide, with a starting and ending plate of 80 mm and square slots: 17 mm deep, 17 mm wide and 17 mm long, spaced every 17 mm and 30cm high. For each test, the number of errors and the time of crossing are recorded.

The Grip test is a force measurement instrument for studying neuromuscular functions. The device allows the determination of the gram force of the front legs (using a bar) and the four legs (using a grid) of the mice. For each trial, the force in grams of the front legs and the four legs are recorded.

The rotarod allows us to evaluate sensorimotor coordination. Mice are placed on a rotating bar  $(2.5 \text{ cm } \emptyset)$  in the direction of rotation. The speed of rotation is initially set at 4 rpm and then gradually accelerated over 5 minutes until 40 rpm is reached. For each trial, the fall latency, and the speed at the time of the fall are recorded.

#### Somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP)

Since the lesion affects the dorsal part of the spinal cord, where the ascending somatosensory fibers are located, somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP) testing is performed three months post-grafting, prior to sacrificing the mice. Once the animal is secured on the predisinfected frame, electrodes will be attached. Stimuli (pulse 200  $\mu$ s, frequency 3.5 Hz) will be applied to the middle of the tibial nerve using single-use electrodes positioned on the hind paws. The SSEPs will be recorded from electrodes placed on the somatosensory cortex of the mouse. Additionally, a ground electrode will be placed subcutaneously above the cervical spinal cord (monopolar needle electrode Spesmedica, Ref: MN3512P150).

#### Perfusion and tissue processing

Mice are anesthetized with a mix of ketamine (100mg/ml; Imalgene 1000) and Xylazine (10mg/ml; Paxman). Euthanasia is performed after the assessment of SSEP with an overdose of pentobarbital (euthasol (150mg/kg). For immunohistochemistry (IHC), mice are perfused intracardially with a solution of PBS 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA), for electron microscopy (EM) mice are perfused with 4% PFA, 5% glutaraldehyde. Spinal cords were removed and post-fixed for 1h for IHC and EM and 2-3h for clearing. For IHC, tissues were cryoprotected overnight in a 20% sucrose solution, frozen in cooled isopentane and cryosected longitudinally (12-µm slices).

For clearing spinal cord are kept in PBS with sodium azide to avoid bacterial contamination until the clearing process.

For EM, spinal cords were cut into 1 mm sections and contrasted first with 2% osmium tetroxide and with 5% uranyl acetate before several steps of dehydration. Spinal cord sections were embedded in EponTM before being cut into semithin and ultrathin sections for analysis.

For single cell analysis, mice are euthanized by CO2. Then the lesioned area of the spinal cord (1cm) is extracted, and mechanical dissociation and enzymatic dissociation (Papain at 37°C) are performed. Cells are collected after a Percoll gradient and processed with the 10x genomics technology.

#### Immunohistochemistry and clearing

Tissues are permeabilized, saturated and stained with antibodies described in supplementary table 2. All primary antibodies are incubated overnight at 4°C, secondary antibodies 1h at room temperature. Nuclei are counterstained with Hoechst (Sigma, 33342).

For clarification, tissues are dehydrated, bleached and rehydrated before staining. Tissues are incubated in primary antibody for 5 days at 37°C, wash multiple time a day and incubate with secondary antibody for 5 days at 37°C. Tissues are cleared in Rapiclear<sup>®</sup> (solution overnight at 4°C, nuclei counterstained with Dapi dilactate (Sigma, D9564) and spinal cord are imaged with a confocal microscope ().

#### Single cell RNA sequencing analysis

XenoCell tool (v1.0) was used to classify reads barcodes between graft-specific (hg38) and host-specific (mm39) cells. Less than 30K barcodes was identified as graft for samples MS

and CTR (21K and 29K, respectively). Nearly 1M barcodes was assigned to host for samples MS and CTR (948K and 1.3M, respectively). The Cell Ranger Single-cell Software suite (6.1.2) was used to process the data. Count function was used on each GEM well that was demultiplexed by mkfastq to generate gene-cell matrices. FASTQ files are aligned on the mm39 reference genome. Then, filtered\_feature\_bc\_matrix output was loaded into Seurat bioconductor package v4.3.0 to filter the datasets and identify cell types using R v4.2.2. Genes expressed in at least 2 cells and cells with at least 50 features were retained for further analysis. To remove likely dead or multiplet cells from downstream analyses, cells were discarded when they had less than 100 UMIs (Unique Molecular Identifiers), greater than 40 000 UMIs, or expressed over 8% mitochondrial genes. All samples were merged together for downstream analysis. As no batch effects were observed among the four samples, no integration step was performed. Gene expression matrix was normalized using the negative binomial regression method implemented in the Seurat NormalizeData() function, via selection of the top 2000 variable genes and regressed out the mitochondrion expression percentage. The final dataset was composed of 17515 genes and 2113 cells. To cluster cells, we computed a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) on scaled variable genes, as determined above, using Seurat's RunPCA function, and visualized it by computing a Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection (UMAP) using Seurat's RunUMAP function on the top 31 PCs. We also computed the k-nearest neighbor graph on the top 31 PCs, using Seurat's FindNeighbors function with default parameters, and in turn used Seurat's FindClusters function with varying resolution values with the Louvain algorithm. We chose a final value of 0.8 for the resolution parameter at this stage of clustering. Clusters were assigned preliminary identities based on expression of combinations of known marker genes for major cell types. The Seurat's Clustifyr function was used to refine the annotation with CellMarker database (Zhang et al., 2019) and the mouse brain dataset from Ximerakis et., al, 2019. The FindAllMarkers function with the default parameters (min.LogFC = 0.25, min.pct = 0.25, test.use = Wilcox) was used to identify differentially expressed genes for one cluster compare to the others. Functional enrichment analysis were done with clusterProfiler (v4.0.5) bioconductor package on the differentially deregulated genes with over-representation analysis (enricher function) on all the genes. The FindMarkers function with parameters min.LogFC = 0.25, min.pct = 0.1, test.use = Wilcox was used to identify differentially expressed genes for comparing the two samples in each cluster.

#### **Biostatistical analysis**

Statistical tests were run by Prism GraphPad software (GraphPad Prism version 8.00 for Windows). For behavioral data analysis, two-way ANOVA test was performed followed by a Tukey post-hoc test. For the analysis of histological data (EM and IHC) and SSEP, Kruskal-wallis test was performed. The significance level was set at 0.05.

To evaluate the inter-individual variability among donors, we calculated Z-scores. A Zscore, or standard score, represents the distance of a value from the population mean. We computed the Z-scores for each donor (both HD and MS) for conduction speed, the percentage of mature oligodendrocytes, and the number of myeloid cells containing myelin or iron.

#### Results

#### MS patient's LY form perivascular cuff.

We clarified the spinal cord of grafted mice to detect the presence or absence of human LY (HLA, red) and their localization in the vicinity of blood vessels (CollagenIV, white) or mouse myeloid cells (mix F4/80; CD11b; CD68, green) (Figure 1A-D, Supplementary video 1 and 2). We do not detect human LY in HD grafted mice (Figure 1A;C), but we detect human MS patient LY (Figure 1B;D;G, HLA red) in the perivascular area (Figure 1B;D;G, Collagen IV in white, arrows). Interestingly, the 3D reconstruction enables us to observe these LY perivascular cuffs and the accumulation of murine myeloid cells in close contact with these human cells (Figure 1D;G; mix F4/80; CD11b; CD68, green, arrows). This location of MS patients LY around blood vessels was further confirmed by EM (Figure 1E-F). These observations confirm that after 3 months MS patients LY interact with mouse immune cells and might be implicated in the persistence of inflammation and a deleterious environment impeding the remyelination process.

#### MS patient's LY induce scar formation and decrease remyelination.

Since our previous results after 3 weeks showed already a perturbed remyelination in mice grafted with MS patient LY, we assessed the evolution of remyelinated and scarred areas by electron microscopy between 3 weeks and 3 months post-graft in NG, HD, and MS grafted mice (Sup Fig 1A-I,). While no differences were observed in NG and HD mice, MS grafted mice showed a decrease in remyelinated area and an increase in glial scar area, along with a shift from macrophages to microglia over time, indicating a progression from peripheral attack to CNS dysregulation (Sup Fig 1G;H;I, macrophages in blue). These observations, while not statistically significant, are informative because they were made in different mice, all grafted with LY from the same individual.

Next, we focus on 3 months time point following NG mice (Figure 2A, D, G, J; 7 mice), mice grafted with HD LY (figure 2B, E, H, K; 6 HD, 3 to 5 mice per individual) or mice grafted with MS LY (Figure 2C, F, I, L; 8 MS patients, 3 to 4 mice per individual). We observe that remyelination was complete in NG mice (Figure 2A, D) and HD LY grafted mice (Figure 2B, E) as illustrated by the presence of axons remyelinated either by oligodendrocytes (OL) (Fig 2J,K, green) or schwann cells (Fig 2 J, K, blue). However, in MS patient LY-grafted mice, we observe sustained demyelination with the formation of a glial scar at the center of the lesion

(Figure 2C, F, I). At the lesion's border, there were some remyelinated axons (Figure 2I, L, blue, by Schwann cells), but predominantly unmyelinated axons (Figure 2I, L, yellow). Quantification of the remyelinated and scar areas confirmed a lower percentage of remyelinated area in MS LY-grafted mice compared to NG (Figure 2M; p<0.01) and HD (Figure 2M; p<0.05) LY-grafted mice, and a higher glial scar area in MS LY-grafted mice compared to NG (Figure 2N; p<0.01) and HD (Figure 2N; p<0.05) LY-grafted mice. These data demonstrate that MS patient LY induces the formation of a glial scar and impedes the remyelination process.

Next to assess if this decrease in remyelination was due to a lack of OPCs recruitment or differentiation, we evaluated the density of OPCs (Olig2+ cells in red) and the percentage of mature OL (Olig2+CC1+ in red and in green) at the border of the lesion (0 $\mu$ m to 200 $\mu$ m) in NG (Sup Fig 2 A, D; 14 mice), HD LY (Sup Fig 2 B, E, 5 HD, 3 to 5 mice per individual) or MS LY grafted mice (Sup Fig 2 C, F, 11 MS patients, 3 to 4 mice per individual). While we see no difference in the number of Olig2<sup>+</sup> cells/mm<sup>2</sup> between the three groups (Sup Fig 2G; p>0,05) we see a diminution of the percentage of Olig2<sup>+</sup>CC1<sup>+</sup> cells/Olig2<sup>+</sup> cells in MS grafted mice compared to NG and HD grafted mice (Sup Fig 2H; p<0.001and p<0.0001 respectively). These results demonstrate that while MS LY did not perturb the recruitment of OPCs, they impede the differentiation of OL.

# Enhanced Myeloid Cell Activity and Demyelination at the Lesion Rim in Mice Grafted with MS patient LY

To evaluate the impact of LY grafting beyond the lesion graft area, we studied the myeloid cells in the normal appearing white matter at the rim of the lesion. To do so, we performed immunohistochemistry on the spinal cord using a mix of antibody F4/80-CD11b-CD68 antibodies to label myeloid cells (Figure 3, red); MOG antibody to label myelin (Figure 3, green) and assess the iron load with ferritin light chain antibody (FTL) (Figure 3, white). In MS grafted mice (Figure 3C, D, I) there are more myeloid cells in the border of the lesion compared to NG (Figure 3K; p<0,0001) and HD grafted mice (Figure 3K; p<0,0001). While we see that myeloid cells in HD are mostly empty (Figure 3B; I) in MS grafted mice they are either full of myelin (Figure 3E; J, p<0.0001) and HD grafted mice (Figure 3E; J, p<0.01; p<0.0001). Interestingly there is also more myeloid cells loaded with myelin (Figure 3L) and iron (Figure 3M) per mm<sup>2</sup> in MS grafted compared to NG (Figure 3L; M; p<0,0001) and HD

(Figure 3L; M; p<0,0001) grafted mice. These data demonstrate that in the border of MS patient LY grafted mice there is sign of ongoing demyelination with an active border of the lesion.

# Longitudinal Behavioral Analysis Reveals Impaired Recovery in Mice Grafted with MS patient LY

Next, we monitored lesion evolution through a longitudinal follow-up of mice sensory motor skills with behavioral tests at different time points in the 3 group of mice (Figure 4, NG mice grey, HD LY grafted mice orange, MS patient LY grafted mice purple). We set up a baseline the week before the surgery and then tested the mice 1 week; 1 month; 2 months and 3 months after the surgery. For the notched beam test (Figure 4A), there was no significant difference in the time to cross the notched beam at all time points (Supplementary Figure 3C; p>0,05) but we show that 1 week after the graft all the groups make significantly more errors compared to before surgery (Figure 4A). While NG, and HD grafted mice recover and even perform better than before the surgery, MS grafted mice continue to make more errors compared to NG (Figure 4A; p<0,0001) and HD grafted mice (Figure 4A; p<0,0001), and compared to before surgery and 3 months after (Figure 4A). At the grip test (Figure 4B), we do not see difference in the strength of all limb (Supplementary Figure 3D; p>0,05) but MS LY grafted mice have less front limb strength at 1; 2 and 3 months after the graft compared to NG (Figure 4B, p<0,0001) and HD grafted mice (Figure 4B, p<0,01; p<0,0001). NG and HD grafted mice recover and gain in strength, while MS grafted mice keep having a lower front limb strength. These results show that MS grafted mice do not recover after the induction of the lesion.

Since the demyelinating lesion is induced in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord where all the sensory fibers are, we measured the somatosensory evoked potential by recording the response delay of the somatosensory cortex to a hindpaw stimulation (Figure 4C). An example of the typical response in NG, HD, and MS grafted mice illustrates the delayed response seen in MS grafted mice (Figure 4E left panel). This delay was confirmed across all mice, as shown in the graph summarizing the mean conduction speeds for the three groups with a significant difference when compared to NG mice (Figure 4E right panel, p<0,05) and HD grafted mice (Figure 4E right panel, p<0,001).

#### **Correlations Among Physiological, Behavioral, and Histological Findings**

Next, we examined correlations between physiological, behavioral, and histological findings. We found that conduction speed positively correlated with front limb strength (Figure 4E; r=0.33; p<0.01) and negatively correlated with the number of errors (Figure 4E; r=-0.35; p<0.01). Additionally, the number of errors and front limb strength were negatively correlated (Figure 4E; r=-0.57; p<0.0001). Conduction speed was positively correlated with the percentage of mature OL (Figure 4F; r=0.74; p<0.01) and negatively correlated with myeloid cells loaded with myelin (Figure 6B; r=-0.45; p<0.01) or iron (Figure 4F; r=-0.46; p<0.01). The percentage of myelin loaded myeloid cells was positively correlated with those iron loaded cells (Figure 4F; r=0.57; p<0.0001). These results indicate that mice with lower conduction speed have poorer behavioral performance, fewer mature OL, and more loaded myeloid cells, suggesting a correlation between behavioral, physiological, and histological assessments, with poor performance linked to mixed active/inactive lesion features.

## Assessing the Impact of Individual Donor LY on Graft Outcomes Reveals Patient-Specific Variability

So far, all the data have been presented regardless of the blood donors. We wanted to evaluate how LY of the individual donor might differently impact the outcomes of the graft. To do this, we calculated a Z-score for each individual for conduction speed, percentage of mature OL, and percentage of myeloid cells filled with either myelin or iron to track outcomes (Figure 5). High conduction speed and a high percentage of OL, along with a low percentage of myeloid cells filled with myelin or iron, were considered a good outcome, shown in blue on the heatmap (Figure 5). Conversely, the opposite was considered a bad outcome, shown in red (Figure 5). We observed that all HD belong consistently to the good outcome group while MS patients exhibit heterogeneous effects. Some MS patient LY induced poor outcomes, while others did not disrupt the regeneration process and had good outcomes. At 3 months after the graft, the model recreates the heterogeneity seen in patients with MS.

# Presence of Microglia inflamed in MS (MIMS) signature with a dysregulation of complement activation

To better understand the molecular changes occurring in the different cell population, we performed single cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) on mice grafted with MS LY (MS), and age matched control nude mice (WT) (Figure 6). UMAP analysis was used to separate cell populations, each cell population being defined by a specific gene signature (ximerakis database) (Figure 6A) with different CNS cell populations including cells of the OL lineage and microglial cells. Interestingly, microglial cells and OL are the two main cell populations impacted by MS LY graft since most of the differentially expressed genes between MS and control mice were identified in these two subpopulations of cells (data not shown). Focusing on the myeloid cell compartment, 4 subset of cells were identified: homeostatic like microglia (hom-MG), microglia with pro regenerative features (M2-MG) and monocyte macrophages (MONO-MAC) as well as a subset Microglia inflamed in MS (MIMS) only detected in MS patient LY grafted mice (Figure 6B, MIMS); each subset with specific marker genes (Figure 8C). We have an upregulation of genes involved in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (such as H2-DA; H2-K1 and B2m) and genes involved in the complement (such as Clqa; Clqb and Clqc) in the myeloid cells of MS LY grafted mice compared to WT mice (Figure 6D). Interestingly, the complement gene upregulated in our dataset C1q (Figure 6E) is increased in active MS lesion edges and is a critical activator and marker of MIMS. Next we performed immunohistochemistry of C1q in HD and MS LY grafted mice (Figure 6F). C1q is detectable in MS LY grafted mice in the area of demyelination and not in HD grafted mice. These results show that in MS grafted mice microglia are activated and express more C1q genes, suggesting on going demyelination.

#### Discussion

Animal models of MS present unique opportunities for studying various aspects of the disease. The EAE model, for instance, allows for the examination of inflammatory processes related to lesion formation, despite the random dispersion and timing of lesions which can add complexity to understanding myelin regeneration and lesion development (Procaccini et al., 2015). Meanwhile, the LPC model has been instrumental in reconstructing the steps leading to remyelination within a minimally inflammatory environment. Recently, we were able to combine a focal demyelination and the inflammatory component of MS by grafting human LY in LPC induced demyelinated lesions (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). Three weeks after the graft, LY from some MS patients prevent remyelination, whereas LY from HD or other MS patients do not interfere with this self repair process (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). This model helps us establish the key factors determining the success or failure of remyelination and, more importantly, raises questions about the future outcomes of these demyelinated lesions. Here we observe, three months after the graft, the formation of a lesion with shared features of MS smoldering lesions. The common features between our model and the human mixed active/inactive lesion include an inactive center with a glial scar and an active border (Kuhlmann et al., 2017). The active border consists of iron- or myelin-loaded myeloid cells, similar to those observed in MS (Kuhlmann et al., 2017; Absinta et al., 2021). We also observe that MS patients LY localize in the perivascular space, which is characteristic of smoldering lesions (Absinta et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018; Fransen et al., 2020; Frieser et al., 2022). We also recreates some of the heterogeneity seen in MS patients (Bodini et al., 2016).

This model provides a unique insight into how human lymphocytes, even when injected directly into the parenchyma, remain confined to perivascular spaces for a period ranging from 3 weeks (El Behi et al.) to 3 months post-graft. Healthy donor lymphocytes were initially present 3 weeks after grafting but were no longer detectable at 3 months. In contrast, human lymphocytes persist only in mice grafted with lymphocytes from MS patients, indicating that specific signals are necessary to retain pathological lymphocytes within the tissue. Notably, MS lymphocytes grafted directly without a prior lesion do not persist in the parenchyma (data not shown), suggesting that both the appropriate pathological cells and a lesioned environment are required for the formation of these cuffs.

The formation of cuffs in the perivascular or meningeal spaces in MS patients has been linked to poorer clinical outcomes (Magliozzi et al., 2023). These cuffs are believed to consist

of invading T and B cells, which differentiate into tissue-resident memory cells TRM (Machado-Santos et al., 2018; Smolder et al., 2018; Hsiao et al., 2021; Absinta et al., 2021). These memory cells secrete various factors that activate the surrounding glial cells, including microglia and astrocytes. The activation of glial cells contributes to a chronic inflammatory environment, exacerbating tissue damage and inhibiting the repair processes, thus leading to a progressive worsening of the disease (Woo et al., 2024). In our model, the presence of these lymphocyte perivascular cuffs results in not only an impediment to remyelination but also ongoing demyelination, as evidenced by the increasing lesion load from 3 weeks to 3 months. This unique characteristic of active demyelination even 3 months after the initial chemical induction indicates a shift from focal demyelination to a continuous, slowly expanding demyelination. Even more compelling is the observation that, while macrophages appear to be the major players in the acute phase of demyelination at 3 weeks, CNS resident microglial cells seem to take over by 3 months. In our mouse model, we do detect a unique subset of microglial cells that were identified in the rim of smoldering lesions in human post mortem tissue (Absinta et al. 2021), the MIMS. MIMS upregulate complement genes (C1q). C1q expression is associated with demyelinated areas in MS postmortem tissue (Lucchinnetti et al., 2000; Prineas et al., 2001; Breij et al., 2008) and also in our model. In addition, smoldering lesions, active lesions and normal appearing white matter are positive for complement proteins, regulators and activation products (Ingram et al., 2014). However, following our single cell analysis, the proinflammatory profile of MIMS is not that clear since we observe a downregulation of some genes involved in the induction of pro-inflammatory phenotype (such as: Akirin2; Ppp2r5a; S100a4; S100a6 and Ifitm6). MIMS have lower expression of homeostasis genes and also have upregulation of lipid metabolism genes (such as Lpl). Interestingly this association between a downregulation of homeostatic genes, upregulation of pro-inflammatory and lipid metabolism genes have been described in disease associated microglia (DAM) cells in Alzheimer disease (Keren-Shaul et al., 2017). Our data suggest that our MIMS could be DAM. Interestingly, DAM cells have been described in the EAE and cuprizone models (Barclay et al., 2024).

With this unique model, we will be able to decipher the steps and mechanisms leading to a transition from a peripheral inflammation to a chronic compartmentalized inflammation of the CNS. This compartmentalized inflammation is part of the PIRA mechanism, therefore we could identify and test potential therapeutic molecules on these inflammation driving progression in MS patients that is a critical unmet need. Additionally, we have behavioral and physiological readouts that enable us to study the evolution of the lesions non-invasively. Notably, the physiological readouts correlate with histopathological findings, making them valuable for assessing potential drug effects.

#### Limitation of the study:

The use of the clearing method and three-dimensional imaging enable us to detect human LY three months after the graft in MS LY grafted mice. However, the clearing method does not allow the use of all antibodies due to high tissue processing (such as high permeabilization), in addition, with the few numbers of LY still present, we were not able to detect them on classical immunohistochemistry experiments. Due to this limitation, we cannot conclude on which subtypes of LY are the drivers of the development of smoldering lesions. To assess which subtypes of LY are necessary for the development of these lesions we could graft different subtypes of LY from one MS patient that we know to induce smoldering lesions. However, we hypothesize that these LY still present are  $T_{RM}$  cells since they are still present in the tissue even three months after the graft. Then, in our model, LY are found in perivascular space,  $T_{RM}$  are found in perivascular spaces of activated and smoldering lesions and have been implicated in the compartmentalized inflammation.

#### **Figures:**



Figure 1: Human LY from MS patients, still present 3 months after the graft, form perivascular cuff and are in close contact with mouse myeloid cells. (A-D) Three-dimensional confocal image of mice grafted with (A;C) HD LY or mice grafted with (B;D) MS LY. Spinal cords are cleared using a modified iDISCO/RapiClear protocol. Scale bar:  $50\mu$ m. (A) 3D image of HD grafted mice, (C) Zoom in the 3D confocal images. We do not observe LY in HD grafted mice, and we observe few mice myeloid cells (in green). (B) 3D image of MS grafted mice, (D) Zoom in the 3D confocal images. We observe MS LY (in red) close to mouse myeloid cells (in green) and around blood vessels (in white), interaction with mouse myeloid cells (arrowhead) and LY are found in perivascular space close to blood vessels (arrow). Scale bar:  $20\mu$ m (E-F) Semi thin section of a mice grafted with MS LY. We observed LY around blood vessels. Scale bar:  $10\mu$ m



Figure 2: MS patients LY graft induce the installation of a chronic demyelinated lesion with scaring tissue. (A-C) Semi thin section of the dorsal horn of spinal cord of Nude mice after the lesion of (A) NG mice, (n=6 mice); (B) and the grafting of HD LY (n=6 HD with 2-3 mice per individual); (C) and MS patient LY (n=14 MS patients with 2-4 mice per individual) 3 months after the surgery. (D-F) Zoom inside the lesion of (D) NG mice, and mice grafted with (E) HD LY or (F) MS patient LY. (G-1) Lesion center of (G) NG mice and (H) HD LY grafted mice with remyelinated axons, and (I) MS mice exhibiting a glial scar. (J-L) Ultrathin sections visualization of lesion border of (J) NG mice and (I) HD LY grafted mice where we observe remyelinated (blue by OL or green by Schwann cells) axons or (L) MS patient LY grafted mice with some remyelinated axons but mostly unmyelinated axons (pink). (M) Mean percentage of remyelinated area in the lesion of each group and (N) mean percentage of glial scar area in the lesion for each group. (NG (n=6 mice, grey), HD (n=15 mice, orange) and MS (n=35 mice, purple)). One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-Hoc. \*: p<0,05; \*\*: p<0,01.



Figure 3: MS LY graft increase phagocytic cells and the presence of iron-loaded myeloid cells in the with matter surrounding the lesion. (A;C) Representative images of cryosectionned spinal cord of mice grafted with (A) HD LY or (C) MS LY. Myeloid cells (MAC in red) are stained with a Mix (F4/80; CD11b; CD68, in red), myelin is stained with MOG (in green). Scale bar: 30µm. (B;D) Zoom and orthogonal projection of a myeloid cell in the white matter of mice grafted with LY from HD (B) or MS patients (D) and the associated 3D-reconstruction scale bar: 5µm. We observe that myeloid cells in MS are full of myelin. (E) Graph representing the mean density of myeloid cells for each group (NG (n=14 mice, grey), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58 mice, purple)) 0- $200\mu m$  from myelin negative area (F) Graph representing the mean density of myelin-loaded cells for each group (MAC cells positive for MOG) (NG (n=14 mice, grey), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58 mice, purple)) 0- $200\mu m$  from myelin negative area (G) Graph representing the mean percentage of phagocytic cells for each group (MAC cells positive for myelin) (NG (n=14 mice, grey), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58 mice, purple)) 0-200µm from myelin negative area. (H-J) EM images of myeloid cells in the border of MS LY grafted mice, (H) they are in close contact with myelinated axons (I) start to demyelinate the axons, (J) and have phagocytosed myelin. Scale bar =  $20\mu m (K-L)$  Zoom and orthogonal projection of a myeloid cell in the white matter in HD (K) or MS (L) grafted mice. We observe that myeloid cells loaded with iron labeled with ferritin light chain (FTL) antibody are mainly observed in MS LY grafted mice. (M) Graph representing the mean density of iron-loaded cells for each group (MAC cells positive for FTL) (NG (n=14 mice, grey), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58mice, purple)) 0-200µm from myelin negative area (N) Graph representing the mean percentage of iron-loaded cells for each group (MAC cells positive for FTL) (NG (n=14 mice, grey), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58mice, purple)) 0-200 $\mu$ m from myelin negative area. Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post-Hoc. \*\*: p<0,01; \*\*\*\*: p<0,0001.



Figure 4: Mice grafted with MS LY have impaired behavioral and physiological performances. (A) Notched beam test and graph representing the mean number of errors after minus number of errors before the surgery on the notched beam test for each group (NG (n=20 mice, blue), HD (n=18 mice, green) and MS (n=39 mice, pink (4 MS patients))) at each time point comparing MS group versus NG (blue stars) or HD (green stars) group. (B) Grip test and graphs representing the percentage of the front limb strength for each group (NG (n=20 mice, gray), HD (n=27 mice, orange) and MS (n=77 mice, purple)) at each time point comparing MS group versus NG (blue stars) or HD (green stars) group. 2 way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-Hoc. (C) Experimental set up. Briefly an electrical stimulation is performed on the tibial nerve while the response to the stimuli is measured in the somatosensory cortex area. Representative somatosensory evoked potential response of each group NG, HD and MS. Arrows represent the artifact of stimulation. Orange dotted line represent the beginning of the cortical responses. (D) Mean conduction speed in mm/ms for each group (NG (n=20 mice, gray), HD (n=23 mice, orange) and MS (n=87 mice, purple)). One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-Hoc. \*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; \*\*\*: p < 0,001; \*\*\*\*: p < 0,0001 (E) The speed of conduction is positively correlated with the front limb strength (r=0,33) and negatively correlated with the number of errors (r=-0,35). The number of errors and the front limb strength are negatively correlated (r=-0.57) \*\*: p<0.001; \*\*\*\*: p<0.0001 (F) The speed of conduction is positively correlated with the percentage of mature oligodendrocytes (r=0,74), and negatively correlated to the number of myeloid cells/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=-0,45) and myeloid cells containing myelin/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=-0,54). The percentage of mature oligodendrocytes is negatively correlated with the percentage of myeloid cells either full of myelin (r=-0.45) or iron (r=-0,46) and the number of myeloid cells/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=-0,35) myeloid cells full of myelin/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=-0,44) or iron/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=-0,45). The percentage of myeloid cells loaded with myelin is positively correlated with the percentage of myeloid cells loaded with iron (r=0,57), and with the number of myeloid cells/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=0,30) myeloid cells full of myelin/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=0,68) or iron/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=0,47). The percentage of myeloid cells loaded with iron is positively correlated with the number of myeloid cells/ $mm^2$  (r=0,38) myeloid cells full of myelin/ $mm^2$  (r=0,50) or  $iron/mm^2$  (r=0,73). The number of myeloid cells/mm<sup>2</sup> is positively correlated with the number of myeloid cells full of myelin/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=0,84) myeloid cells full of iron/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=0,81). The number of myeloid cells containing myelin/mm<sup>2</sup> is positively correlated with myeloid cells full of iron/mm<sup>2</sup> (r=0,83). Pearson test of correlation, \*: *p*<0,05; \*\*: *p*<0,01; \*\*\*\*: *p*<0,0001



**Figure 5:** The graft of MS patients LY has heterogenous effect. We calculated a Z-score for each patient for the different assessment. We can distinguish some MS patients LY that will induce a bad outcome in the assessment (in red) and some that will induce a good or mild outcome in the assessment (in blue).



**Figure 6:** scRNAseq analysis of Wild type (WT) and MS patient LY grafted mice 3 months after the lesion/graft. (A) UMAP of cells coloured by populations after identification of the different subset of cells. (B) Bar plot showing the relative distribution of each cell population in WT (left) and MS LY grafted mice (right). (C) Identification of the specific markers of MIMS cells among the myeloid cells cluster (D) Volcano plot of gene expression changes in MIMS (downregulated in pink and upregulated in blue) (E) Violin plot showing expression of 3 complement genes C1qa,C1qb and C1qc in MS (pink) and WT (blue) condition. (F) Immunocytochemistry of myeloid cells (CD11b/CD68.F4/80,red) present at the border at the lesion (MBP, green) expressing C1q (White dots).

#### Table:

Table 1: M	Multiple :	sclerosis	patients an	d healthy donor	• cohort description
------------	------------	-----------	-------------	-----------------	----------------------

Characteristic	MS patients	RRMS	PPMS	HD
n	21	19	2	11
Female/male	11/10	10/9	1/1	8/11
Mean age (range) [standard deviation]	43.8 (23-70) [12.2]	44.3 (23-70) [12.3]	39.5 (29-50) [14.8]	38.4 (22-54) [10.6]
Under treatment/ treatment-free	10/11	10/9	0/2	

MS: Multiple sclerosis; RRMS: Relapsing/remitting multiple sclerosis; PPMS: Primary progressive multiple sclerosis; HD: Healthy donors

### Supplementary Figure



85

Supplementary Figure 1: Evolution of the lesion between 3 weeks and 3 months. (A-C) Semi thin section of the dorsal horn of spinal cord of Nude mice after the lesion of (A) NG mice, (n = 7 mice); (B) and the grafting of HD LY (n = 5 HD at 3 weeks and 3 months with 2-3 mice per individual; (C) and MS patient LY (n = 7 MS patients at 3 weeks and 6 at 3 months with 2-4 mice per individual) 3 weeks after the surgery. Remyelinated area either by OL (in green) or SC (in red), and macrophages (in blue). (D-F) Zoom inside the lesion of (D) NG mice, and mice grafted with (E) HD LY or (F) MS patient LY. (G-I) Macrophages with vacuoles (in blue) in (G) NG mice and (H) HD LY grafted mice and (I) MS mice. (J) Mean percentage of remyelinated area in the lesion at 3 weeks and 3 months of each group and (K) mean percentage of glial scar area in the lesion at 3 weeks and 3 months for each group. (L) Mean percentages of macrophages area in the lesion at 3 weeks and 3 months, grey), HD (n=15 mice at 3 weeks and 20 at 3 months, orange) and MS (n=33 mice at 3 weeks and 25 at 3 months, purple)). One way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-Hoc. \*\*\*: p<0,001; \*\*\*\*: p<0,0001... (M) Mean percentage of remyelinated area in MS patients (6 patients) comparison between 3 weeks and 3 months. Wilcoxon , \*: p<0,5



Supplementary Figure 2: MS patients LY decrease OL differentiation. (A-C) Representative images of cryosectioned spinal cord in the center of the lesion of (A) NG mice or mice grafted with (B) HD LY or (C) MS LY. Dotted line represents the area of dense nuclei in the lesion. Cells from the oligodendroglial lineage are stained with Olig2 (in red), Differentiated oligodendrocytes are stained with Olig2 and CC1 (nuclei in red and cytoplasm in green). Scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. (D-F) Representative images of cryosectioned spinal cord in the border of the lesion of NG mice (D) mice grafted with LY from HD (E) or MS patients (F) 20  $\mu$ m. We observe that myeloid cells in MS are full of myelin. (F) Graph representing the mean density of oligodendrocytes cells for each group (NG (n=14 mice, gray), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58 mice, purple)) 0-200 $\mu$ m from hypercellular area. (F) Graph representing the mean percentage of mature oligodendrocytes (NG (n=14 mice, gray), HD (n=22 mice, orange) and MS (n=58 mice, purple)) 0-200 $\mu$ m from the hypercellular area. Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post-Hoc. \*\*\*: p<0,001 \*\*\*\*: p<0,0001.

### Supplementary table

Number	Age	Sex	Treatment	Disease
MS1	42	F	None	RRMS
MS2	32	Н	None	RRMS
MS3	51	F	None	RRMS
MS4	29	F	None	RRMS
MS5	70	н	None	RRMS
MS6	69	F	None	RRMS
MS7	46	н	Copaxone	RRMS
MS8	36	F	Demethylfumarate	RRMS
MS9	50	F	None	PPMS
MS10	23	F	Demethylfumarate	RRMS
MS11	51	н	Teriflunomide	RRMS
MS12	37	н	Copaxone	RRMS
MS13	54	Н	None	RRMS
MS14	42	F	Copaxone	RRMS
MS15	33	F	Tecfidera	RRMS
MS16	39	F	Copaxone	RRMS
MS17	50	н	None	RRMS
MS18	53	Н	Teriflunomide	RRMS
MS19	29	н	None	PPMS
MS20	41	F	None	RRMS
MS21	43	н	Copaxone	RRMS

Supplementary table 1: Individual description of multiple sclerosis patients cohort.

Su	pplementar	v table 2	2:	Antibody	used	in	the	study.
	FF							

Antibody	Dilution	Target	lsotype	Blocking/Permeabilisation solution	Source (Reference)
C1q	1/50	Complement	Mouse IgG2b- Biotin	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Thermofischer (MA1-40312)
CC1	1/100	Mature OL	Mouse IgG2b	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Millipore (OP80)
CD11b	1/400	Macrophages/ Microglia	Rat IgG	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Bio-rad (MCA74G)
CD69	1/400	Macrophages/ Microglia	Rat IgG	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Bio-rad (MCA1957)
Coll IV	1/400 IHC 1/200 Clearing	Blood vessels	Rabbit IgG	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Abcam (ab19808)
F4/80	1/100	Macrophages/ Microglia	Rat IgG	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Bio-rad (MCA497R)
FTL	1/100	Iron load	Rabbit IgG	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Abcam (ab69090)
HLA-DP,DQ, DR (Clone CR3/43)	1/100	Human LY	Mouse IgG1	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Dako (M0775)
MOG	1/100	Myelin	Mouse IgG1	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2%	Home made
Olig2	1/200	OL lineage	Rabbit IgG	PBS/BSA 4% Titron 0,2% + Antigen retrieval	Millipore (AB9610)

#### References

- Absinta, M., Maric, D., Gharagozloo, M., Garton, T., Smith, M. D., Jin, J., Fitzgerald, K. C., Song, A., Liu, P., Lin, J.-P., Wu, T., Johnson, K. R., McGavern, D. B., Schafer, D. P., Calabresi, P. A., & Reich, D. S. (2021). A lymphocyte–microglia–astrocyte axis in chronic active multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, 597(7878), 709–714. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03892-7
- Absinta, M., Sati, P., Masuzzo, F., Nair, G., Sethi, V., Kolb, H., Ohayon, J., Wu, T., Cortese, I. C. M., & Reich, D. S. (2019). Association of Chronic Active Multiple Sclerosis Lesions with Disability in Vivo. JAMA Neurology, 76(12). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2399
- Barclay, K. M., Abduljawad, N., Cheng, Z., Kim, M. W., Zhou, L., Yang, J., Rustenhoven, J., Mazzitelli, J. A., Smyth, L. C. D., Kapadia, D., Brioschi, S., Beatty, W., Hou, J., Saligrama, N., Colonna, M., Yu, G., Kipnis, J., & Li, Q. (2024). An inducible genetic tool to track and manipulate specific microglial states reveals their plasticity and roles in remyelination. *Immunity*, 57(6), 1394–1412.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2024.05.005
- Behi, M. El, Sanson, C., Bachelin, C., Na Guillot-Noë, L., FBarclay, K. M., Abduljawad, N., Cheng, Z., Kim, M. W., Zhou, L., Yang, J., Rustenhoven, J., Mazzitelli, J. A., Smyth, L. C. D., Kapadia, D., Brioschi, S., Beatty, W., Hou, J., Saligrama, N., Colonna, M., Yu, G., Kipnis, J., & Li, Q. (2024). An inducible genetic tool to track and manipulate specific microglial states reveals their plasticity remyelination. and roles in Immunity, 57(6), 1394–1412.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2024.05.005ransson, J., Stankoff, B., Maillart, E., Ge Sarrazin, N., Guillemot, V., Abdi, H., Cournu-Rebeix, I., Fontaine, Ã. B., & Zujovic, V. (2017). Adaptive human immunity drives remyelination in а mouse model of demyelination. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx008
- Blakemore, W. F., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2008). Remyelination in experimental models of toxin-induced demyelination. In *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* (Vol. 318). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-73677-6\_8
- Bodini, B., Veronese, M., García-Lorenzo, D., Battaglini, M., Poirion, E., Chardain, A., Freeman, L., Louapre, C., Tchikviladze, M., Papeix, C., Dollé, F., Zalc, B., Lubetzki, C., Bottlaender, M., Turkheimer, F., & Stankoff, B. (2016). Dynamic Imaging of Individual Remyelination Profiles in Multiple Sclerosis. *Annals of Neurology*, 79(5), 726–738. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24620
- Breij, E. C., Brink, B. P., Veerhuis, R., van den Berg, C., Vloet, R., Yan, R., Dijkstra, C. D., van der Valk, P., & Bö, L. (2008). Homogeneity of active demyelinating lesions in established multiple sclerosis. *Annals of neurology*, 63(1), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21311
- Compston, A., & Coles, A. (2002). Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 359(9313), 1221–1231. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08220-X
- Fransen, N. L., Hsiao, C. C., Van Der Poel, M., Engelenburg, H. J., Verdaasdonk, K., Vincenten, M. C. J., Remmerswaal, E. B. M., Kuhlmann, T., Mason, M. R. J., Hamann, J., Smolders, J., & Huitinga, I. (2020). Tissue-resident memory T cells invade the brain parenchyma in multiple sclerosis white matter lesions. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, 143(6), 1714–1730. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWAA117
- Frieser, D., Pignata, A., Khajavi, L., Shlesinger, D., Gonzalez-Fierro, C., Nguyen, X. H., Yermanos, A., Merkler, D., Höftberger, R., Desestret, V., Mair, K. M., Bauer, J., Masson, F., & Liblau, R. S. (2022). Tissue-resident CD8+ T cells drive compartmentalized and chronic autoimmune damage against CNS neurons. *Science Translational Medicine*, 14(640). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abl6157
- Frischer, J. M., Weigand, S. D., Guo, Y., Kale, N., Parisi, J. E., Pirko, I., Mandrekar, J., Bramow, S., Metz, I., Brück, W., Lassmann, H., & Lucchinetti, C. F. (2015). Clinical and pathological insights into the dynamic nature of the white matter multiple sclerosis plaque. *Annals of neurology*, 78(5), 710–721. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24497

- Hsiao, C. C., Fransen, N. L., van den Bosch, A. M. R., Brandwijk, K. I. M., Huitinga, I., Hamann, J., & Smolders, J. (2021). White matter lesions in multiple sclerosis are enriched for CD20dim CD8+ tissue-resident memory T cells. In *European Journal of Immunology* (Vol. 51, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.202048665
- Ingram, G., Loveless, S., Howell, O. W., Hakobyan, S., Dancey, B., Harris, C. L., Robertson, N. P., Neal, J. W., & Morgan, B. P. (2014). Complement activation in multiple sclerosis plaques: an immunohistochemical analysis. *Acta neuropathologica communications*, 2, 53. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-5960-2-53
- Keren-Shaul, H., Spinrad, A., Weiner, A., Matcovitch-Natan, O., Dvir-Szternfeld, R., Ulland, T. K., David, E., Baruch, K., Lara-Astaiso, D., Toth, B., Itzkovitz, S., Colonna, M., Schwartz, M., & Amit, I. (2017). A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell*, 169(7), 1276–1290.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.018
- Kuhlmann, T., Ludwin, S., Prat, A., Antel, J., Brück, W., & Lassmann, H. (2017). An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *133*(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-016-1653-Y
- Lucchinetti, C., Brück, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: Implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Annals of Neurology*, 47(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Luchetti, S., Fransen, N. L., van Eden, C. G., Ramaglia, V., Mason, M., & Huitinga, I. (2018). Progressive multiple sclerosis patients show substantial lesion activity that correlates with clinical disease severity and sex: a retrospective autopsy cohort analysis. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 135(4), 511–528. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-018-1818-Y
- Machado-Santos, J., Saji, E., Tröscher, A. R., Paunovic, M., Liblau, R., Gabriely, G., Bien, C. G., Bauer, J., & Lassmann, H. (2018). The compartmentalized inflammatory response in the multiple sclerosis brain is composed of tissue-resident CD8+ T lymphocytes and B cells. *Brain*, 141(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy151
- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O. W., Calabrese, M., & Reynolds, R. (2023). Meningeal inflammation as a driver of cortical grey matter pathology and clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. *Nature reviews*. *Neurology*, 19(8), 461–476. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-023-00838-7
- Prineas, J. W., Kwon, E. E., Cho, E. S., Sharer, L. R., Barnett, M. H., Oleszak, E. L., Hoffman, B., & Morgan, B. P. (2001). Immunopathology of secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *Annals of neurology*, 50(5), 646–657. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.1255
- Procaccini, C., De Rosa, V., Pucino, V., Formisano, L., & Matarese, G. (2015). Animal models of Multiple Sclerosis. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 759, 182–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJPHAR.2015.03.042
- Smolders, J., Heutinck, K. M., Fransen, N. L., Remmerswaal, E. B. M., Hombrink, P., Ten Berge, I. J. M., van Lier, R. A. W., Huitinga, I., & Hamann, J. (2018). Tissue-resident memory T cells populate the human brain. Nature communications, 9(1), 4593. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07053-9
- Woo, M. S., Engler, J. B., & Friese, M. A. (2024). The neuropathobiology of multiple sclerosis. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, 25(7), 493–513. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-024-00823-z

### **RESULTS PART II**
## Notch3 Directs a Regulatory T Cells-Microglia axis to Promote Autoimmune Neuroinflammation

Mehdi Benamar, Paola Contini, Klaus Schmitz-Abe, Corinne Bachelin, Olga Lanzetta, Manuel Leyva Castillo, Muyun Wang, Fatma Betul Oktelik, <u>Océane Perrot</u>, Sena Nur Arbag, Emmanuel Stephen-Victor, Hani Harb, Céline Louapre, Federico Ivaldi, Antonio Uccelli, Matilde Inglese, Claudia Angelini, Violetta Zujovic, Raffaele De Palma<sup>+</sup>, Talal A. Chatila<sup>+</sup>

<sup>+</sup>These authors contributed equally

During my thesis project, we started a collection of PBMCs from PwMS that we had grafted in our humanized mouse model, creating a stock of MS PBMCs. We then collaborated with various teams to explore how lymphocytes from PwMS might promote CNS inflammation.

In this article, our collaborators used blood and CSF samples from various cohorts of PwMS, including ours, and discovered an increase in a subpopulation of Tregs expressing Notch 3 in both the blood and CSF of these patients. Additionally, this Notch3+ Treg subpopulation was also identified in the CNS of EAE mice. Using this model, they found that Notch3+ Tregs interact with microglia via the Notch Delta-like ligand 1 (DLL1), and this interaction induces the destabilization of Tregs into Th17 cells, which are known for their pathogenic role in MS and EAE. This study identifies the subversion of immune tolerance mediated by Notch3 as a fundamental mechanism enabling autoimmune neuroinflammation.

## Abbreviation:

<u>CNS:</u> Central Nervous System; <u>CSF:</u> CerebroSpinal Fluid; <u>DLL1</u>: Notch delta like ligand 1; <u>EAE:</u> Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis; <u>MOG:</u> Myelin Oligodendrocytes Protein ; <u>MS:</u> Multiple Sclerosis; <u>ScRNA-seq:</u> Single Cell RNA-Sequencing; <u>TCR:</u> T Cell Receptor; <u>Tregs:</u> Regulatory T cells.

## Notch3 Directs a Regulatory T Cells-Microglia axis to Promote Autoimmune Neuroinflammation

Mehdi Benamar<sup>1,2</sup>, Paola Contini<sup>3,4</sup>, Klaus Schmitz-Abe<sup>1,2,5</sup>, Corinne Bachelin<sup>6</sup>, Olga Lanzetta<sup>7</sup>, Manuel Leyva Castillo<sup>1,2</sup>, Muyun Wang<sup>1</sup>, Fatma Betul Oktelik<sup>1</sup>, <u>Océane Perrot</u><sup>6</sup> Sena Nur Arbag<sup>1</sup>, Emmanuel Stephen-Victor<sup>8</sup>, Hani Harb<sup>9</sup>, Céline Louapre<sup>6</sup>, Federico Ivaldi<sup>3,4</sup>, Antonio Uccelli<sup>3,10</sup>, Matilde Inglese<sup>3,10</sup>, Claudia Angelini<sup>11</sup>, Violetta Zujovic<sup>6</sup>, Raffaele De Palma<sup>3,4,12†</sup> Talal A. Chatila<sup>1,2†</sup>

Division of Immunology, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA; <sup>3</sup>Unit of Clinical Immunology and Translational Medicine, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa, Italy; <sup>4</sup>Department of Internal Medicine (DIMI)-University of Genoa, Genoa; <sup>5</sup>The Manton Center for Orphan Disease Research, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, USA; Sorbonne Université, Institut du Cerveau - Paris Brain Institute - ICM, Inserm, CNRS, APHP, Hôpital Pitié Salpétrière Univ. Hosp., DMU Neuroscience ; <sup>7</sup>Institute of Genetics and Biophysics, National Research Council, Via Pietro Castellino 111, 80131 Naples, Italy; <sup>s</sup>Department of Pathology, Division of Microbiology and Immunology, Huntsman Cancer Institute, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT; 9Institute for Medical Microbiology and Virology, University Hospital Dresden, Medical Faculty, Technische Universität Dresden; <sup>10</sup>Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child University of Genova, Largo Daneo 3, Genova, Italy; "Istituto per le Applicazioni del Calcolo "M. Picone", Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Naples, Italy; <sup>12</sup>CNR-Institute of Biomolecular Chemistry (IBC), Via Campi Flegrei 34, 80078 Pozzuoli, Napoli, Italy; <sup>9</sup>Lead Contact

<sup>+</sup>These authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** Talal A. Chatila, M.D., M.Sc., Division of Immunology, Boston Children's Hospital, Department of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA. Email: talal.chatila@childrens.harvard.edu

## Abstract

Deciphering the mechanisms that promote central nervous system inflammation in multiple sclerosis is critical for developing precision therapies. We show that a specific regulatory T (Treg) cell subpopulation expressing Notch3 was increased in the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid of individuals with multiple sclerosis (MS) and in the central nervous system (CNS) of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Notch3 expression was upregulated by mechanisms involving the gut microbiota and Treg cell-specific toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling to promote EAE severity. Notch3 interaction with delta-like ligand 1 (DLL1) on microglia subverted Treg cells into T helper 17 (Th17) cells by Hippo pathway-dependent mechanisms while also inducing an inflammatory microglial response. Its deletion inhibited EAE by preventing Treg cell destabilization into Th17 cells while simultaneously promoting the expansion of a novel brain-protective neuropeptide receptor 1 (NPY1R)<sup>+</sup> Treg cell population that suppressed pathogenic IFNg<sup>+</sup> and GM-CSF<sup>+</sup> effector T cells. Our studies thus identify Notch3-mediated immune tolerance subversion as a fundamental mechanism that licenses autoimmune neuroinflammation.

## Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune demyelinating disease driven by pathogenic autoreactive T cells <sup>1</sup>. Of particular interest is the role in disease pathogenesis of immune regulatory mechanisms normally operative to restrain autoreactivity, key among which are regulatory T (Treg) cells <sup>2</sup>. Studies have shown that the number and function of Treg cells are impaired in patients with MS, which may contribute to the development and progression of the disease <sup>3-5</sup>. In experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model of MS <sup>6</sup>, Treg cells accumulate in the central nervous system (CNS) tissues but fail to control the autoimmune inflammation<sup>7</sup> and eventually lose their suppressive function and Foxp3 expression<sup>8,9</sup>. Subverted Treg cells may further convert into pathogenic Th cells under the influence of pro-inflammatory cytokines or antigenic stimulation <sup>5,8</sup>. Whether this Treg cell plasticity plays a role in the pathogenesis of EAE and MS remains unclear.

## Methods

## **Human Cohorts:**

*Multiple sclerosis and control patients:* Peripheral blood (PB) samples were obtained from MS patients (n=10) and healthy control (n=6) from Institut du cerveau, Paris, France. Moreover, PB and cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF) cells were obtained from MS patients (n=25) and non-MS patients (n=14) from Italy. The clinical characteristics of MS patients and Controls groups are reported in Extended Table Data 1.

*Sample Processing:* Peripheral blood samples were obtained in sodium heparin or ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) tubes at study enrollment. At each site, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated by Ficoll density gradient centrifugation and cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen.

## Human Subjects:

Written informed consent (and assent when appropriate) was provided by the participants. The Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) approved the single-center research protocols.

## Isolation of Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)

Human PBMCs were isolated from whole blood from either healthy control or MS patients via density gradient using Ficoll (GE Healthcare). PBMCs were then stored frozen in

Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) (Sigma Aldrich) and 15% Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma Aldrich). The cells were later thawed for analysis of their Notch or different markers and cytokine expression by flow cytometry.

## Flow cytometric analysis of human cells.

Antibodies against the following human antigens were used: CD3 (HIT3a, catalogue no: 300318, 1:200,Biolegend), CD4 (RPA-T4, catalogue no: 300530, 1:200,Biolegend), Foxp3 (PCH-101,catalogue no: 48-4776-42,56-4716-41, 1:100 Thermofisher), Notch1 (HMN1-519, catalogue no: 566023, 1:300, BD Pharmingen), Notch2 (HMN2-25, catalogue no: 742291, 1:300, BD Pharmingen), Notch3 (HMN3-21, catalogue no: 744828, 1:300, BD Pharmingen), Notch4 (HMN4-2, Catalogue no: 563269, 1:300, BD Pharmingen), CD25 (BC96, Catalogue no: 12-0259-42 1:300, Thermofisher), CD127 (A019D5, Catalogue no: 351320 1:300, Biolegend). The specificity and optimal dilution of each antibody was validated by testing on appropriate negative and positive controls or otherwise provided on the manufacturer's website. Intracellular cytokine staining was performed as previously described <sup>9,10</sup>. Dead cells were routinely excluded from the analysis based on the staining of eFluor 780 Fixable Viability Dye (1:1000 dilution) (Thermofisher).

## Statistical analysis.

Student's two-tailed t-test, one- and two-way ANOVA and repeat measures two-way ANOVA with post-test analysis.

#### Data Availability.

The data presented in the manuscript, including de-identified patient results, will be made available to investigators following a request to the corresponding author. Any data and materials to be shared will be released via a material transfer agreement. RNA sequencing datasets have been deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus.

## Results

Here I present only the results with our PBMCs collection.

Notch signaling in T cells has been implicated in the pathogenesis of MS/EAE<sup>10-13</sup>. Our previous studies have shown that individual Notch receptor signaling in Treg cells licenses

inflammation in different tissues by promoting Treg cell destabilization and plasticity. Thus, Notch1 signaling drives Treg cell Th1 skewing and CD22-dependent Treg cell gut tissue homing to promote autoimmunity and inflammation <sup>14,15</sup>. In contrast, Notch4 is upregulated on lung Treg cells to promote their Th2 and Th17 cell skewing in allergic airway inflammation and Th1 skewing in lung viral infections, respectively <sup>16,17</sup>. Analysis of peripheral blood T cells revealed an increase in Notch3 expression, but not of other Notch receptors, specifically in Treg cells in patients with active MS (Fig. 1a-c; Extended data Table 1). Treg cell Notch3 expression was decreased in patients with inactive MS compared to those with active disease (Fig. 1d,e). Analysis of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) T cells of patients with MS revealed a further increase in Notch3 expression in Treg cells compared to their matched counterparts in the peripheral blood (Fig. 1f,g). Notch3 expression was also increased but to a lesser extent in CD4<sup>+</sup> T conventional (Tconv) cells in the CSF of MS patients, while Notch3 expression was unchanged in the peripheral blood and CSF T cell subsets of control subjects (Fig. 1g). Notch3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in the CSF expressed T helper (Th) cell cytokines implicated MS pathogenesis, including IL-17, GM-CSF and IFNg, indicative of their subversion into a Th cell-like phenotype (Fig. 1h-i). These results suggested a putative role for Notch3 in the pathogenesis of MS.

Overall, the identification of a cardinal role for Notch3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in MS/EAE reconciles and integrates several previous findings including the respective roles of the microbiota, Treg cell destabilization and T cell-microglia interactions in disease pathogenesis. Importantly, our results indicate that the outcome of EAE is shaped by the balance of two opposing Treg cell populations: a pathogenic Notch3<sup>+</sup> Treg cell population enriched in MOG<sup>33-55</sup> reactivity that drives brain IL-17<sup>+</sup> T cell responses and simultaneously compromises a second, tissue-resident protective NPY1R<sup>+</sup> Treg cell population that normally restrains IFNg<sup>+</sup> and IFNg<sup>+</sup>GM-CSF<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses noted in MS/EAE <sup>38,40-44</sup> are linked to an underlying dynamic interaction between Notch3<sup>+</sup> and NPY1R<sup>+</sup> Treg cells. The distinct ontogeny of the respective Treg cell populations, the mechanisms by which they interact in disease pathogenesis including different subtypes of MS and means of manipulating their responses to promote long-term immune tolerance requires further investigations.

## References

1 Attfield, K. E., Jensen, L. T., Kaufmann, M., Friese, M. A. & Fugger, L. The immunology of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Immunol* **22**, 734-750, doi:10.1038/s41577-022-00718-z (2022).

2 Georgiev, P. *et al.* Regulatory T Cells in Dominant Immunological Tolerance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2023.09.025 (2023).

3 Viglietta, V., Baecher-Allan, C., Weiner, H. L. & Hafler, D. A. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* **199**, 971-979, doi:10.1084/jem.20031579 (2004).

4 Venken, K. *et al.* Compromised CD4+ CD25(high) regulatory T-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is correlated with a reduced frequency of FOXP3-positive cells and reduced FOXP3 expression at the single-cell level. *Immunology* **123**, 79-89, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02690.x (2008).

5 Dominguez-Villar, M., Baecher-Allan, C. M. & Hafler, D. A. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* **17**, 673-675, doi:10.1038/nm.2389 (2011).

6 Stromnes, I. M. & Goverman, J. M. Active induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Nature protocols* **1**, 1810-1819, doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.285 (2006).

7 Korn, T. *et al.* Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Med* **13**, 423-431, doi:10.1038/nm1564 (2007).

8 Bailey-Bucktrout, S. L. *et al.* Self-antigen-driven activation induces instability of regulatory T cells during an inflammatory autoimmune response. *Immunity* **39**, 949-962, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.016 (2013).

9 Axisa, P. P. *et al.* A multiple sclerosis-protective coding variant reveals an essential role for HDAC7 in regulatory T cells. *Science translational medicine* **14**, eabl3651, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.abl3651 (2022).

10 Meyer Zu Horste, G. *et al.* RBPJ Controls Development of Pathogenic Th17 Cells by Regulating IL-23 Receptor Expression. *Cell reports* **16**, 392-404, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.088 (2016).

<sup>11</sup> Jurynczyk, M., Jurewicz, A., Raine, C. S. & Selmaj, K. Notch3 inhibition in myelinreactive T cells down-regulates protein kinase C theta and attenuates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* **180**, 2634-2640, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2634 (2008).

12 Elyaman, W. *et al.* JAGGED1 and delta1 differentially regulate the outcome of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* **179**, 5990-5998, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.9.5990 (2007).

13 Minter, L. M. *et al.* Inhibitors of gamma-secretase block in vivo and in vitro T helper type 1 polarization by preventing Notch upregulation of Tbx21. *Nat Immunol* **6**, 680-688 (2005).

14 Benamar, M. *et al.* The Notch1/CD22 signaling axis disrupts Treg function in SARS-CoV-2-associated multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children. *J Clin Invest* **133**, doi:10.1172/JCI163235 (2023).

15 Charbonnier, L. M., Wang, S., Georgiev, P., Sefik, E. & Chatila, T. A. Control of peripheral tolerance by regulatory T cell-intrinsic Notch signaling. *Nat Immunol* **16**, 1162-1173, doi:10.1038/ni.3288 (2015).

16 Harb, H. *et al.* A regulatory T cell Notch4-GDF15 axis licenses tissue inflammation in asthma. *Nat Immunol* **21**, 1359-1370, doi:10.1038/s41590-020-0777-3 (2020).

17 Harb, H. *et al.* Notch4 signaling limits regulatory T-cell-mediated tissue repair and promotes severe lung inflammation in viral infections. *Immunity* **54**, 1186-1199 e1187, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2021.04.002 (2021).

## Figures



Fig. 1. Increased Notch3 expression on peripheral and CSF Treg cells of MS patients. a-c. Flow cytometric analysis of Notch3 expression in peripheral blood (PB) Treg cells and frequencies of the respective Notch receptor-expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg (Foxp3<sup>+</sup>) (a-b) and Tconv (Foxp3<sup>-</sup>) cells (c) in PBMC of healthy controls (HC, n=6) and active remitting-relapsing multiple sclerosis (MS, n=10-17) subjects. d,e. Flow cytometric analysis and cell frequencies of Notch3 expression in PB CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in HC (n=17) and in MS subjects with active remitting relapsing disease (n=17) or in remission (n=30). f.g. Flow cytometric analysis and frequencies of Notch3<sup>+</sup> Treg and Tconv cells in the CSF of active MS subjects (n=27) vs. non-MS control subjects (n=9). h.i. Flow cytometric analysis and frequencies of IFNg, IL17 and IL22 expression by Foxp3<sup>+</sup>Notch3<sup>+</sup> or Foxp3<sup>+</sup>Notch3<sup>-</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from CSF of MS patients (n=14). Numbers in flow plots are percentages. Error bars are SEM. Each point denotes an individual. Statistical analysis: one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc analysis (b,d) or two-way ANOVA (g) with Sidak posthoc analysis (f,g) or student two-tailed t-test (h,i).

## **Extended Data**

	MS patient (France) N=10	MS patient active (Italy) N=27	MS patient inactive (Italy) N=30	Non-MS patient (Italy) N=9
Patient Demographics				
Age-yrs (median, +/- SEM)	47+/-4.7	41.4+/- 2.6	37.9 +/- 2	70.5+/- 6.5
Sex (#, % female)	50%	62.96%	73.30%	66.60%
Case Definitions/Criteria (#,				
%)				
RRMS	70%	100%	100%	-
PP	10%	-	-	-
SP	10%	-		-
CIS	10%			
dementia				18.18%
Narcolepsy				9.09%
Alzeimer				18.18%
hydrocephalus				27.27%
Heteroplastic Lesion				9.09%
Sepsis				9.09%
Backache				9.09%

## Extended table 1: Multiple sclerosis patients cohort

DISCUSSION

## A. Resume of findings

Animal models of MS have significantly enhanced our understanding of MS pathology. For instance, EAE has provided insights into the inflammatory processes leading to new lesion formation, while toxin-induced demyelination models have elucidated the fundamental steps of demyelination and remyelination in a non-inflammatory context. However, certain aspects of MS pathology, such as brain lesion formation, B-cell contribution, disease heterogeneity, and progression, remain inadequately modeled (Klotz et al., 2023; Procaccini et al., 2015).

Evidence suggests that MS inflammation is more widespread than previously believed (Woo et al., 2024). Beyond peripheral inflammation, there is compartmentalized inflammation within the CNS that current therapies do not target. Developing new models of this compartmentalized inflammation could lead to therapies addressing the chronic activation of microglia.

In Part I of the results, I demonstrate that lymphocytes from some MS patients induce smoldering lesions in the mouse spinal cord, which share characteristics with smoldering lesions in MS patients. This model also replicates some of the heterogeneity observed in MS patients and includes non-invasive tests to monitor lesion progression.

In Part II of the results, our collection of PBMS of PwMS helped reveal that a subpopulation of Treg cells from MS patients expresses Notch3. These Notch3+ Tregs are pathogenic in the chronic EAE model, promoting CNS inflammation through interactions with microglial cells.

## 1. Advantages

## a) A model of smoldering lesions

With the combination of focal demyelination and MS inflammatory component, we have a new model that captures one of the components of PIRA progression: the smoldering lesion. The use of LPC-induced demyelination allows the study of demyelination and remyelination processes independently as they are separated in time. Combined with the graft

of MS patients' lymphocytes, it allows the study of remyelination failure in a patient's specific inflammatory context.

This model already provided evidence of dysregulation of CCL19 in patients' lymphocytes that could explain the heterogeneity of remyelination seen three weeks after the graft (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). When looking three months after the graft, we observe the formation of a lesion sharing features of the smoldering lesion in humans. These common features include an inactive center with a glial scar and an active border (Kuhlmann et al., 2017). The active border is composed of iron- or myelin-loaded myeloid cells, similar to those observed in MS (Absinta et al., 2021; Kuhlmann et al., 2017). We observe as well that MS patients lymphocytes localize in the perivascular space, which is characteristic of smoldering and active lesions (Absinta et al., 2021; Fransen et al., 2020; Frieser et al., 2022; Hsiao et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018) (Figure 29). We also set up a range of behavioral and physiological indicators to non-invasively evaluate the progression of the lesion.



Figure 29: Shared features between MS post-mortem smoldering lesion and our model. Schematic representation of the shared features between MS smoldering lesion and our model.

#### b) A more suited model to test pro-regenerative molecules

Most demyelination/remyelination models exhibit highly effective repair processes (Jeffery & Blakemore, 1995), allowing to assess only the acceleration of remyelination when using pro-remyelinating compounds. Additionally, these models provide an environment conducive to remyelination. In contrast, our model features an environment that is not favorable to remyelination. Therefore, using our model instead of the classic ones would more accurately 108

evaluate the potential of pro-remyelinating compounds. This approach allows us to test whether the compounds truly induce remyelination within an MS inflammatory context. With a stock of PBMCs from PwMS that we know will impede the remyelination process and induce a smoldering lesion, we could use this model at a bigger scale to test potential therapeutic molecules. In addition, we have two non-invasive behavioral tests to assess the lesion evolution, and also a physiological readout (the speed of conduction) that is correlated to the histopathological analysis. As a result, this model is well-suited for testing potential therapeutic molecules on a large scale.

## c) A model to characterize and study microglial activation

We also identify specific cells linked to smoldering lesions, such as MIMS-foamy and MIMS-iron, by comparing our ScRNAseq data with SnRNA-seq data from post-mortem human MS tissue (Absinta et al., 2021). Interestingly, the MIMS identified in our scRNA-seq also have similar patterns of DAM cells observed in EAE and cuprizone models (Barclay et al., 2024; Peruzzotti-Jametti et al., 2024). DAM activation is known to be pathogenic in chronic CNS diseases (Deczkowska et al., 2018). Notably, in the cuprizone model, tracking DAM activation during remyelination showed that DAM cells decrease their expression of DAM markers and increase their expression of homeostatic markers, suggesting a possible return to a homeostatic state (Barclay et al., 2024). Selectively depleting DAM cells in this model led to less severe demyelination but also resulted in diminished remyelination compared to control mice (Barclay et al., 2024). This highlights that although immune cell activation contributes to demyelination, it also plays a crucial role in the repair process. Additionally, a study comparing cells in active and chronic EAE stages found DAM cells in both, but persistent DAM in chronic EAE resembling microglial cell activation as MIMS in MS post-mortem tissue (Absinta et al., 2021; Peruzzotti-Jametti et al., 2024). This study also detected a shift between macrophages and microglia, with microglia emerging as the primary contributors to EAE pathology at the chronic stage (Peruzzotti-Jametti et al., 2024).

It has been demonstrated how myeloid cells activation (both pro-inflammatory and proregenerative polarization) can induce the repair process and that a shift from pro-inflammatory to pro-regenerative is necessary for efficient remyelination (Butovsky et al., 2006; Miron et al., 2013). This shift is induced by necroptosis of pro-inflammatory cells and repopulation by proregenerative cells (Lloyd et al., 2019). However, in the referenced studies, microglia are not categorized as strictly pro- or anti-inflammatory (Absinta et al., 2021; Barclay et al., 2024; Peruzzotti-Jametti et al., 2024). Instead, the activation pattern of microglia is more complex than a simple pro-inflammatory/pro-regenerative dichotomy (Butovsky & Weiner, 2018; Zrzavy et al., 2017), often described as "intermediate microglia" (Zrzavy et al., 2017) exhibiting markers of both pro-inflammatory and pro-regenerative polarization. MIMS and DAM are also considered intermediate microglia. This raises the question of what drives this intermediate chronic activation. Our dataset indicates that our MIMS are not purely pro-inflammatory but are likely intermediate microglia. Thus, our model could be instrumental in characterizing these cells and understanding their induction, potentially leading to therapeutic targeting.

# d) Deciphering the role of different T cell population in the formation of smoldering lesions

In addition to the use of the new humanized mice model, the study of PBMCs from PwMS allow to discover how lymphocytes from PwMS can induce CNS inflammation. Indeed, in results part II we show that Tregs expressing Notch3 are more present in PwMS and validated in EAE model their pathogenic role in CNS inflammation.

To assess which lymphocytes, induce smoldering lesions we could graft subpopulation of lymphocytes. For example, we know that in MS patients smoldering lesions CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells become TRM cells and form perivascular cuffs (Absinta et al., 2021; Fransen et al., 2020; Hsiao et al., 2021; Machado-Santos et al., 2018; Smolders et al., 2018). We could also assess if the graft of only CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells will induce perivascular cuffs and smoldering lesions. In addition, by using FACS analysis, we could find potential differences in lymphocyte subpopulation between patients and HD or among patients, we could therefore decide to graft different subpopulation of lymphocytes.

## 2. Limitation of our model

Our model paves the way to better understand MS progression and a shift toward individualized therapies for PwMS. However, there are some limitations to our model.

The graft of non-activated lymphocytes has no effects on the lesion development (data not shown). Indeed, human T cell receptor (TCR), B cell receptor (BCR) and mouse MHC are not compatible due to species differences. Therefore, we have to activate human lymphocytes *in vitro* before the graft. Our model does not allow us to study reactivation of lymphocytes within the CNS, or part of the cross talk between adaptive and innate immune cells. However, the majority of cytokines, cytokines receptors and cytokines pathways are conserved between species. Therefore, there is communication between human lymphocytes and mouse myeloids cells through cytokine signaling.

In addition, when human lymphocytes either from HD or MS are grafted within the healthy mouse spinal cord (there is no prior demyelination), those lymphocytes do not stay in the CNS parenchyma, and therefore do not induce smoldering lesions. It suggests that both the appropriate pathological cells and a lesioned environment are required for the formation of these cuffs. It therefore suggests the inside-out hypothesis, first the initiation of injury in the CNS involving the OL leads to CNS inflammation and recruitment of peripheral immune cells (Kamm et al., 2014; Stys et al., 2012).

We used Nude NMRI (RjOrl: NMRI-Foxn1nu/Foxn1nu) mice, which are athymic and lack T cells, so the effects observed are likely due to human lymphocytes. However, these mice still have normal levels of B cells and natural killer cells, which might also influence the results. While lymphocytes, including CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, Tregs, and Bregs, are known to be crucial for remyelination (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017; Bieber et al., 2003; Dombrowski et al., 2017; Pennati et al., 2020), Nude NMRI mice can still exhibit normal remyelination after LPC injection. This suggests that different mouse strains might affect the role of lymphocytes in remyelination, and that B cells, natural killer cells, and macrophages might compensate for the absence of T cells.

In the previous study, human lymphocytes were detected in both HD and MS grafted mice at three weeks after the graft (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017). After 3 months, human lymphocytes persist only in mice grafted with lymphocytes from PwMS, indicating that specific signals are required to keep pathological lymphocytes within the tissue. In addition, if there is no prior lesion, PwMS lymphocytes are not detected either, suggesting that a lesioned environment signals are essential for the perivascular cuffs to be maintained. We grafted a mix of CD14-negative lymphocytes but could not identify which specific type induces smoldering lesions. Although the clearing method helped locate them around blood vessels, we couldn't

detect them on IHC analysis due to the thin cryosectioned slices (10-12  $\mu$ m). Since these lymphocytes persist for three months post-graft, we hypothesize they are TRM cells.FACS sorting and/or grafting specific lymphocyte subpopulations could clarify this.

Our scRNA-seq analysis was conducted on a total of 2,000 cells from both wild-type and MS-grafted mice, and we did not capture all the cell types from the CNS (for example, astrocytes are missing). Given the relatively small sample size, these results should be interpreted with caution. The presence of a glial scar complicated the efficient dissociation of the tissue. Dissociating a glial scar typically requires more aggressive techniques, which, unfortunately, led to the loss of live cells necessary for scRNA-seq. To address this, we plan to employ SnRNA-seq. This method facilitates the effective dissociation of glial scar tissue by isolating nuclei rather than whole cells, thus circumventing the need for live cells and enabling a more comprehensive analysis.

#### **3.** A model to study progression

The silent progression, also called PIRA, is the cause of disability accumulation in PwMS. PIRA are associated with the presence of black holes (non-contrast enhancing lesions) in MRI scans (Woo et al., 2024). It was previously believed that these black holes represented inactive lesions (Hamzaoui et al., 2023). However, recent findings revealed significant microglial activation within these lesions (Hamzaoui et al., 2023). This indicates that, despite the absence of further infiltration into the CNS, inflammation persists. And this inflammation is mediated by microglia as well as astrocytes (Hamzaoui et al., 2023). In addition to the activation of microglia and astrocytes, studies have demonstrated that although peripheral immune cell infiltration into the CNS is reduced (Frischer et al., 2009), meningeal and perivascular cuffs of lymphocytes remain. This inflammation is not targeted by current immuno-modulatory treatment, as these treatments do not affect progression (Woo et al., 2024). These data demonstrate that there is an activation within the CNS that drives disease progression and neurodegeneration.

Interestingly, in our model between three weeks and three months there is a shift, from macrophages, being more present in the earlier time (corresponding to active lesion) to microglia in the later time (smoldering lesion). This shift between macrophages and microglia is believed to have a role in the disease progression (Faissner et al., 2019; Healy et al., 2022),

interestingly this shift is also seen in chronic-EAE (Peruzzotti-Jametti et al., 2024). Our model appears to replicate the progression of an active demyelinating lesion, characterized by a high presence of peripheral immune cells, into a smoldering lesion, where CNS glial cells become more predominant.

Increasing evidence suggests that astrocytes also play a significant role in MS. Firstly, they form a glial scar in demyelinated areas, which can hinder the remyelination process. Additionally, astrocytes express innate immune pathways, allowing them to participate in the inflammatory process (Ponath et al., 2018). Astrocytes also express TSPO (Hamzaoui et al., 2023; Nutma et al., 2019), meaning that when inflammation is assessed using TSPO PET-MRI scans, we are observing glial activation, including both microglia and astrocytes. This supports the notion that in progressive MS, the CNS, rather than the periphery, drives the inflammation. Moreover, there is a bidirectional crosstalk between microglia and astrocytes (Absinta et al., 2021; Healy et al., 2022). Using the SnRNA-seq data generated, we will analyze ligand–receptor pairs to infer intercellular communication. This will allow us to establish a cellular interactome between microglia, oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, and lymphocytes by examining the coordinated expression of specific gene subsets.

## **B.** Perspective

This project is part of a larger consortium study (Figure 30). In this project we will evaluate patients with either a relapsing-remitting or a progressive form of MS (secondary progressive or primary progressive), and determine their individual remyelination profiles using 18F-Florbetaben PET-MR (magnetic resonance), together with the extent of innate immune cells activation using 18F-DPA-714 PET. The relationship between individual remyelination capacities and neuro-inflammation will be investigated in vivo for the first time. In parallel, a high dimensional profiling of their lymphocytes will enable to define the lymphocytes subset associated with remyelination failure or success. Next, we will decipher experimentally how patients lymphocytes determine the remyelination success or failure, and trigger chronic activation of lesions, in an in vivo humanized animal model of MS lesion, elucidating more precisely the molecular and cellular actors in an in vitro culture system following both microglial activation and OPC differentiation steps. A powerful bio-informatic integrative analysis strategy will identify the lymphocytes population that inhibit repair. Novel biomarkers potentially predicting bad remyelination capacities and disability worsening will be generated, and novel remyelination strategies will be opened.



*Figure 30: Overall project.* This project involves a consortium of neurologist, neurobiologist an biostatisticians with a complementary expertise in cerebral imaging, lymphocytes profiling and MS animal models.

Our team will assess the effect of MS patients' lymphocytes *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro* studies will focus on how lymphocytes can induce microglia activation or OPCs differentiation. Concerning the humanized model, the development of the smoldering lesion will be assessed through analysis at different timepoints between three weeks and three months, this will allow the determination the shift from the active lesion seen at three weeks (El Behi\*, Sanson\* et al., 2017) and the smoldering lesion we see at three months. In addition, deciphering the specific time, molecular and cellular mechanisms of lesion evolution will allow us to assess potential therapeutic molecules. To determine location of specific cells (such as MIMS, DAM and human lymphocytes), spatial transcriptomics will be done on the spinal cord of HD and MS lymphocytes grafted mice.

Another objective of the SMARTinMS project is to evaluate potential differences between Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis (RRMS) and Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis (PPMS) in the induction of smoldering lesions in a mouse model. To date, we have grafted lymphocytes from two PPMS patients who were not undergoing any treatment. Interestingly, we have not observed the development of smoldering lesions in mice that received lymphocytes from these patients (data not shown). This finding aligns with the "inside-out" model of progressive MS, which posits that disease progression in PPMS involves distinct mechanisms compared to RRMS.

## C. Concluding remarks

Disease progression in PwMS is driven by PIRA. The treatments of MS improved the quality of life of PwMS. However, PIRA being out of their range of action, ultimately the disease will continue to progress. PIRA are characterized by smoldering lesions and compartmentalized inflammation. We provide a unique *in vivo* model of smoldering lesions. This model will allow us to decipher the steps and mechanisms underlying the transition from a focal inflammation to a chronic compartmentalized inflammation of the CNS. Therefore, we could identify targets of PIRA, and test potential therapeutic molecules on this inflammation driving progression in PwMS that is a critical unmet need. Additionally, we have behavioral and physiological readouts that enable us to study the evolution of the lesions non-invasively. Notably, the physiological readouts correlate with histopathological findings, making them valuable for assessing potential therapeutic drugs effects. With the different scenario of outcomes in our model, we could screen potential therapeutic molecules, and provide an individualized therapy to PwMS, depending on their capacity to remyelinate or induce chronic inflammation within the CNS.

## REFERENCES

- Absinta, M., Maric, D., Gharagozloo, M., Garton, T., Smith, M. D., Jin, J., Fitzgerald, K. C., Song,
  A., Liu, P., Lin, J.-P., Wu, T., Johnson, K. R., McGavern, D. B., Schafer, D. P., Calabresi, P.
  A., & Reich, D. S. (2021). A lymphocyte–microglia–astrocyte axis in chronic active multiple sclerosis. Nature, 597(7878), 709–714. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03892-7
- Absinta, M., Sati, P., Masuzzo, F., Nair, G., Sethi, V., Kolb, H., Ohayon, J., Wu, T., Cortese, I. C. M., & Reich, D. S. (2019). Association of Chronic Active Multiple Sclerosis Lesions with Disability in Vivo. JAMA Neurology, 76(12). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2399
- Ajami, B., Bennett, J. L., Krieger, C., McNagny, K. M., & Rossi, F. M. V. (2011). Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool. Nature Neuroscience, 14(9). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2887
- Albert, M., Antel, J., Brück, W., & Stadelmann, C. (2007). Extensive cortical remyelination in patients with chronic multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathology, 17(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2006.00043.x
- Alfredsson, L., & Olsson, T. (2019). Lifestyle and environmental factors in multiple sclerosis. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028944
- Aloisi, F., Ria, F., & Adorini, L. (2000). Regulation of T-cell responses by CNS antigen-presenting cells: different roles for microglia and astrocytes. Immunology Today, 21(3), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01512-1
- Alrouji, M., Manouchehrinia, A., Gran, B., & Constantinescu, C. S. (2019). Effects of cigarette smoke on immunity, neuroinflammation and multiple sclerosis. In Journal of Neuroimmunology (Vol. 329). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.10.004
- Androdias, G., Reynolds, R., Chanal, M., Ritleng, C., Confavreux, C., & Nataf, S. (2010). Meningeal T cells associate with diffuse axonal loss in multiple sclerosis spinal cords. Annals of Neurology, 68(4), 465–476. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.22054
- Annibali, V., Ristori, G., Angelini, D. F., Serafini, B., Mechelli, R., Cannoni, S., Romano, S., Paolillo, A., Abderrahim, H., Diamantini, A., Borsellino, G., Aloisi, F., Battistini, L., & Salvetti, M. (2011). CD161(high)CD8+T cells bear pathogenetic potential in multiple sclerosis. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 134(Pt 2), 542–554. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWQ354
- Arnett, H. A., Mason, J., Marino, M., Suzuki, K., Matsushima, G. K., & Ting, J. P. Y. (2001). TNFα promotes proliferation of oligodendrocyte progenitors and remyelination. Nature Neuroscience, 4(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn738

- Athanassiou, L., Mavragani, C. P., & Koutsilieris, M. (2022). The Immunomodulatory Properties of
   Vitamin D. Mediterranean Journal of Rheumatology, 33(1).
   https://doi.org/10.31138/MJR.33.1.7
- Babbe, H., Roers, A., Waisman, A., Lassmann, H., Goebels, N., Hohlfeld, R., Friese, M., Schröder, R., Deckert, M., Schmidt, S., Ravid, R., & Rajewsky, K. (2000). Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 192(3), 393–404. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.192.3.393
- Bacmeister, C. M., Barr, H. J., McClain, C. R., Thornton, M. A., Nettles, D., Welle, C. G., & Hughes,
  E. G. (2020). Motor learning promotes remyelination via new and surviving oligodendrocytes.
  Nature Neuroscience, 23(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-0637-3
- Baranzini, S. E., & Oksenberg, J. R. (2017). The Genetics of Multiple Sclerosis: From 0 to 200 in 50 Years. In Trends in Genetics (Vol. 33, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2017.09.004
- Barclay, K. M., Abduljawad, N., Cheng, Z., Kim, M. W., Zhou, L., Yang, J., Rustenhoven, J., Mazzitelli, J. A., Smyth, L. C. D., Kapadia, D., Brioschi, S., Beatty, W., Hou, J. C., Saligrama, N., Colonna, M., Yu, G., Kipnis, J., & Li, Q. (2024). An inducible genetic tool to track and manipulate specific microglial states reveals their plasticity and roles in remyelination. Immunity, 57(6), 1394-1412.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2024.05.005
- Bar-Or, A., Fawaz, L., Fan, B., Darlington, P. J., Rieger, A., Ghorayeb, C., Calabresi, P. A., Waubant, E., Hauser, S. L., Zhang, J., & Smith, C. H. (2010). Abnormal B-cell cytokine responses a trigger of T-cell-mediated disease in MS? Annals of Neurology, 67(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21939
- Beecham, A. H., Amezcua, L., Chinea, A., Manrique, C. P., Gomez, L., Martinez, A., Beecham, G. W., Patsopoulos, N. A., Chitnis, T., Weiner, H. L., De Jager, P. L., Burchard, E. G., Lund, B. T., Fitzgerald, K. C., Calabresi, P. A., Delgado, S. R., Oksenberg, J. R., & McCauley, J. L. (2022). Ancestral risk modification for multiple sclerosis susceptibility detected across the Major Histocompatibility Complex in a multiethnic population. PLoS ONE, 17(12 December). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279132
- Beecham, A. H., Patsopoulos, N. A., Xifara, D. K., Davis, M. F., Kemppinen, A., Cotsapas, C., Shah, T. S., Spencer, C., Booth, D., Goris, A., Oturai, A., Saarela, J., Fontaine, B., Hemmer, B., Martin, C., Zipp, F., D'Alfonso, S., Martinelli-Boneschi, F., Taylor, B., ... McCauley, J. L. (2013). Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. Nature Genetics, 45(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2770

- Bevan, R. J., Evans, R., Griffiths, L., Watkins, L. M., Rees, M. I., Magliozzi, R., Allen, I., McDonnell, G., Kee, R., Naughton, M., Fitzgerald, D. C., Reynolds, R., Neal, J. W., & Howell, O. W. (2018). Meningeal inflammation and cortical demyelination in acute multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 84(6), 829–842. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.25365
- Bieber, A. J., Kerr, S., & Rodriguez, M. (2003). Efficient central nervous system remyelination requires T cells. Annals of Neurology, 53(5), 680–684. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.10578
- Billiau A, & Matthys P. (2005). Modes of action of Freund's adjuvants in experimental models of autoimmune diseases PubMed. J Leukocyte Biol. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11739546/
- Birgbauer, E., Rao, T. S., & Webb, M. (2004). Lysolecithin induces demyelination in vitro in a cerebellar slice culture system. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 78(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.20248
- Bitsch, A., Schuchardt, J., Bunkowski, S., Kuhlmann, T., & Brück, W. (2000). Acute axonal injury in multiple sclerosis. Correlation with demyelination and inflammation. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 123 (Pt 6)(6), 1174–1183. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/123.6.1174
- Bjornevik, K., Cortese, M., Healy, B. C., Kuhle, J., Mina, M. J., Leng, Y., Elledge, S. J., Niebuhr, D. W., Scher, A. I., Munger, K. L., & Ascherio, A. (2022). Longitudinal analysis reveals high prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus associated with multiple sclerosis. Science, 375(6578), 296–301.

https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABJ8222/SUPPL\_FILE/SCIENCE.ABJ8222\_MDAR\_RE PRODUCIBILITY\_CHECKLIST.PDF

- BLAKEMORE, W. F. (1978). OBSERVATIONS ON REMYELINATION IN THE RABBIT SPINAL CORD FOLLOWING DEMYELINATION INDUCED BY LYSOLECITHIN. Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2990.1978.tb00528.x
- Blakemore, W. F., Eames, R. A., Smith, K. J., & Mcdonald, W. I. (1977). Remyelination in the spinal cord of the cat following intraspinal injections of lysolecithin. Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 33(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-510X(77)90179-4
- Blakemore, W. F., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2008). Remyelination in experimental models of toxininduced demyelination. In Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology (Vol. 318). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-73677-6\_8
- Blindenbacher, N., Brunner, E., Asseyer, S., Scheel, M., Siebert, N., Rasche, L., Bellmann-Strobl, J., Brandt, A., Ruprecht, K., Meier, D., Wuerfel, J., Paul, F., & Sinnecker, T. (2020). Evaluation of the 'ring sign' and the 'core sign' as a magnetic resonance imaging marker of disease activity

and progression in clinically isolated syndrome and early multiple sclerosis. Multiple SclerosisJournal-Experimental,TranslationalandClinical,6(1).https://doi.org/10.1177/2055217320915480

- Bö, L., Mörk, S., Kong, P. A., Nyland, H., Pardo, C. A., & Trapp, B. D. (1994). Detection of MHC class II-antigens on macrophages and microglia, but not on astrocytes and endothelia in active multiple sclerosis lesions. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 51(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-5728(94)90075-2
- Bodini, B., Poirion, E., Tonietto, M., Benoit, C., Palladino, R., Maillart, E., Portera, E., Battaglini, M., Bera, G., Kuhnast, B., Louapre, C., Bottlaender, M., & Stankoff, B. (2020). Individual mapping of innate immune cell activation is a candidate marker of patient-specific trajectories of worsening disability in multiple sclerosis. Journal of Nuclear Medicine, 61(7). https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.119.231340
- Bodini, B., Veronese, M., García-Lorenzo, D., Battaglini, M., Poirion, E., Chardain, A., Freeman, L., Louapre, C., Tchikviladze, M., Papeix, C., Dollé, F., Zalc, B., Lubetzki, C., Bottlaender, M., Turkheimer, F., & Stankoff, B. (2016). Dynamic Imaging of Individual Remyelination Profiles in Multiple Sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 79(5), 726–738. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24620
- Bogie, J. F. J., Grajchen, E., Wouters, E., Corrales, A. G., Dierckx, T., Vanherle, S., Mailleux, J., Gervois, P., Wolfs, E., Dehairs, J., van Broeckhoven, J., Bowman, A. P., Lambrichts, I., Gustafsson, J. Å., Remaley, A. T., Mulder, M., Swinnen, J. V., Haidar, M., Ellis, S. R., ... Hendriks, J. J. A. (2020). Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 impairs the reparative properties of macrophages and microglia in the brain. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 217(5). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20191660
- Bogie, J. F. J., Jorissen, W., Mailleux, J., Nijland, P. G., Zelcer, N., Vanmierlo, T., Van Horssen, J., Stinissen, P., Hellings, N., & Hendriks, J. J. A. (2014). Myelin alters the inflammatory phenotype of macrophages by activating PPARs. Acta Neuropathologica Communications, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-5960-1-43
- Bogie, J. F. J., Stinissen, P., Hellings, N., & Hendriks, J. J. A. (2011). Myelin-phagocytosing macrophages modulate autoreactive T cell proliferation. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-85
- Bogie, J. F. J., Timmermans, S., Huynh-Thu, V. A., Irrthum, A., Smeets, H. J. M., Gustafsson, J. Å., Steffensen, K. R., Mulder, M., Stinissen, P., Hellings, N., & Hendriks, J. J. A. (2012). Myelin-Derived Lipids Modulate Macrophage Activity by Liver X Receptor Activation. PLoS ONE, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044998

- Borziak, K., & Finkelstein, J. (2022). X-linked genetic risk factors that promote autoimmunity and dampen remyelination are associated with multiple sclerosis susceptibility. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders, 66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2022.104065
- Böttcher, C., Schlickeiser, S., Sneeboer, M. A. M., Kunkel, D., Knop, A., Paza, E., Fidzinski, P., Kraus, L., Snijders, G. J. L., Kahn, R. S., Schulz, A. R., Mei, H. E., Hol, E. M., Siegmund, B., Glauben, R., Spruth, E. J., de Witte, L. D., & Priller, J. (2019). Human microglia regional heterogeneity and phenotypes determined by multiplexed single-cell mass cytometry. Nature Neuroscience, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0290-2
- Boven, L. A., Van Meurs, M., Van Zwam, M., Wierenga-Wolf, A., Hintzen, R. Q., Boot, R. G., Aerts, J. M., Amor, S., Nieuwenhuis, E. E., & Laman, J. D. (2006). Myelin-laden macrophages are anti-inflammatory, consistent with foam cells in multiple sclerosis. Brain, 129(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh707
- Boyd, A., Zhang, H., & Williams, A. (2013). Insufficient OPC migration into demyelinated lesions is a cause of poor remyelination in MS and mouse models. Acta Neuropathologica, 125(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1112-y
- Breij, E. C. W., Brink, B. P., Veerhuis, R., Van Den Berg, C., Vloet, R., Yan, R., Dijkstra, C. D., Van Der Valk, P., & Bö, L. (2008). Homogeneity of active demyelinating lesions in established multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 63(1), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21311
- Brucklacher-Waldert, V., Stuerner, K., Kolster, M., Wolthausen, J., & Tolosa, E. (2009). Phenotypical and functional characterization of T helper 17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 132(Pt 12), 3329–3341. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWP289
- Brynedal, B., Duvefelt, K., Jonasdottir, G., Roos, I. M., Åkesson, E., Palmgren, J., & Hillert, J. (2007). HLA-A confers an HLA-DRB1 independent influence on the risk of multiple sclerosis. PLoS ONE, 2(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000664
- Buck, D., & Hemmer, B. (2011). Treatment of multiple sclerosis: Current concepts and future perspectives. In Journal of Neurology (Vol. 258, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-6101-2
- BUNGE, M. B., BUNGE, R. P., & RIS, H. (1961). Ultrastructural study of remyelination in an experimental lesion in adult cat spinal cord. The Journal of Biophysical and Biochemical Cytology, 10. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.10.1.67
- Butovsky, O., & Weiner, H. L. (2018). Microglial signatures and their role in health and disease. In Nature Reviews Neuroscience (Vol. 19, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0057-5

- Butovsky, O., Ziv, Y., Schwartz, A., Landa, G., Talpalar, A. E., Pluchino, S., Martino, G., & Schwartz, M. (2006). Microglia activated by IL-4 or IFN-γ differentially induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis from adult stem/progenitor cells. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience, 31(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2005.10.006
- Cajal, S. R. (1928). Degeneration and Regeneration of the Central Nervous System. Humphrey Milford/Oxford University Press, London, 734–760.
- Calvi, A., Carrasco, F. P., Tur, C., Chard, D. T., Stutters, J., De Angelis, F., John, N., Williams, T., Doshi, A., Samson, R. S., MacManus, D., Gandini Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A., Ciccarelli, O., Chataway, J., & Barkhof, F. (2022). Association of Slowly Expanding Lesions on MRI With Disability in People With Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology, 98(17), E1783–E1793. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000200144
- Calvi, A., Tur, C., Chard, D., Stutters, J., Ciccarelli, O., Cortese, R., Battaglini, M., Pietroboni, A., De Riz, M., Galimberti, D., Scarpini, E., De Stefano, N., Prados, F., & Barkhof, F. (2022). Slowly expanding lesions relate to persisting black-holes and clinical outcomes in relapse-onset multiple sclerosis. NeuroImage: Clinical, 35, 103048. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NICL.2022.103048
- Cencioni, M. T., Ali, R., Nicholas, R., & Muraro, P. A. (2021). Defective CD19+CD24hiCD38hi transitional B-cell function in patients with relapsing-remitting MS. Multiple Sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England), 27(8), 1187–1197. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458520951536
- Chari, D. M. (2007). Remyelination In Multiple Sclerosis. In International Review of Neurobiology (Vol. 79, pp. 589–620). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(07)79026-8
- Chase, A. (2015). Multiple sclerosis: 7 T MRI reveals cortical lesions associated with disability in MS. In Nature Reviews Neurology (Vol. 11, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2015.140
- Chi, C., Shao, X., Rhead, B., Gonzales, E., Smith, J. B., Xiang, A. H., Graves, J., Waldman, A., Lotze, T., Schreiner, T., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Aaen, G., Tillema, J. M., Ness, J., Candee, M., Krupp, L., Gorman, M., Benson, L., Chitnis, T., ... Barcellos, L. F. (2019). Admixture mapping reveals evidence of differential multiple sclerosis risk by genetic ancestry. PLoS Genetics, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1007808
- Choi, S. R., Howell, O. W., Carassiti, D., Magliozzi, R., Gveric, D., Muraro, P. A., Nicholas, R., Roncaroli, F., & Reynolds, R. (2012). Meningeal inflammation plays a role in the pathology of

primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 135(Pt 10), 2925–2937. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWS189

- Claes, N., Fraussen, J., Stinissen, P., Hupperts, R., & Somers, V. (2015). B cells are multifunctional players in multiple sclerosis pathogenesis: Insights from therapeutic interventions. In Frontiers in Immunology (Vol. 6, Issue DEC). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00642
- Compston, A., & Coles, A. (2008). Multiple sclerosis. The Lancet, 372(9648), 1502–1517. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Constantinescu, C. S., Farooqi, N., O'Brien, K., & Gran, B. (2011). Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). In British Journal of Pharmacology (Vol. 164, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01302.x
- Correale, J., & De los Milagros Bassani Molinas, M. (2002). Oligoclonal bands and antibody responses in Multiple Sclerosis. In Journal of Neurology (Vol. 249, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150200026
- Cree, B. A. C., Hollenbach, J. A., Bove, R., Kirkish, G., Sacco, S., Caverzasi, E., Bischof, A., Gundel, T., Zhu, A. H., Papinutto, N., Stern, W. A., Bevan, C., Romeo, A., Goodin, D. S., Gelfand, J. M., Graves, J., Green, A. J., Wilson, M. R., Zamvil, S. S., ... Hauser, S. L. (2019). Silent progression in disease activity–free relapsing multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 85(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25463
- Cunha, M. I., Su, M., Cantuti-Castelvetri, L., Müller, S. A., Schifferer, M., Djannatian, M., Alexopoulos, I., van der Meer, F., Winkler, A., van Ham, T. J., Schmid, B., Lichtenthaler, S. F., Stadelmann, C., & Simons, M. (2020). Pro-inflammatory activation following demyelination is required for myelin clearance and oligodendrogenesis. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 217(5). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20191390
- Dal Canto, M. C., & Lipton, H. L. (1977). Multiple sclerosis. Animal model: Theiler's virus infection in mice. American Journal of Pathology, 88(2).
- Dal-Bianco, A., Grabner, G., Kronnerwetter, C., Weber, M., Höftberger, R., Berger, T., Auff, E., Leutmezer, F., Trattnig, S., Lassmann, H., Bagnato, F., & Hametner, S. (2017). Slow expansion of multiple sclerosis iron rim lesions: pathology and 7 T magnetic resonance imaging. Acta Neuropathologica, 133(1), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-016-1636-Z
- Danikowski, K. M., Jayaraman, S., & Prabhakar, B. S. (2017). Regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis and myasthenia gravis. In Journal of Neuroinflammation (Vol. 14, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-017-0892-8

- de la Vega Gallardo, N., Penalva, R., Dittmer, M., Naughton, M., Falconer, J., Moffat, J., de la Fuente, A. G., Hombrebueno, J. R., Lin, Z., Perbal, B., Ingram, R. J., Evergren, E., & Fitzgerald, D. C. (2020). Dynamic CCN3 expression in the murine CNS does not confer essential roles in myelination or remyelination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 117(30). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1922089117
- Deczkowska, A., Keren-Shaul, H., Weiner, A., Colonna, M., Schwartz, M., & Amit, I. (2018). Disease-Associated Microglia: A Universal Immune Sensor of Neurodegeneration. In Cell (Vol. 173, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.003
- Dettke, M., Scheidt, P., Prange, H., & Kirchner, H. (1997). Correlation between interferon production and clinical disease activity in patients with multiple sclerosis. Journal of Clinical Immunology, 17(4), 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1027374615106
- Dobson, R., Ramagopalan, S., Davis, A., & Giovannoni, G. (2013). Cerebrospinal fluid oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndromes: A meta-analysis of prevalence, prognosis and effect of latitude. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 84(8). https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2012-304695
- Dombrowski, Y., O'Hagan, T., DIttmer, M., Penalva, R., Mayoral, S. R., Bankhead, P., Fleville, S., Eleftheriadis, G., Zhao, C., Naughton, M., Hassan, R., Moffat, J., Falconer, J., Boyd, A., Hamilton, P., Allen, I. V., Kissenpfennig, A., Moynagh, P. N., Evergren, E., ... Fitzgerald, D. C. (2017). Regulatory T cells promote myelin regeneration in the central nervous system. Nature Neuroscience, 20(5). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4528
- Duddy, M., Niino, M., Adatia, F., Hebert, S., Freedman, M., Atkins, H., Kim, H. J., & Bar-Or, A. (2007). Distinct Effector Cytokine Profiles of Memory and Naive Human B Cell Subsets and Implication in Multiple Sclerosis. The Journal of Immunology, 178(10). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6092
- Dulamea, A. O. (2017). The contribution of oligodendrocytes and oligodendrocyte progenitor cells to central nervous system repair in multiple sclerosis: Perspectives for remyelination therapeutic strategies. In Neural Regeneration Research (Vol. 12, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.221146
- Duncan, G. J., Ingram, S. D., Emberley, K., Hill, J., Cordano, C., Abdelhak, A., Mccane, M., Jabassini, N., Ananth, K., Ferrara, S. J., Stedelin, B., Sivyer, B., Aicher, S. A., Scanlan, T., Watkins, T. A., Mishra, A., Nelson, J., Green, A. J., & Emery, B. (2023). Remyelination protects neurons from DLK-mediated neurodegeneration. BioRxiv.

- Duncan, G. J., Plemel, J. R., Assinck, P., Manesh, S. B., Muir, F. G. W., Hirata, R., Berson, M., Liu, J., Wegner, M., Emery, B., Moore, G. R. W., & Tetzlaff, W. (2017). Myelin regulatory factor drives remyelination in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neuropathologica, 134(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-017-1741-7
- Duncan, I. D., Radcliff, A. B., Heidari, M., Kidd, G., August, B. K., & Wierenga, L. A. (2018). The adult oligodendrocyte can participate in remyelination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(50). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1808064115
- Durelli, L., Conti, L., Clerico, M., Boselli, D., Contessa, G., Ripellino, P., Ferrero, B., Eid, P., & Novelli, F. (2009). T-helper 17 cells expand in multiple sclerosis and are inhibited by interferon-beta. Annals of Neurology, 65(5), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.21652
- El Behi, M., Sanson, C., Bachelin, C., Na Guillot-Noë, L., Fransson, J., Stankoff, B., Maillart, E., Ge Sarrazin, N., Guillemot, V., Abdi, H., Cournu-Rebeix, I., Fontaine, Ã. B., & Zujovic, V. (2017). Adaptive human immunity drives remyelination in a mouse model of demyelination. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx008
- Elliott, C., Belachew, S., Wolinsky, J. S., Hauser, S. L., Kappos, L., Barkhof, F., Bernasconi, C., Fecker, J., Model, F., Wei, W., & Arnold, D. L. (2019). Chronic white matter lesion activity predicts clinical progression in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain, 142(9). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awz212
- Elliott, C., Lindner, M., Arthur, A., Brennan, K., Jarius, S., Hussey, J., Chan, A., Stroet, A., Olsson, T., Willison, H., Barnett, S. C., Meinl, E., & Linington, C. (2012). Functional identification of pathogenic autoantibody responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. Brain, 135(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws105
- Emery, B., Agalliu, D., Cahoy, J. D., Watkins, T. A., Dugas, J. C., Mulinyawe, S. B., Ibrahim, A., Ligon, K. L., Rowitch, D. H., & Barres, B. A. (2009). Myelin Gene Regulatory Factor Is a Critical Transcriptional Regulator Required for CNS Myelination. Cell, 138(1), 172–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.031
- Emre, M., & Decker, C. (1992). Effects of Cigarette Smoking on Motor Functions in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis. Archives of Neurology, 49(12), 1243–1247. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHNEUR.1992.00530360041015
- Enz, L., Jaggi, S., Huemer, P., & Schaeren-Wiemers, N. (2021). The Role of Whole Genome Gene Expression Studies in Deciphering Cortical Grey Matter Pathology in Multiple Sclerosis. https://doi.org/10.4172/jceni.1000125

- Esiri, M. M. (1977). Immunoglobulin-containing cells in multiple-sclerosis plaques. Lancet (London, England), 2(8036), 478–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(77)91603-8
- ESIRI, M. M. (1980). Multiple sclerosis: a quantitative and qualitative study of immunoglobulincontaining cells in the central nervous system. Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology, 6(1), 9–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2990.1980.TB00199.X
- Fagnani, C., Neale, M. C., Nisticò, L., Stazi, M. A., Ricigliano, V. A., Buscarinu, M. C., Salvetti, M., & Ristori, G. (2015). Twin studies in multiple sclerosis: A meta-estimation of heritability and environmentality. Multiple Sclerosis, 21(11). https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458514564492
- Faissner, S., Plemel, J. R., Gold, R., & Yong, V. W. (2019). Progressive multiple sclerosis: from pathophysiology to therapeutic strategies. In Nature Reviews Drug Discovery (Vol. 18, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-019-0035-2
- Fancy, S. P. J., Zhao, C., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2004). Increased expression of Nkx2.2 and Olig2 identifies reactive oligodendrocyte progenitor cells responding to demyelination in the adult CNS. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience, 27(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2004.06.015
- Feltri, M. L., Poitelon, Y., & Previtali, S. C. (2016). How Schwann Cells Sort Axons: New Concepts. The Neuroscientist: A Review Journal Bringing Neurobiology, Neurology and Psychiatry, 22(3), 252. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858415572361
- Fletcher, J. M., Lalor, S. J., Sweeney, C. M., Tubridy, N., & Mills, K. H. G. (2010). T cells in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. In Clinical and Experimental Immunology (Vol. 162, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04143.x
- Franklin, R. J. M. (2002). Why does remyelination fail in multiple sclerosis? In Nature Reviews Neuroscience (Vol. 3, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn917
- Franklin, R. J. M., & Ffrench-Constant, C. (2008). Remyelination in the CNS: From biology to therapy. In Nature Reviews Neuroscience (Vol. 9, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2480
- Franklin, R. J. M., Frisén, J., & Lyons, D. A. (2021). Revisiting remyelination: Towards a consensus on the regeneration of CNS myelin. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 116, 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCDB.2020.09.009
- Franklin, R. J. M., Gilson, J. M., & Blakemore, W. F. (1997). Local recruitment of remyelinating cells in the repair of demyelination in the central nervous system. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 50(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19971015)50:2<337::AID-JNR21>3.0.CO;2-3

- Fransen, N. L., Hsiao, C. C., Van Der Poel, M., Engelenburg, H. J., Verdaasdonk, K., Vincenten, M. C. J., Remmerswaal, E. B. M., Kuhlmann, T., Mason, M. R. J., Hamann, J., Smolders, J., & Huitinga, I. (2020). Tissue-resident memory T cells invade the brain parenchyma in multiple sclerosis white matter lesions. Brain: A Journal of Neurology, 143(6), 1714–1730. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWAA117
- Fransson, J., Bachelin, C., Deknuydt, F., Ichou, F., Guillot-Noël, L., Ponnaiah, M., Gloaguen, A., Maillart, E., Stankoff, B., Tenenhaus, A., Mochel, F., Fontaine, B., Louapre, C., & Zujovic, V. (2021). Dysregulated functional and metabolic response in multiple sclerosis patient macrophages correlate with a more inflammatory state, reminiscent of trained immunity. BioRxiv.
- Freund, J., & Mcdermott, K. (1942). Sensitization to Horse Serum by Means of Adjuvants. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 49(4). https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-49-13625
- Freund, J., Stern, E. R., & Pisani, T. M. (1947). Isoallergic Encephalomyelitis and Radiculitis in Guinea Pigs After One Injection of Brain and Mycobacteria in Water-in-Oil Emulsion. The Journal of Immunology, 57(2). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.57.2.179
- Friese, M. A., & Fugger, L. (2009). Pathogenic CD8(+) T cells in multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 66(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.21744
- Frieser, D., Pignata, A., Khajavi, L., Shlesinger, D., Gonzalez-Fierro, C., Nguyen, X. H., Yermanos, A., Merkler, D., Höftberger, R., Desestret, V., Mair, K. M., Bauer, J., Masson, F., & Liblau, R. S. (2022). Tissue-resident CD8+ T cells drive compartmentalized and chronic autoimmune damage against CNS neurons. Science Translational Medicine, 14(640). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abl6157
- Frischer, J. M., Bramow, S., Dal-Bianco, A., Lucchinetti, C. F., Rauschka, H., Schmidbauer, M., Laursen, H., Sorensen, P. S., & Lassmann, H. (2009). The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. Brain, 132(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp070
- Frischer, J. M., Weigand, S. D., Guo, Y., Kale, N., Parisi, J. E., Pirko, I., Mandrekar, J., Bramow, S., Metz, I., Brück, W., Lassmann, H., & Lucchinetti, C. F. (2015). Clinical and Pathological Insights into the Dynamic Nature of the White Matter Multiple Sclerosis Plaque. Annals of Neurology, 78(5), 710. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.24497
- Gibson, E. M., Purger, D., Mount, C. W., Goldstein, A. K., Lin, G. L., Wood, L. S., Inema, I., Miller,S. E., Bieri, G., Zuchero, J. B., Barres, B. A., Woo, P. J., Vogel, H., & Monje, M. (2014).
Neuronal Activity Promotes Oligodendrogenesis and Adaptive Myelination in the MammalianBrain.Science(New York, N.Y.), 344(6183), 1252304.https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1252304

- Gjelstrup, M. C., Stilund, M., Petersen, T., Møller, H. J., Petersen, E. L., & Christensen, T. (2018). Subsets of activated monocytes and markers of inflammation in incipient and progressed multiple sclerosis. Immunology and Cell Biology, 96(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/imcb.1025
- Gobin, S., Montagne, L., Van Zutphen, M., Van Der Valk, P., Van Den Elsen, P., & De Groot, C. (2001). Upregulation of transcription factors controlling MHC expression in multiple sclerosis lesions. Glia, 36(1), 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/GLIA.1096
- Goldschmidt, T., Antel, J., König, F. B., Brück, W., & Kuhlmann, T. (2009). Remyelination capacity of the MS brain decreases with disease chronicity. Neurology, 72(22). https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181a8260a
- Grajchen, E., Wouters, E., Van De Haterd, B., Haidar, M., Hardonnière, K., Dierckx, T., Van Broeckhoven, J., Erens, C., Hendrix, S., Kerdine-Römer, S., Hendriks, J. J. A., & Bogie, J. F. J. (2020). CD36-mediated uptake of myelin debris by macrophages and microglia reduces neuroinflammation. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-020-01899-x
- Greenhalgh, A. D., Zarruk, J. G., Healy, L. M., Baskar Jesudasan, S. J., Jhelum, P., Salmon, C. K., Formanek, A., Russo, M. V., Antel, J. P., McGavern, D. B., McColl, B. W., & David, S. (2018).
  Peripherally derived macrophages modulate microglial function to reduce inflammation after CNS injury. PLoS Biology, 16(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2005264
- Grzegorski, T., & Losy, J. (2017). Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis A review of current knowledge and recent research. In Reviews in the Neurosciences (Vol. 28, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2017-0011
- Haider, L., Zrzavy, T., Hametner, S., Höftberger, R., Bagnato, F., Grabner, G., Trattnig, S., Pfeifenbring, S., Brück, W., & Lassmann, H. (2016). The topograpy of demyelination and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 139(Pt 3), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWV398
- Hall, S. M. (1972). The effect of injections of lysophosphatidyl choline into white matter of the adult mouse spinal cord. Journal of Cell Science, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.10.2.535
- Hall, S. M., & Gregson, N. A. (1971). The in vivo and ultrastructural effects of injection of lysophosphatidyl choline into myelinated peripheral nerve fibres of the adult mouse. Journal of Cell Science, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.9.3.769

- Hametner, S., Wimmer, I., Haider, L., Pfeifenbring, S., Brück, W., & Lassmann, H. (2013). Iron and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. Annals of Neurology, 74(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23974
- Hamza, F. N., Daher, S., Fakhoury, H. M. A., Grant, W. B., Kvietys, P. R., & Al-Kattan, K. (2023). Immunomodulatory Properties of Vitamin D in the Intestinal and Respiratory Systems. In Nutrients (Vol. 15, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15071696
- Hamzaoui, M., Garcia, J., Boffa, G., Lazzarotto, A., Absinta, M., Ricigliano, V. A. G., Soulier, T., Tonietto, M., Gervais, P., Bissery, A., Louapre, C., Bottlaender, M., Bodini, B., & Stankoff, B. (2023). Positron Emission Tomography with [<scp>18F</scp>]-<scp>DPA</scp>-714 Unveils a Smoldering Component in Most Multiple Sclerosis Lesions which Drives Disease Progression. Annals of Neurology, 94(2), 366–383. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.26657
- Hauser, S. L., & Cree, B. A. C. (2020). Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis: A Review. In American Journal of Medicine (Vol. 133, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2020.05.049
- Hayashi, T., Morimoto, C., Burks, J. S., Kerr, C., & Hauser, S. L. (1988). Dual-label immunocytochemistry of the active multiple sclerosis lesion: major histocompatibility complex and activation antigens. Annals of Neurology, 24(4), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.410240408
- Healy, L. M., Perron, G., Won, S.-Y., Michell-Robinson, M. A., Rezk, A., Ludwin, S. K., Moore, C. S., Hall, J. A., Bar-Or, A., & Antel, J. P. (2016). MerTK Is a Functional Regulator of Myelin Phagocytosis by Human Myeloid Cells. The Journal of Immunology, 196(8), 3375–3384. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1502562
- Healy, L. M., Stratton, J. A., Kuhlmann, T., & Antel, J. (2022). The role of glial cells in multiple sclerosis disease progression. In Nature Reviews Neurology (Vol. 18, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-022-00624-x
- Hedström, A. K. (2023). Risk factors for multiple sclerosis in the context of Epstein-Barr virus infection. In Frontiers in Immunology (Vol. 14). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1212676
- Hedström, A. K., Bäärnhielm, M., Olsson, T., & Alfredsson, L. (2011). Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke is associated with increased risk for multiple sclerosis. Http://Dx.Doi.Org.Proxy.Insermbiblio.Inist.Fr/10.1177/1352458511399610, 17(7), 788–793. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458511399610
- Hedström, A. K., Olsson, T., & Alfredsson, L. (2016). Smoking is a major preventable risk factor for multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis, 22(8). https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458515609794

- Hedström, A. K., Olsson, T., Kockum, I., Hillert, J., & Alfredsson, L. (2020). Low sun exposure increases multiple sclerosis risk both directly and indirectly. Journal of Neurology, 267(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-019-09677-3
- Hendrickx, D. A. E., van Eden, C. G., Schuurman, K. G., Hamann, J., & Huitinga, I. (2017). Staining of HLA-DR, Iba1 and CD68 in human microglia reveals partially overlapping expression depending on cellular morphology and pathology. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.04.007
- Hernán, M. A., Jick, S. S., Logroscino, G., Olek, M. J., Ascherio, A., & Jick, H. (2005). Cigarette smoking and the progression of multiple sclerosis. Brain, 128(6), 1461–1465. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWH471
- Hikawa, N., & Takenaka, T. (1996). Myelin-stimulated macrophages release neurotrophic factors for adult dorsal root ganglion neurons in culture. Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology, 16(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02150231
- Hollenbach, J. A., & Oksenberg, J. R. (2015). The immunogenetics of multiple sclerosis: A comprehensive review. In Journal of Autoimmunity (Vol. 64). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2015.06.010
- Hornig, J., Fröb, F., Vogl, M. R., Hermans-Borgmeyer, I., Tamm, E. R., & Wegner, M. (2013). The Transcription Factors Sox10 and Myrf Define an Essential Regulatory Network Module in Differentiating Oligodendrocytes. PLoS Genetics, 9(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003907
- Houen, G., Trier, N. H., & Frederiksen, J. L. (2020). Epstein-Barr Virus and Multiple Sclerosis. In Frontiers in Immunology (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.587078
- Howell, O. W., Reeves, C. A., Nicholas, R., Carassiti, D., Radotra, B., Gentleman, S. M., Serafini, B., Aloisi, F., Roncaroli, F., Magliozzi, R., & Reynolds, R. (2011). Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. Brain: A Journal of Neurology, 134(Pt 9), 2755–2771. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWR182
- Hsiao, C. C., Fransen, N. L., van den Bosch, A. M. R., Brandwijk, K. I. M., Huitinga, I., Hamann, J., & Smolders, J. (2021). White matter lesions in multiple sclerosis are enriched for CD20dim CD8+ tissue-resident memory T cells. In European Journal of Immunology (Vol. 51, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.202048665
- Huitema, M. J. D., Strijbis, E. M. M., Luchicchi, A., Bol, J. G. J. M., Plemel, J. R., Geurts, J. J. G.,& Schenk, G. J. (2021). Myelin quantification in white matter pathology of progressive multiple

sclerosis post-mortem brain samples: A new approach for quantifying remyelination. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 22(23). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312634

- Hvilsted Nielsen, H., Toft-Hansen, H., Lambertsen, K. L., Owens, T., & Finsen, B. (2011). Stimulation of adult oligodendrogenesis by myelin-specific T cells. American Journal of Pathology, 179(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.06.006
- Jack, C., Ruffini, F., Bar-Or, A., & Antel, J. P. (2005). Microglia and multiple sclerosis. In Journal of Neuroscience Research (Vol. 81, Issue 3, pp. 363–373). https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.20482
- Jäckle, K., Zeis, T., Schaeren-Wiemers, N., Junker, A., van der Meer, F., Kramann, N., Stadelmann, C., & Brück, W. (2020). Molecular signature of slowly expanding lesions in progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain, 143(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa158
- Jagessar, S. A., Heijmans, N., Bauer, J., Blezer, E. L. A., Laman, J. D., Migone, T. S., Devalaraja, M. N., & Hart, B. A. (2012). Antibodies against human BLyS and APRIL attenuate EAE development in marmoset monkeys. Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-012-9384-x
- Jäkel, S., Agirre, E., Mendanha Falcão, A., van Bruggen, D., Lee, K. W., Knuesel, I., Malhotra, D., ffrench-Constant, C., Williams, A., & Castelo-Branco, G. (2019). Altered human oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in multiple sclerosis. Nature, 566(7745). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0903-2
- Jeffery, N. D., & Blakemore, W. F. (1995). Remyelination of mouse spinal cord axons demyelinated by local injection of lysolecithin. Journal of Neurocytology, 24(10). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01191213
- Jeffery, N. D., & Blakemore, W. F. (1997). Locomotor deficits induced by experimental spinal cord demyelination are abolished by spontaneous remyelination. Brain, 120(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/120.1.27
- Jelcic, I., Al Nimer, F., Wang, J., Lentsch, V., Planas, R., Jelcic, I., Madjovski, A., Ruhrmann, S., Faigle, W., Frauenknecht, K., Pinilla, C., Santos, R., Hammer, C., Ortiz, Y., Opitz, L., Grönlund, H., Rogler, G., Boyman, O., Reynolds, R., ... Martin, R. (2018). Memory B Cells Activate Brain-Homing, Autoreactive CD4+ T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis. Cell, 175(1), 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2018.08.011
- Junker, A., Ivanidze, J., Malotka, J., Eiglmeier, I., Lassmann, H., Wekerle, H., Meinl, E., Hohlfeld, R., & Dornmair, K. (2007). Multiple sclerosis: T-cell receptor expression in distinct brain regions. Brain: A Journal of Neurology, 130(Pt 11), 2789–2799. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWM214

- Junker, A., Wozniak, J., Voigt, D., Scheidt, U., Antel, J., Wegner, C., Brück, W., & Stadelmann, C. (2020). Extensive subpial cortical demyelination is specific to multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathology, 30(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12813
- Kabat, E. A., Wolf, A., & Bezer, A. E. (1947). THE RAPID PRODUCTION OF ACUTE DISSEMINATED ENCEPHALOMYELITIS IN RHESUS MONKEYS BY INJECTION OF HETEROLOGOUS AND HOMOLOGOUS BRAIN TISSUE WITH ADJUVANTS. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 85(1). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.85.1.117
- Kamm, C. P., Uitdehaag, B. M., & Polman, C. H. (2014). Multiple sclerosis: Current knowledge and future outlook. European Neurology, 72(3–4). https://doi.org/10.1159/000360528
- Kappos, L., Wolinsky, J. S., Giovannoni, G., Arnold, D. L., Wang, Q., Bernasconi, C., Model, F., Koendgen, H., Manfrini, M., Belachew, S., & Hauser, S. L. (2020). Contribution of Relapse-Independent Progression vs Relapse-Associated Worsening to Overall Confirmed Disability Accumulation in Typical Relapsing Multiple Sclerosis in a Pooled Analysis of 2 Randomized Clinical Trials. JAMA Neurology, 77(9). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1568
- Kebir, H., Ifergan, I., Alvarez, J. I., Bernard, M., Poirier, J., Arbour, N., Duquette, P., & Prat, A. (2009). Preferential recruitment of interferon-gamma-expressing TH17 cells in multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 66(3), 390–402. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.21748
- Kebir, H., Kreymborg, K., Ifergan, I., Dodelet-Devillers, A., Cayrol, R., Bernard, M., Giuliani, F., Arbour, N., Becher, B., & Prat, A. (2007). Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nature Medicine, 13(10), 1173. https://doi.org/10.1038/NM1651
- Kim, E. J., & Yu, S. W. (2015). Translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO): Old dogma, new mice, new structure, and new questions for neuroprotection. Neural Regeneration Research, 10(6). https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.158338
- Kim, Y., Kim, G., Shin, H. J., Hyun, J. W., Kim, S. H., Lee, E., & Kim, H. J. (2018). Restoration of regulatory B cell deficiency following alemtuzumab therapy in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12974-018-1334-Y
- Kirby, L., Jin, J., Cardona, J. G., Smith, M. D., Martin, K. A., Wang, J., Strasburger, H., Herbst, L., Alexis, M., Karnell, J., Davidson, T., Dutta, R., Goverman, J., Bergles, D., & Calabresi, P. A. (2019). Oligodendrocyte precursor cells present antigen and are cytotoxic targets in inflammatory demyelination. Nature Communications, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11638-3

- Klotz, L., Antel, J., & Kuhlmann, T. (2023). Inflammation in multiple sclerosis: consequences for remyelination and disease progression. Nature Reviews Neurology 2023 19:5, 19(5), 305–320. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41582-023-00801-6
- Knippenberg, S., Peelen, E., Smolders, J., Thewissen, M., Menheere, P., Cohen Tervaert, J. W., Hupperts, R., & Damoiseaux, J. (2011). Reduction in IL-10 producing B cells (Breg) in multiple sclerosis is accompanied by a reduced naïve/memory Breg ratio during a relapse but not in remission. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 239(1–2), 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUROIM.2011.08.019
- Kostic, M., Dzopalic, T., Zivanovic, S., Zivkovic, N., Cvetanovic, A., Stojanovic, I., Vojinovic, S., Marjanovic, G., Savic, V., & Colic, M. (2014). IL-17 and glutamate excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 79(3), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1111/SJI.12147
- Kostic, M., Stojanovic, I., Marjanovic, G., Zivkovic, N., & Cvetanovic, A. (2015). Deleterious versus protective autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis. Cellular Immunology, 296(2), 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELLIMM.2015.04.006
- Kotter, M. R., Li, W. W., Zhao, C., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2006). Myelin impairs CNS remyelination by inhibiting oligodendrocyte precursor cell differentiation. Journal of Neuroscience, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2615-05.2006
- Kotter, M. R., Setzu, A., Sim, F. J., Van Rooijen, N., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2001). Macrophage depletion impairs oligodendrocyte remyelination following lysolecithin-induced demyelination. GLIA, 35(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.1085
- Krasemann, S., Madore, C., Cialic, R., Baufeld, C., Calcagno, N., El Fatimy, R., Beckers, L., O'Loughlin, E., Xu, Y., Fanek, Z., Greco, D. J., Smith, S. T., Tweet, G., Humulock, Z., Zrzavy, T., Conde-Sanroman, P., Gacias, M., Weng, Z., Chen, H., ... Butovsky, O. (2017). The TREM2-APOE Pathway Drives the Transcriptional Phenotype of Dysfunctional Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Immunity, 47(3), 566-581.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2017.08.008
- Küçükali, C. İ., Kürtüncü, M., Çoban, A., Çebi, M., & Tüzün, E. (2015). Epigenetics of Multiple Sclerosis: An Updated Review. In NeuroMolecular Medicine (Vol. 17, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-014-8298-6
- Kuhlmann, T., Lingfeld, G., Bitsch, A., Schuchardt, J., & Brück, W. (2002). Acute axonal damage in multiple sclerosis is most extensive in early disease stages and decreases over time. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 125(Pt 10), 2202–2212. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWF235

- Kuhlmann, T., Ludwin, S., Prat, A., Antel, J., Brück, W., & Lassmann, H. (2017). An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. Acta Neuropathologica, 133(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-016-1653-Y
- Kuhlmann, T., Miron, V., Cuo, Q., Wegner, C., Antel, J., & Brück, W. (2008). Differentiation block of oligodendroglial progenitor cells as a cause for remyelination failure in chronic multiple sclerosis. Brain, 131(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn096
- Kumar, B. V., Ma, W., Miron, M., Granot, T., Guyer, R. S., Carpenter, D. J., Senda, T., Sun, X., Ho, S. H., Lerner, H., Friedman, A. L., Shen, Y., & Farber, D. L. (2017). Human Tissue-Resident Memory T Cells Are Defined by Core Transcriptional and Functional Signatures in Lymphoid and Mucosal Sites. Cell Reports, 20(12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.078
- Kurtzke, J. F. (1983). Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: An expanded disability status scale (EDSS). Neurology, 33(11). https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.33.11.1444
- Küspert, M., Hammer, A., Bösl, M. R., & Wegner, M. (2011). Olig2 regulates Sox10 expression in oligodendrocyte precursors through an evolutionary conserved distal enhancer. Nucleic Acids Research, 39(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq951
- Kutzelnigg, A., Lucchinetti, C. F., Stadelmann, C., Brück, W., Rauschka, H., Bergmann, M., Schmidbauer, M., Parisi, J. E., & Lassmann, H. (2005). Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 128(Pt 11), 2705– 2712. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWH641
- Lappe-Siefke, C., Goebbels, S., Gravel, M., Nicksch, E., Lee, J., Braun, P. E., Griffiths, I. R., & Navel, K. A. (2003). Disruption of Cnp1 uncouples oligodendroglial functions in axonal support and myelination. Nature Genetics, 33(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1095
- Lassmann, H., & Bradl, M. (2017). Multiple sclerosis: experimental models and reality. In Acta Neuropathologica (Vol. 133, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1631-4
- Li, H., Lu, Y., Smith, H. K., & Richardson, W. D. (2007). Olig1 and Sox10 interact synergistically to drive myelin basic protein transcription in oligodendrocytes. Journal of Neuroscience, 27(52). https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4456-07.2007
- Li, R., Rezk, A., Miyazaki, Y., Hilgenberg, E., Touil, H., Shen, P., Moore, C. S., Michel, L., Althekair, F., Rajasekharan, S., Gommerman, J. L., Prat, A., Fillatreau, S., & Bar-Or, A. (2015). Proinflammatory GM-CSF-producing B cells in multiple sclerosis and B cell depletion therapy. Science Translational Medicine, 7(310). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.AAB4176

- Linker, R. A., & Haghikia, A. (2016). Dimethyl fumarate in multiple sclerosis: latest developments, evidence and place in therapy. In Therapeutic Advances in Chronic Disease (Vol. 7, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2040622316653307
- Lipton, H. L. (1975). Theiler's virus infection in mice: an unusual biphasic disease process leading to demyelination. Infection and Immunity, 11(5). https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.11.5.1147-1155.1975
- Lipton, M. M., & Freund, J. (1952). Encephalomyelitis in the Rat Following Intracutaneous Injection of Central Nervous System Tissue with Adjuvant. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 81(1). https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-81-19840
- Lisak, R. P., Benjamins, J. A., Nedelkoska, L., Barger, J. L., Ragheb, S., Fan, B., Ouamara, N., Johnson, T. A., Rajasekharan, S., & Bar-Or, A. (2012). Secretory products of multiple sclerosis B cells are cytotoxic to oligodendroglia in vitro. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 246(1–2), 85–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUROIM.2012.02.015
- Lisak, R. P., Nedelkoska, L., Benjamins, J. A., Schalk, D., Bealmear, B., Touil, H., Li, R., Muirhead, G., & Bar-Or, A. (2017). B cells from patients with multiple sclerosis induce cell death via apoptosis in neurons in vitro. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 309, 88–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUROIM.2017.05.004
- Lloyd, A. F., Davies, C. L., Holloway, R. K., Labrak, Y., Ireland, G., Carradori, D., Dillenburg, A., Borger, E., Soong, D., Richardson, J. C., Kuhlmann, T., Williams, A., Pollard, J. W., des Rieux, A., Priller, J., & Miron, V. E. (2019). Central nervous system regeneration is driven by microglia necroptosis and repopulation. Nature Neuroscience, 22(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0418-z
- Lock, C., Hermans, G., Pedotti, R., Brendolan, A., Schadt, E., Garren, H., Langer-Gould, A., Strober, S., Cannella, B., Allard, J., Klonowski, P., Austin, A., Lad, N., Kaminski, N., Galli, S. J., Raine, C. S., Heller, R., & Steinman, L. (2002). Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nature Medicine, 8(5), 500–508. https://doi.org/10.1038/NM0502-500
- Lou, C., Sati, P., Absinta, M., Clark, K., Dworkin, J. D., Valcarcel, A. M., Schindler, M. K., Reich, D. S., Sweeney, E. M., & Shinohara, R. T. (2021). Fully automated detection of paramagnetic rims in multiple sclerosis lesions on 3T susceptibility-based MR imaging. NeuroImage: Clinical, 32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2021.102796

- Lucchinetti, C., Brück, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (1999). A quantitative analysis of oligodendrocytes in multiple sclerosis lesions. A study of 113 cases. Brain, 122(12). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/122.12.2279
- Lucchinetti, C., Brück, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M., & Lassmann, H. (2000). Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: Implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. Annals of Neurology, 47(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/1531-8249(200006)47:6<707::AID-ANA3>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Lucchinetti, C. F., Popescu, B. F. G., Bunyan, R. F., Moll, N. M., Roemer, S. F., Lassmann, H., Brück, W., Parisi, J. E., Scheithauer, B. W., Giannini, C., Weigand, S. D., Mandrekar, J., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2011). Inflammatory Cortical Demyelination in Early Multiple Sclerosis. The New England Journal of Medicine, 365(23), 2188. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1100648
- Ludwin, S. K. (2000). The neuropathology of multiple sclerosis. In Neuroimaging Clinics of North America (Vol. 10, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198524786.003.0018
- Ma, Q., Shams, H., Didonna, A., Baranzini, S. E., Cree, B. A. C., Hauser, S. L., Henry, R. G., & Oksenberg, J. R. (2023). Integration of epigenetic and genetic profiles identifies multiple sclerosis disease-critical cell types and genes. Communications Biology, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-04713-5
- Machado-Santos, J., Saji, E., Tröscher, A. R., Paunovic, M., Liblau, R., Gabriely, G., Bien, C. G., Bauer, J., & Lassmann, H. (2018). The compartmentalized inflammatory response in the multiple sclerosis brain is composed of tissue-resident CD8+ T lymphocytes and B cells. Brain, 141(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy151
- Maggi, P., Sati, P., Nair, G., Cortese, I. C. M., Jacobson, S., Smith, B. R., Nath, A., Ohayon, J., van Pesch, V., Perrotta, G., Pot, C., Théaudin, M., Martinelli, V., Scotti, R., Wu, T., Du Pasquier, R., Calabresi, P. A., Filippi, M., Reich, D. S., & Absinta, M. (2020). Paramagnetic Rim Lesions are Specific to Multiple Sclerosis: An International Multicenter 3T MRI Study. Annals of Neurology, 88(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25877
- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O., Vora, A., Serafini, B., Nicholas, R., Puopolo, M., Reynolds, R., & Aloisi, F. (2007). Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 130(Pt 4), 1089–1104. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWM038

- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O. W., Calabrese, M., & Reynolds, R. (2023). Meningeal inflammation as a driver of cortical grey matter pathology and clinical progression in multiple sclerosis. In Nature Reviews Neurology (Vol. 19, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-023-00838-7
- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O. W., Reeves, C., Roncaroli, F., Nicholas, R., Serafini, B., Aloisi, F., & Reynolds, R. (2010). A Gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 68(4), 477–493. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.22230
- Manouchehrinia, A., Huang, J., Hillert, J., Alfredsson, L., Olsson, T., Kockum, I., & Constantinescu, C. S. (2022). Smoking Attributable Risk in Multiple Sclerosis. Frontiers in Immunology, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.840158
- Martinez, F. O., & Gordon, S. (2014). The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: Time for reassessment. F1000Prime Reports, 6. https://doi.org/10.12703/P6-13
- Martire, M. S., Moiola, L., Rocca, M. A., Filippi, M., & Absinta, M. (2022). What is the potential of paramagnetic rim lesions as diagnostic indicators in multiple sclerosis? Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics, 22(10). https://doi.org/10.1080/14737175.2022.2143265
- Masuda, T., Sankowski, R., Staszewski, O., Böttcher, C., Amann, L., Sagar, Scheiwe, C., Nessler, S., Kunz, P., van Loo, G., Coenen, V. A., Reinacher, P. C., Michel, A., Sure, U., Gold, R., Grün, D., Priller, J., Stadelmann, C., & Prinz, M. (2019). Spatial and temporal heterogeneity of mouse and human microglia at single-cell resolution. Nature, 566(7744). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0924-x
- Matsushima, G. K., & Morell, P. (2001). The neurotoxicant, cuprizone, as a model to study demyelination and remyelination in the central nervous system. Brain Pathology, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2001.tb00385.x
- Matusevicius, D., Kivisäkk, P., He, B., Kostulas, N., Özenci, V., Fredrikson, S., & Link, H. (1999).
  Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England), 5(2), 101–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/135245859900500206
- McIntyre, L. L., Greilach, S. A., Othy, S., Sears-Kraxberger, I., Wi, B., Ayala-Angulo, J., Vu, E., Pham, Q., Silva, J., Dang, K., Rezk, F., Steward, O., Cahalan, M. D., Lane, T. E., & Walsh, C. M. (2020). Regulatory T cells promote remyelination in the murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model of multiple sclerosis following human neural stem cell transplant. Neurobiology of Disease, 140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2020.104868
- Meca-Lallana, V., Gascón-Giménez, F., Ginestal-López, R. C., Higueras, Y., Téllez-Lara, N., Carreres-Polo, J., Eichau-Madueño, S., Romero-Imbroda, J., Vidal-Jordana, Á., & Pérez-

Miralles, F. (2021). Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: diagnosis and monitoring. Neurological Sciences, 42(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-021-05165-7

- Messersmith, D. J., Murtie, J. C., Le, T. Q., Frost, E. E., & Armstrong, R. C. (2000). Fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) and FGF receptor expression in an experimental demyelinating disease with extensive remyelination. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 62(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4547(20001015)62:2<241::AID-JNR9>3.0.CO;2-D
- Mews, I., Bergmann, M., Bunkowski, S., Gullotta, F., & Brück, W. (1998). Oligodendrocyte and axon pathology in clinically silent multiple sclerosis lesions. Multiple Sclerosis, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/135245859800400203
- Mezydlo, A., Treiber, N., Ullrich Gavilanes, E. M., Eichenseer, K., Ancău, M., Wens, A., Ares Carral, C., Schifferer, M., Snaidero, N., Misgeld, T., & Kerschensteiner, M. (2023). Remyelination by surviving oligodendrocytes is inefficient in the inflamed mammalian cortex. Neuron, 111(11). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2023.03.031
- Mikaeloff, Y., Caridade, G., Tardieu, M., & Suissa, S. (2007). Parental smoking at home and the risk of childhood-onset multiple sclerosis in children. Brain, 130(10), 2589–2595. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWM198
- Miron, V. E., Boyd, A., Zhao, J. W., Yuen, T. J., Ruckh, J. M., Shadrach, J. L., Van Wijngaarden, P., Wagers, A. J., Williams, A., Franklin, R. J. M., & Ffrench-Constant, C. (2013). M2 microglia and macrophages drive oligodendrocyte differentiation during CNS remyelination. Nature Neuroscience, 16(9). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3469
- Mitew, S., Gobius, I., Fenlon, L. R., McDougall, S. J., Hawkes, D., Xing, Y. L., Bujalka, H., Gundlach, A. L., Richards, L. J., Kilpatrick, T. J., Merson, T. D., & Emery, B. (2018).
  Pharmacogenetic stimulation of neuronal activity increases myelination in an axon-specific manner. Nature Communications, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-017-02719-2
- Montalban, X., Hauser, S., Kappos, L., Arnold, D., Bar-Or, A., Comi, G., de Seze, J., Giovannoni, G., Hartung, H., Hemmer, B., Lublin, F., Rammohan, K., Selmaj, K., Traboulsee, A., Sauter, A., Masterman, A., Fontoura, P., Belachew, S., Garren, H., ... Wolinsky, J. (2017).
  Ocrelizumab versus Placebo in Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis. The New England Journal of Medicine, 376(3), 30–31. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1606468
- Montes, M., Zhang, X., Berthelot, L., Laplaud, D. A., Brouard, S., Jin, J., Rogan, S., Armao, D., Jewells, V., Soulillou, J. P., & Markovic-Plese, S. (2009). Oligoclonal Myelin-reactive T-cell Infiltrates Derived from Multiple Sclerosis Lesions are Enriched in Th17 Cells. Clinical Immunology (Orlando, Fla.), 130(2), 133. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLIM.2008.08.030

- Morgan, I. M. (1947). ALLERGIC ENCEPHALOMYELITIS IN MONKEYS IN RESPONSE TO INJECTION OF NORMAL MONKEY NERVOUS TISSUE. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 85(1). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.85.1.131
- Multiple Sclerosis International Federation. (2024). Atlas of MS 3rd Edition. Https://Www.Atlasofms.Org/.
- Munger, K. L., Levin, L. I., Hollis, B. W., Howard, N. S., & Ascherio, A. (2006). Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D levels and risk of multiple sclerosis. JAMA, 296(23). https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.23.2832
- Munoz, J. J., Bernard, C. C. A., & Mackay, I. R. (1984). Elicitation of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice with the aid of pertussigen. Cellular Immunology, 83(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/0008-8749(84)90228-4
- NationalMultiplesclerosissociety.(2024).MSsymptoms.Https://Www.Nationalmssociety.Org/Symptoms-Diagnosis/MS-Symptoms.
- Naughton, M., Moffat, J., Eleftheriadis, G., de la Vega Gallardo, N., Young, A., Falconer, J., Hawkins, K., Pearson, B., Perbal, B., Hogan, A., Moynagh, P., Loveless, S., Robertson, N. P., Gran, B., Kee, R., Hughes, S., McDonnell, G., Howell, O., & Fitzgerald, D. C. (2020). CCN3 is dynamically regulated by treatment and disease state in multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-020-02025-7
- Neumann, H., Kotter, M. R., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2009). Debris clearance by microglia: An essential link between degeneration and regeneration. In Brain (Vol. 132, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn109
- Nutma, E., Stephenson, J. A., Gorter, R. P., De Bruin, J., Boucherie, D. M., Donat, C. K., Breur, M., Van Der Valk, P., Matthews, P. M., Owen, D. R., & Amor, S. (2019). A quantitative neuropathological assessment of translocator protein expression in multiple sclerosis. Brain, 142(11). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awz287
- O'Gorman, C., Lin, R., Stankovich, J., & Broadley, S. A. (2012). Modelling genetic susceptibility to multiple sclerosis with family data. In Neuroepidemiology (Vol. 40, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1159/000341902
- Okada, Y., Ochi, H., Fujii, C., Hashi, Y., Hamatani, M., Ashida, S., Kawamura, K., Kusaka, H., Matsumoto, S., Nakagawa, M., Mizuno, T., Takahashi, R., & Kondo, T. (2018). Signaling via toll-like receptor 4 and CD40 in B cells plays a regulatory role in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis through interleukin-10 production. Journal of Autoimmunity, 88, 103–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAUT.2017.10.011

- Oleszak, E. L., Chang, J. R., Friedman, H., Katsetos, C. D., & Platsoucas, C. D. (2004). Theiler's Virus Infection: A Model for Multiple Sclerosis. In Clinical Microbiology Reviews (Vol. 17, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.17.1.174-207.2004
- Olitzky, P. K., & Yager, R. H. (1949). Experimental disseminated encephalomyelitis in white mice. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 90(3). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.90.3.213
- Olsson, T. (1992). Cytokines in neuroinflammatory disease: role of myelin autoreactive T cell production of interferon-gamma. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 40(2–3), 211–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-5728(92)90135-8
- Olsson, T., Barcellos, L. F., & Alfredsson, L. (2016). Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. In Nature Reviews Neurology (Vol. 13, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2016.187
- Omura, S., Kawai, E., Sato, F., Martinez, N. E., Minagar, A., Al-Kofahi, M., Yun, J. W., Cvek, U., Trutschl, M., Alexander, J. S., & Tsunoda, I. (2018). Theiler's Virus-Mediated Immunopathology in the CNS and Heart: Roles of Organ-Specific Cytokine and Lymphatic Responses. Frontiers in Immunology, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02870
- Osoegawa, K., Creary, L. E., Montero-Martín, G., Mallempati, K. C., Gangavarapu, S., Caillier, S. J., Santaniello, A., Isobe, N., Hollenbach, J. A., Hauser, S. L., Oksenberg, J. R., & Fernández-Viňa, M. A. (2021). High Resolution Haplotype Analyses of Classical HLA Genes in Families With Multiple Sclerosis Highlights the Role of HLA-DP Alleles in Disease Susceptibility. Frontiers in Immunology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.644838
- Oudega, M., & Xu, X. M. (2006). Schwann cell transplantation for repair of the adult spinal cord. In Journal of Neurotrauma (Vol. 23, Issues 3–4). https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2006.23.453
- Patani, R., Balaratnam, M., Vora, A., & Reynolds, R. (2007). Remyelination can be extensive in multiple sclerosis despite a long disease course. Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology, 33(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2990.2007.00805.x
- Patel, J. R., & Klein, R. S. (2011). Mediators of oligodendrocyte differentiation during remyelination. In FEBS Letters (Vol. 585, Issue 23). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2011.04.037
- PATERSON, P. Y. (1960). TRANSFER OF ALLERGIC ENCEPHALOMYELITIS IN RATS BY MEANS OF LYMPH NODE CELLS. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 111(1), 119. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.111.1.119
- Patsopoulos, N. A., Baranzini, S. E., Santaniello, A., Shoostari, P., Cotsapas, C., Wong, G., Beecham, A. H., James, T., Replogle, J., Vlachos, I. S., McCabe, C., Pers, T. H., Brandes, A.,

White, C., Keenan, B., Cimpean, M., Winn, P., Panteliadis, I. P., Robbins, A., ... De Jager, P.L. (2019). Multiple sclerosis genomic map implicates peripheral immune cells and microglia in susceptibility. Science, 365(6460). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav7188

- Pennati, A., Ng, S., Wu, Y., Murphy, J. R., Deng, J., Rangaraju, S., Asress, S., Blanchfield, J. L., Evavold, B., & Galipeau, J. (2016). Regulatory B Cells Induce Formation of IL-10-Expressing T Cells in Mice with Autoimmune Neuroinflammation. The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 36(50), 12598–12610. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1994-16.2016
- Pennati, A., Nylen, E. A., Duncan, I. D., & Galipeau, J. (2020). Regulatory B Cells Normalize CNS Myeloid Cell Content in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis and Promote Oligodendrogenesis and Remyelination. The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 40(26), 5105–5115. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2840-19.2020
- PERIER, O. (1965). [DEMYELINIZATION OF CENTRAL NERVOUS TISSUE CULTURES BY LYSOLECITHIN]. Acta Neurologica et Psychiatrica Belgica, 65, 78–95.
- Peruzzotti-Jametti, L., Willis, C. M., Krzak, G., Hamel, R., Pirvan, L., Ionescu, R. B., Reisz, J. A.,
  Prag, H. A., Garcia-Segura, M. E., Wu, V., Xiang, Y., Barlas, B., Casey, A. M., van den Bosch,
  A. M. R., Nicaise, A. M., Roth, L., Bates, G. R., Huang, H., Prasad, P., ... Pluchino, S. (2024).
  Mitochondrial complex I activity in microglia sustains neuroinflammation. Nature, 628(8006).
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-024-07167-9
- Plaisted, W. C., Zavala, A., Hingco, E., Tran, H., Coleman, R., Lane, T. E., Loring, J. F., & Walsh, C. M. (2016). Remyelination is correlated with regulatory T cell induction following human embryoid body-derived neural precursor cell transplantation in a viral model of multiple sclerosis. PLoS ONE, 11(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157620
- Plemel, J. R., Michaels, N. J., Weishaupt, N., Caprariello, A. V., Keough, M. B., Rogers, J. A., Yukseloglu, A., Lim, J., Patel, V. V., Rawji, K. S., Jensen, S. K., Teo, W., Heyne, B., Whitehead, S. N., Stys, P. K., & Yong, V. W. (2018). Mechanisms of lysophosphatidylcholineinduced demyelination: A primary lipid disrupting myelinopathy. GLIA, 66(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23245
- Plemel, J. R., Stratton, J. A., Michaels, N. J., Rawji, K. S., Zhang, E., Sinha, S., Baaklini, C. S., Dong, Y., Ho, M., Thorburn, K., Friedman, T. N., Jawad, S., Silva, C., Caprariello, A. V., Hoghooghi, V., Yue, J., Jaffer, A., Lee, K., Kerr, B. J., ... Wee Yong, V. (2020). Microglia response following acute demyelination is heterogeneous and limits infiltrating macrophage dispersion. Science Advances, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay6324

- Polito, A., & Reynolds, R. (2005). NG2-expressing cells as oligodendrocyte progenitors in the normal and demyelinated adult central nervous system. In Journal of Anatomy (Vol. 207, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2005.00454.x
- Ponath, G., Park, C., & Pitt, D. (2018). The role of astrocytes in multiple sclerosis. In Frontiers in Immunology (Vol. 9, Issue FEB). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00217
- Popescu, B. F. G., Pirko, I., & Lucchinetti, C. F. (2013). Pathology of multiple sclerosis: where do we stand? Continuum (Minneapolis, Minn.), 19(4 Multiple Sclerosis), 901–921. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.CON.0000433291.23091.65
- Pradeu, T. (2019). Immunology and individuality. ELife, 8. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.47384
- Preziosa, P., Pagani, E., Meani, A., Moiola, L., Rodegher, M., Filippi, M., & Rocca, M. A. (2022).
  Slowly Expanding Lesions Predict 9-Year Multiple Sclerosis Disease Progression. Neurology®
  Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation, 9(2).
  https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000001139
- Prineas, J. W., & Wright, R. G. (1978). Macrophages, lymphocytes, and plasma cells in the perivascular compartment in chronic multiple sclerosis. Laboratory Investigation, 38(4).
- Procaccini, C., De Rosa, V., Pucino, V., Formisano, L., & Matarese, G. (2015). Animal models of Multiple Sclerosis. European Journal of Pharmacology, 759, 182–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJPHAR.2015.03.042
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., & Fitzpatrick, D. (2001). Increased Conduction Velocity as a Result of Myelination. In Neuroscience. 2nd edition.
- Ramanujam, R., Hedström, A. K., Manouchehrinia, A., Alfredsson, L., Olsson, T., Bottai, M., & Hillert, J. (2015). Effect of smoking cessation on multiple sclerosis prognosis. JAMA Neurology, 72(10). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.1788
- Ransohoff, R. M., & Estes, M. L. (1991). Astrocyte expression of major histocompatibility complex gene products in multiple sclerosis brain tissue obtained by stereotactic biopsy. Archives of Neurology, 48(12), 1244–1246. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHNEUR.1991.00530240048017
- Raymond-Lezman, J. R., & Riskin, S. I. (2023). Benefits and Risks of Sun Exposure to Maintain Adequate Vitamin D Levels. Cureus. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.38578
- Redwine, J. M., & Armstrong, R. C. (1998). In vivo proliferation of oligodendrocyte progenitors expressing PDGFαR during early remyelination. Journal of Neurobiology, 37(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4695(19981115)37:3<413::AID-NEU7>3.0.CO;2-8
- Reeves, J. A., Weinstock, Z., Zivadinov, R., Dwyer, M. G., Bergsland, N., Salman, F., Schweser, F., Weinstock-Guttman, B., Benedict, R. H. B., & Jakimovski, D. (2023). Paramagnetic rim lesions

are associated with greater incidence of relapse and worse cognitive recovery following relapse. Multiple Sclerosis Journal, 29(8). https://doi.org/10.1177/13524585231169466

- Reich, D. S., Lucchinetti, C. F., & Calabresi, P. A. (2018). Multiple Sclerosis. The New England Journal of Medicine, 378(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMRA1401483
- Riederer, F. (2017). Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. In Journal fur Neurologie, Neurochirurgie und Psychiatrie (Vol. 18, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1606468
- Rivers, T. M., & Schwentke, F. F. (1935). Encephalomyelitis accompanied by myelin destruction experimentally produced in monkeys. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 61(5). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.61.5.689
- Rivers, T. M., Sprunt, D. H., & Berry, G. P. (1933). Observations on attempts to produce acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in monkeys. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 58(1). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.58.1.39
- Rizwan, M., Cheng, K., Gang, Y., Hou, Y., & Wang, C. (2024). Immunomodulatory Effects of Vitamin D and Zinc on Viral Infection. In Biological Trace Element Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-024-04139-y
- Robinson, A. P., Harp, C. T., Noronha, A., & Miller, S. D. (2014). The experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model of MS: utility for understanding disease pathophysiology and treatment. Handbook of Clinical Neurology, 122, 173. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-52001-2.00008-X
- Robinson, S., & Miller, R. H. (1999). Contact with central nervous system myelin inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor maturation. Developmental Biology, 216(1). https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1999.9466
- Robinson, W. H., & Steinman, L. (2022). Epstein-Barr virus and multiple sclerosis. In Science (Vol. 375, Issue 6578). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abm7930
- Sabel, C. E., Pearson, J. F., Mason, D. F., Willoughby, E., Abernethy, D. A., & Taylor, B. V. (2021). The latitude gradient for multiple sclerosis prevalence is established in the early life course. Brain, 144(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab104
- Sariol, A., Mackin, S., Allred, M. G., Ma, C., Zhou, Y., Zhang, Q., Zou, X., Abrahante, J. E., Meyerholz, D. K., & Perlman, S. (2020). Microglia depletion exacerbates demyelination and impairs remyelination in a neurotropic coronavirus infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 117(39). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2007814117

- Sato, F., Omura, S., Kawai, E., Martinez, N. E., Acharya, M. M., Reddy, P. C., Chaitanya, G. V., Alexander, J. S., & Tsunoda, I. (2014). Distinct kinetics of viral replication, T cell infiltration, and fibrosis in three phases of myocarditis following Theiler's virus infection. Cellular Immunology, 292(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.10.004
- Sawcer, S., Hellenthal, G., Pirinen, M., Spencer, C. C. A., Patsopoulos, N. A., Moutsianas, L., Dilthey, A., Su, Z., Freeman, C., Hunt, S. E., Edkins, S., Gray, E., Booth, D. R., Potter, S. C., Goris, A., Band, G., Oturai, A. B., Strange, A., Saarela, J., ... Compston, A. (2011). Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. In Nature (Vol. 476, Issue 7359). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10251
- Schirmer, L., Velmeshev, D., Holmqvist, S., Kaufmann, M., Werneburg, S., Jung, D., Vistnes, S., Stockley, J. H., Young, A., Steindel, M., Tung, B., Goyal, N., Bhaduri, A., Mayer, S., Engler, J. B., Bayraktar, O. A., Franklin, R. J. M., Haeussler, M., Reynolds, R., ... Rowitch, D. H. (2019). Neuronal vulnerability and multilineage diversity in multiple sclerosis. Nature 2019 573:7772, 573(7772), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1404-z
- Schmidt-Mengin, M., Soulier, T., Hamzaoui, M., Yazdan-Panah, A., Bodini, B., Ayache, N., Stankoff, B., & Colliot, O. (2022). Online hard example mining vs. fixed oversampling strategy for segmentation of new multiple sclerosis lesions from longitudinal FLAIR MRI. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.1004050
- Schwentker, F. F., & Rivers, T. M. (1934). THE ANTIBODY RESPONSE OF RABBITS TO INJECTIONS OF EMULSIONS AND EXTRACTS OF HOMOLOGOUS BRAIN. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 60(5), 559. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.60.5.559
- Serafini, B., Rosicarelli, B., Magliozzi, R., Stigliano, E., & Aloisi, F. (2004). Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathology (Zurich, Switzerland), 14(2), 164–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1750-3639.2004.TB00049.X
- Shahi, S. K., Freedman, S. N., Dahl, R. A., Karandikar, N. J., & Mangalam, A. K. (2019). Scoring disease in an animal model of multiple sclerosis using a novel infrared-based automated activity-monitoring system. Scientific Reports, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55713-7
- Sim, F. J., Zhao, C., Penderis, J., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2002). The Age-Related Decrease in CNS Remyelination Efficiency Is Attributable to an Impairment of Both Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Recruitment and Differentiation. Journal of Neuroscience, 22(7). https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-07-02451.2002

- Simpson, S., Blizzard, L., Otahal, P., Van Der Mei, I., & Taylor, B. (2011). Latitude is significantly associated with the prevalence of multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 82(10). https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2011.240432
- Simpson, S., Taylor, B., Blizzard, L., Ponsonby, A. L., Pittas, F., Tremlett, H., Dwyer, T., Gies, P., & Van Der Mei, I. (2010). Higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D is associated with lower relapse risk in multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 68(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22043
- Simpson, S., Wang, W., Otahal, P., Blizzard, L., Van Der Mei, I. A. F., & Taylor, B. V. (2019). Latitude continues to be significantly associated with the prevalence of multiple sclerosis: An updated meta-analysis. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 90(11). https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2018-320189
- Smith, K. J., Blakemore, W. F., & McDonald, W. I. (1979). Central remyelination restores secure conduction [12]. In Nature (Vol. 280, Issue 5721). https://doi.org/10.1038/280395a0
- Smolders, J., Heutinck, K. M., Fransen, N. L., Remmerswaal, E. B. M., Hombrink, P., ten Berge, I. J. M., van Lier, R. A. W., Huitinga, I., & Hamann, J. (2018). Tissue-resident memory T cells populate the human brain. Nature Communications, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07053-9
- Soldan, S. S., & Lieberman, P. M. (2023). Epstein–Barr virus and multiple sclerosis. In Nature Reviews Microbiology (Vol. 21, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-022-00770-5
- Song, W. M., & Colonna, M. (2018). The identity and function of microglia in neurodegeneration. Nature Immunology 2018 19:10, 19(10), 1048–1058. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0212-1
- Stürner, K. H., Siembab, I., Schön, G., Stellmann, J. P., Heidari, N., Fehse, B., Heesen, C., Eiermann, T. H., Martin, R., & Binder, T. M. C. (2019). Is multiple sclerosis progression associated with the HLA-DR15 haplotype? Multiple Sclerosis Journal - Experimental, Translational and Clinical, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2055217319894615
- Stys, P. K., Zamponi, G. W., Van Minnen, J., & Geurts, J. J. G. (2012). Will the real multiple sclerosis please stand up? In Nature Reviews Neuroscience (Vol. 13, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3275
- Sumowski, J. F., Benedict, R., Enzinger, C., Filippi, M., Geurts, J. J., Hamalainen, P., Hulst, H., Inglese, M., Leavitt, V. M., Rocca, M. A., Rosti-Otajarvi, E. M., & Rao, S. (2018). Cognition in multiple sclerosis: State of the field and priorities for the future. Neurology, 90(6). https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000004977

- Sun, D., Whitaker, J. N., Huang, Z., Liu, D., Coleclough, C., Wekerle, H., & Raine, C. S. (2001).
  Myelin Antigen-Specific CD8+ T Cells Are Encephalitogenic and Produce Severe Disease in C57BL/6 Mice. The Journal of Immunology, 166(12).
  https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.12.7579
- Sundaresan, B., Shirafkan, F., Ripperger, K., & Rattay, K. (2023). The Role of Viral Infections in the Onset of Autoimmune Diseases. In Viruses (Vol. 15, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.3390/v15030782
- Tanabe, S., Saitoh, S., Miyajima, H., Itokazu, T., & Yamashita, T. (2019). Microglia suppress the secondary progression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. GLIA, 67(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23640
- Teo, R. T. Y., Ferrari Bardile, C., Tay, Y. L., Yusof, N. A. B. M., Kreidy, C. A., Tan, L. J., & Pouladi, M. A. (2019). Impaired Remyelination in a Mouse Model of Huntington Disease. Molecular Neurobiology, 56(10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-019-1579-1
- Theiler, M. (1934).SPONTANEOUS ENCEPHALOMYELITIS OF MICE--A NEW VIRUSDISEASE.Science(New York, N.Y.), 80(2066), 122.https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.80.2066.122-A
- Thompson, A. J., Banwell, B. L., Barkhof, F., Carroll, W. M., Coetzee, T., Comi, G., Correale, J., Fazekas, F., Filippi, M., Freedman, M. S., Fujihara, K., Galetta, S. L., Hartung, H. P., Kappos, L., Lublin, F. D., Marrie, R. A., Miller, A. E., Miller, D. H., Montalban, X., ... Cohen, J. A. (2018). Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. In The Lancet Neurology (Vol. 17, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2
- Tompkins, S. M., Padilla, J., Dal Canto, M. C., Ting, J. P.-Y., Van Kaer, L., & Miller, S. D. (2002). De Novo Central Nervous System Processing of Myelin Antigen Is Required for the Initiation of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. The Journal of Immunology, 168(8). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.168.8.4173
- Tremlett, H., Zhu, F., Ascherio, A., & Munger, K. L. (2018). Sun exposure over the life course and associations with multiple sclerosis. Neurology, 90(14). https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000005257
- Tsunoda, I., Kuang, L. Q., Libbey, J. E., & Fujinami, R. S. (2003). Axonal injury heralds virusinduced demyelination. American Journal of Pathology, 162(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63922-3

- Tuohy, V. K., Lu, Z., Sobel, R. A., Laursen, R. A., & Lees, M. B. (1989). Identification of an encephalitogenic determinant of myelin proteolipid protein for SJL mice. The Journal of Immunology, 142(5). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.142.5.1523
- Tzartos, J. S., Friese, M. A., Craner, M. J., Palace, J., Newcombe, J., Esiri, M. M., & Fugger, L. (2008). Interleukin-17 Production in Central Nervous System-Infiltrating T Cells and Glial Cells Is Associated with Active Disease in Multiple Sclerosis. The American Journal of Pathology, 172(1), 146. https://doi.org/10.2353/AJPATH.2008.070690
- Vaknin-Dembinsky, A., Balashov, K., & Weiner, H. L. (2006). IL-23 is increased in dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis and down-regulation of IL-23 by antisense oligos increases dendritic cell IL-10 production. Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950), 176(12), 7768–7774. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.176.12.7768
- van Tilborg, E., de Theije, C. G. M., van Hal, M., Wagenaar, N., de Vries, L. S., Benders, M. J., Rowitch, D. H., & Nijboer, C. H. (2018). Origin and dynamics of oligodendrocytes in the developing brain: Implications for perinatal white matter injury. Glia, 66(2), 221. https://doi.org/10.1002/GLIA.23256
- Vellinga, M. M., Oude Engberink, R. D., Seewann, A., Pouwels, P. J. W., Wattjes, M. P., Van Der Pol, S. M. A., Pering, C., Polman, C. H., De Vries, H. E., Geurts, J. J. G., & Barkhof, F. (2008). Pluriformity of inflammation in multiple sclerosis shown by ultra-small iron oxide particle enhancement. Brain, 131(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn009
- Viglietta, V., Baecher-Allan, C., Weiner, H. L., & Hafler, D. A. (2004). Loss of Functional Suppression by CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 199(7). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20031579
- Villar, L. M., Masjuan, J., González-Porqué, P., Plaza, J., Sádaba, M. C., Roldán, E., Bootello, A., & Alvarez-Cermeño, J. C. (2002). Intrathecal IgM synthesis predicts the onset of new relapses and a worse disease course in MS. Neurology, 59(4), 555–559. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.59.4.555
- Villar, L. M., Masjuan, J., González-Porqué, P., Plaza, J., Sádaba, M. C., Roldán, E., Bootello, A., & Alvarez-Cermeño, J. C. (2003). Intrathecal IgM synthesis is a prognostic factor in multiple sclerosis. Annals of Neurology, 53(2), 222–226. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.10441
- Wallin, M. T., Culpepper, W. J., Nichols, E., Bhutta, Z. A., Gebrehiwot, T. T., Hay, S. I., Khalil, I. A., Krohn, K. J., Liang, X., Naghavi, M., Mokdad, A. H., Nixon, M. R., Reiner, R. C., Sartorius, B., Smith, M., Topor-Madry, R., Werdecker, A., Vos, T., Feigin, V. L., & Murray, C. J. L. (2019). Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis 1990–2016: a systematic

analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet Neurology, 18(3), 269–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30443-5

- Waschbisch, A., Schröder, S., Schraudner, D., Sammet, L., Weksler, B., Melms, A., Pfeifenbring, S., Stadelmann, C., Schwab, S., & Linker, R. A. (2016). Pivotal Role for CD16+ Monocytes in Immune Surveillance of the Central Nervous System. The Journal of Immunology, 196(4). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1501960
- Woo, M. S., Engler, J. B., & Friese, M. A. (2024). The neuropathobiology of multiple sclerosis. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2024 25:7, 25(7), 493–513. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-024-00823-z
- Woodruff, R. H., & Franklin, R. J. M. (1999). Demyelination and remyelination of the caudal cerebellar peduncle of adult rats following stereotaxic injections of lysolecithin, ethidium bromide, and complement/anti-galactocerebroside: A comparative study. GLIA, 25(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(19990201)25:3<216::AID-GLIA2>3.0.CO;2-L
- Woodruff, R. H., Fruttiger, M., Richardson, W. D., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2004). Platelet-derived growth factor regulates oligodendrocyte progenitor numbers in adult CNS and their response following CNS demyelination. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience, 25(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2003.10.014
- Wu, J., Olsson, T., Alfredsson, L., & Hedström, A. K. (2024). Association between sun exposure habits and disease progression in multiple sclerosis. European Journal of Neurology, 31(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.16269
- Xue, J., Schmidt, S. V., Sander, J., Draffehn, A., Krebs, W., Quester, I., DeNardo, D., Gohel, T. D., Emde, M., Schmidleithner, L., Ganesan, H., Nino-Castro, A., Mallmann, M. R., Labzin, L., Theis, H., Kraut, M., Beyer, M., Latz, E., Freeman, T. C., ... Schultze, J. L. (2014). Transcriptome-Based Network Analysis Reveals a Spectrum Model of Human Macrophage Activation. Immunity, 40(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.006
- Yong, H. Y. F., & Yong, V. W. (2022). Mechanism-based criteria to improve therapeutic outcomes in progressive multiple sclerosis. In Nature Reviews Neurology (Vol. 18, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-021-00581-x
- Yong, V. W., & Rivest, S. (2009). Taking Advantage of the Systemic Immune System to Cure Brain Diseases. In Neuron (Vol. 64, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.09.035
- Yu, Q., Hui, R., Park, J., Huang, Y., Kusnecov, A. W., Dreyfus, C. F., & Zhou, R. (2017). Strain differences in cuprizone induced demyelination. Cell and Bioscience, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-017-0181-3

- Zarghami, A., Li, Y., Claflin, S. B., van der Mei, I., & Taylor, B. V. (2021). Role of environmental factors in multiple sclerosis. Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics, 21(12). https://doi.org/10.1080/14737175.2021.1978843
- Zawadzka, M., Rivers, L. E., Fancy, S. P. J., Zhao, C., Tripathi, R., Jamen, F., Young, K., Goncharevich, A., Pohl, H., Rizzi, M., Rowitch, D. H., Kessaris, N., Suter, U., Richardson, W. D., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2010). CNS-Resident Glial Progenitor/Stem Cells Produce Schwann Cells as well as Oligodendrocytes during Repair of CNS Demyelination. Cell Stem Cell, 6(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.04.002
- Zhao, C., Fancy, S. P. J., Kotter, M. R., Li, W. W., & Franklin, R. J. M. (2005). Mechanisms of CNS remyelination The key to therapeutic advances. Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 233(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2005.03.008
- Zrzavy, T., Hametner, S., Wimmer, I., Butovsky, O., Weiner, H. L., & Lassmann, H. (2017). Loss of "homeostatic" microglia and patterns of their activation in active multiple sclerosis. Brain, 140(7). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx113